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Building a portfolio of strong brands and market positions has been at the 
heart of Schibsted’s strategy over the past decades. 2006 represented a mile-
stone in this development. 

We expanded our operations from 11 to 20 countries and the number of 
employees increased from 5200 to 8500. Our online operations represent a 
growing part of our profits but print newspapers are still the foundation for 
our future growth.

The acquisition in Trader Classified Media was a major event, forming a uni-
que platform for Schibsted’s ambitions to become a leading European player. 
The positions we have attained are strong in themselves, but they are even 
stronger in combination, supplementing our traditional products with con-
tent in new channels.

Today, users move effortlessly in an ever expanding network of channels 
and content. Responding to this reality, Schibsted is now pursuing the next 
level in our development, combining our forces into a stronger corporate 
entity. 

It’s going to take a lot of hard work, but the goal provides us with a strong 
motivation: to extract the full value of our brand network. 

Vision: Schibsted will be the most attractive media group in Europe, through 
people who dare, who challenge and who create.
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NOK mill NOTE 2006 2005

Driftsinntekter 6 9 832 9 690

Varekostnad 7 (1 908) (1 894)
Lønnskostnader 8 (2 961) (2 831)
Avskrivninger 13 (344) (376)
Andre driftskostnader 10 (3 840) (3 733)
Inntekt fra tilknyttede selskaper 14 198 84

Driftsresultat før nedskrivning goodwill
og andre inntekter og kostnader 977 940

Nedskrivning goodwill 13 (78)
Andre inntekter og kostnader 5 184 (348)

Driftsresultat 6 1 161 514

Finansinntekter 11 94 49
Finanskostnader 11 (78) (87)

Ordinært resultat før skattekostnad 1 177 476

Skattekostnad 12 (230) (163)

Årsresultat 947 313

Minoritetens andel av årsresultat 73 72
Majoritetens andel av årsresultat 874 241

Resultat per aksje (kroner) 21 12,91 3,55
Utvannet resultat per aksje (kroner) 21 12,89 3,55
Resultat per aksje – justert (kroner) 21 9,76 8,18
Utvannet resultat per aksje – justert (kroner) 21 9,74 8,18
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Key figures 2006

Important events 2006

Operating profit (ebiTA) per business areaOperating revenues per business area

schibsted launches a new Group structure with norway, Sweden and International as busi-
ness areas. Gunnar Strömblad is appointed executive vice president responsible for Sweden. 
Willhaben.at, a classified ads website, is launched in austria in collaboration with the Styria 

media house. Aftenposten and VG launch n24.no, later renamed E24.no. Jobb24, a recruitment advertisement website, is launched in a 
joint venture between Svenska Dagbladet and n24.se (E24.se). FiNN launches FInn reise, a marketplace for travel-related services. Strong 
improvements for VG Nett, but a decline in the circulation figures and weak advertising sales for the printed newspaper. schibsted buys 67 
per cent of the company that publishes Moi Rayon (My District), a weekly free newspaper in russia. 

Q1.06 //

The revenue from the Group’s online activities rise by more than 60 per cent. Aftonbladet 
produces its best ever quarterly result and improves its operating profit by 43 per cent com-
pared to the year before. Its advertising revenue increases by 79 per cent. Aftonbladet 

increases its single-copy price to SEK 9. 20 Minutes revenues increase by 23 per cent in Spain and 34 per cent in France. an official reader 
survey shows that 20 Minutos in Spain is this country’s largest general newspaper, with 2 448 000 readers. The revenue from the Group’s 
activities in estonia increases by 30 per cent. Schibsted buys selected parts of Trader classified Media, a classified ads company with 
operations in many countries, for E 553 million.

Q2.06 //

Aftonbladet launches punktSE, a free newspaper published in Stockholm, Gothenburg and 
Malmö/lund. Schibsted establishes a presence in asia for the first time by entering into a joint 
venture with singapore Press holdings in two companies in the fields of classified ads and 

search and directory services. The boards of Bergens Tidende, Stavanger aftenblad, Fædrelandsvennen and Schibsted aSa sign a letter of 
intent regarding the establishment of Media norway. schibsted buys orkla Media’s shares in Bergens Tidende and thus owns 52.8 per cent 
of this company.

Q3.06 //

schibsted sells its stake in TV2 to a-pressen and Egmont for SEK 1.15 billion. The accounting 
gain is approximately noK 940 million. schibsted sells its stake in TV4 for SEK 1.455 billion. 
The accounting gain will be noK 541 million. The boards of the involved companies agree to 

the formation of Media Norway (Media norge). These companies’ general meetings deal with this issue later on. Media norway’s head office 
will be in Bergen. Aftonbladet TV7 is launched in the digital terrestrial network. Schibsted sells its stake in Abc startsiden for noK 81 million. 
The accounting gain is approximately noK 70 million. Schibsted buys minority shareholdings in blocket and thus owns 100 per cent of this 
company. 

Q4.06 //

The general meetings of aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, Stavanger aftenblad and Fædrelands-
vennen pass resolutions in favour of establishing Media Norway. Merger between the French 
operations of Schibsted International Classifieds and Caradisiac (Spir). Schibsted sells all its 

shares in the Asker og bærum budstikke newspaper company. The Swedish catalog service hitta bigger then Eniro on a weekly basis.

Q1.07 //
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deFiNiTiONs    
Operating margin:          
eBitda margin: operating profit (loss) before depreciation 
and amortisation, impairment of goodwill and other revenues 
and expenses / operating revenues
eBita margin: operating profit (loss) before impairment 
of goodwill and other revenues and expenses / operating 
revenues

eBit margin: operating profit (loss) / operating revenues
Profit ratio: net income (loss) attributable to majority 
interests / operating revenues 
equity ratio:  Equity / Total assets  
return on equity:  net income (loss) attributable to majority 
interests / average equity excl. minority interests
return on total assets:  (profit (loss) before taxes + interest 
expenses) / average total assets

ePs: net income (loss) attributable to majority interests / 
average number of shares
Cash flow per share: (profit (loss) before taxes + 
depreciation and amortisation +/- net changes in pensions 
+/- income from associated companies – taxes payable) / 
average number of shares

Key figures
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   iFRs   NGAAP 
(NOK million) 2006 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002
      
Operating revenues 11 648 9 832 9 690  9 690   8 555   7 872 
operating expenses (10 375)    (8 709)    (8 458)    (8 432)   (7 422)   (6 948) 
Income from associated companies 179 198 84   
operating profit (EBITDa) 1 452 1 321 1 316 1 258 1 133 924
Depreciation and amortisation (439)   (344)   (376)     (374)   (354)   (375) 
operating profit before impairment of goodwill      
others revenues and expenses (EBITa) 1 013 977 940  884   779   549 
Operating profit (ebiT) 2 495 1 161 514 326 701 494
profit before taxes 2 413 1 177 476  412   681   271 
      
Operating margin:      
EBITDa (%) 12.5 13.4 13.6 13.0 13.2 11.7
EBITa (%) 8.7 9.9 9.7 9.1 9.1 7.0
EBIT (%) 21.4 11.8 5.3 3.4 8.2 6.3
      
profit ratio (%) 18.40 8.9 2.5 1.8 5.5 2.0
Equity ratio (%) 31.2 40.6 32.8 32.7 36.6 34.1
return on equity (%) 54.9 33.5 10.5 7.5 21.5 7.6
return on total assets (%) 21.2 16.2 7.7 6.9 11.3 5.8
net interest bearing debt / EBITDa 2.3 0.6 0.9 1.0 0.7 1.1
      
EpS (noK)  32.52 12.91 3.55 2.55 6.92 2.26
EpS diluted (noK) 32.45 12.89 3.55 2.55 6.92 2.26
Cash flow per share (noK) 39.53 18.53 15.39 15.40 14.53 9.25
rISK per share  (4.19) (3.18) 1.21 1.21 3.27 1.19
      
NORWAY      
operating revenues 5 351 4 941    
operating profit (loss) (EBITa) 533 631    
operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 1 532 710    
operating margin (EBITa) (%) 10.0  12.8     
     
sWedeN      
operating revenues 4 626 4 150    
operating profit (loss) (EBITa) 430 370    
operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 971 275    
operating margin (EBITa) (%) 9.3  8.9     

iNTeRNATiONAL      
operating revenues 1 735 791    
operating profit (loss) (EBITa) 50 (24)       
operating profit (loss) (EBIT) (8 )  176    
operating margin (EBITa) (%) 2.9 (3.0)    
      
ciRcULATiON      
aftenposten morning edition, weekdays  248 503 252 716 249 861  249 861   256 600   263 000 
aftenposten aften, afternoon edition, weekdays  137 141 141 612 148 067  148 067   155 400   163 900 
aftenposten, Sunday 221 067 223 228 220 149  220 149   232 900   234 700 
      
Verdens Gang, weekdays  315 549 343 702 365 266  365 266   380 190   390 510 
Verdens Gang, Sunday  268 355 298 736 315 103  315 103   314 730   314 422 
      
aftonbladet, weekdays  416 500 428 422 444 100  444 100   442 100   435 900 
aftonbladet, Sunday  475 300 501 428 504 300  504 300   489 400   489 800 
      
Svenska Dagbladet, weekdays  194 900 187 200 179 200  179 200   184 600   184 600 
Svenska Dagbladet, Sunday 203 400 197 100 190 800  190 800   194 600   194 300 
      
AdVeRTisiNG VOLUMes (column meters)      
aftenposten 79 589 77 160 70 588  70 588   66 152   60 366 
Verdens Gang 9 278 8 411 7 203  7 203   7 489   7 186 
aftonbladet 15 296 14 871 14 633  14 633   11 281   9 638 
Svenska Dagbladet 25 350 22 240 18 366  18 366   19 891   20 271 



(Selected companies as of 31.12.2006)
NORWAY
aftenposten aS 100 %
aftenposten Multimedia aS 100 % 
Dine penger aS 100 %
E24 næringsliv aS 100 %
retriever Holding aB 100 %
Schibsted Forlagene aS 100 %
Schibsted Søk aS 100 %
Schibsted Trykk aS 100 % 
Verdens Gang aS 100 %
VG Multimedia aS 100 % 
FInn.no aS 62 %
Bergens Tidende aS 53 %
Harstad Tidende Gruppen aS 51 %
adresseavisen aS 36 %
Stavanger aftenblad aSa 32 %
Fædrelandsvennen aS 25 %

sWedeN
aftonbladet Hierta aB  100 % *
aftonbladet nya Medier aB 100 %
E24 näringsliv HB 100 %
Hittapunktse aB 100 %
Sandrew Metronome aB 100 %
Svenska Dagbladet Holding aB 99 %
Svenska Dagbladet nya Medier aB 99 %
Blocket aB 94 %
Scanpix Scandinavia aB 88 %
Byt Bil nordic aB 81 %
Metronome Film & Television aB 65 %
aspiro aB 43 %

iNTeRNATiONAL
20 Min Holding aS 100 %
aS Schibsted Baltics 100 % 

Schibsted International 
Classified & Search aS 100 %
Schibsted International Classifieds aS 100 %
Editoriale Secondamano S.r.l 100 %
aS Kanal 2 100 % 
Subito.it Srl 100 %
aS Eesti Media  93 % 
aS Kroonpress 92 %
Compraventa S.l. 80 %
anuntis Segundamano Holdings Sl 77 %
Infojobs S.a. 72 %
uaB Zurnaly leidybos Grupe (ZlG) 67 %
ooo regional Independent 
newspapers north-West  67 % 

For a complete overview of Schibsted’s subsidiaries 
see annual accounts Schibsted Group note 28 and 
14 (page 104 and 95)

*aftonbladet Hierta aB is owned by Schibsted and the Swedish Federation of Trade unions. The Swedish Federation of Trade unions owns 50.1 % of the voting 
shares through preference shares with a fixed annual yield (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted owns 49.9 % of the voting shares and is the owner responsible for 
aftonbladet’s industrial and financial development.

1839
Chr. Schibsteds Forlag established

1860
Christiania adresseblad/
aftenposten is launched

1885
aftenposten is published twice a day

1966
acquisition of VG

1989
From private company to private 
limited company and group

1992
listing on the oslo Stock Exchange

1995
First investments in Estonia

1996
acquisition of aftonbladet

1992
First investments in TV and films

1995
First investments in online and new 
media

SCHIBSTED’S SUBSIDIARIES

SChIBSTEd’S 
hISTORy

1995
acquisition of Metronome
Film & Television
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1998
Investment in the Eesti
Meedia Group

1999
FINN.no is established

2002
20 Minutes is launched in France

2000
Scandinavia Online
(SOL) is listed on the stock exchange

2005
Schibsted Søk (Search) launches Sesam

2003
Acquisition of Blocket AB

2006
Schibsted has 8 500 employees and 
operations in 20 countries

1999
The free newspaper concept 
20 Minutes is launched

2006
Acquisition of selected parts 
of Trader Classified Media

2001
20 Minutos is launched in Spain

Norge  2 701 
Sverige  1 740
Spania  1 534  
Estland  966
Latinamerika  462 
Frankrike  296 
Italia   228 
Lithauen  164
Danmark  161
Russland  160  
Latvia  96 
Finland  47
Sveits 14 
Østerrike  11 
Slovenia  1 
Sum 8 581 

EMPLOYEES PER 
COUNTRY
As of 31.12.2006

Norway
Sweden
Spain
Estonia
Latin America
France
Italy
Lithuania
Denmark
Russia
Latvia
Finland
Switzerland
Austria
Slovenia
Total

1998
Acquisition of Svenska Dagbladet

007THIS IS SCHIBSTED
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READERSHIP SCHIBSTED’S 
NEWSPAPERS
Norge 2 684 000
Spania 2 448 000
Sverige 2 201 000
Frankrike 2 160 000
Baltikum 1 522 000
Russland 1 169 000
Sum 12 184 000

Norway 
Spain
Sweden 
France
Baltics
Russia
Total
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OUR
BRANDS
NEWSPAPERS
Newspapers have been the core of Schibsted’s activities since 1860, when Aften-
posten was established. 
Nowadays, Schibsted’s newspapers have leading positions not only in Norway but also in Swe-
den and Estonia. The free newspaper 20 Minutes is the largest general newspaper in Spain and 
France and has around 4.4 million readers in total. In Russia, Schibsted owns 67 per cent of 
the free newspaper Moi Rayon, which is published in St Petersburg and Moscow each Friday. 
Two newspapers in Lithuania are to be added. In total, our newspapers are read by more than 
12 million people daily. 

ONLINE
Schibsted’s online products have grown rapidly over the past few years. 
Aftonbladet.se, VG.no, Aftenposten.no and SvD.se are the Group’s online seniors and all have 
leading positions in their markets. The newcomers include the directory service Hitta and E24.
se/no Næringsliv, which rapidly became leaders in their markets, and Dine Penger. In addition, 
Schibsted Søk has the Sesam search engine in Norway and Sweden. 20 Minutes’ online activi-
ties are increasing in Spain and France.

CLASSIFIED ADS
The acquisition of selected parts of Trader in June 2006 further strengthens Schib-
sted in the international classified ads market, in that Schibsted has gained compa-
nies in seven new countries. 
FINN.no, Blocket.se, Bytbil.com, Hitta.se, Jobb24.se, Willhaben.at, leBonCoin.fr, Compraventa.com, 
InfoJobs.net and Segundamano.com are all leaders in their markets and Finn.no’s technology has 
been exported to several countries.

LIVE PICTURES
Through Metronome Film & Television and Sandrew Metronome, Schibsted is one of 
the leading film companies in Scandinavia.
Schibsted has sold its stakes in TV2 and Sweden’s TV4, but is focusing strongly on live pic-
tures through its media houses. Kanal 2 is Estonia’s most-viewed TV channel, Aftonbladet TV7 
was launched in 2006, and Aftenposten TV and VG TV have experienced strong growth in their 
traffic volume. 

BOOKS & MAGAZINES
Schibsted Forlagene and its Swedish subsidiaries are the core of our publishing 
operations. 
The publishing house is one of the leaders in the fields of biographies, history, documentaries, 
yearbooks, humour, food and drink, light reading, crime novels and comic series, and it also 
publishes the Maison, Tique and Design Interior magazines. Personal finance magazine Dine 
Penger is now owned by VG. In Sweden, the Group owns Schibsted Förlagen, which is this 
country’s second-largest comic series publisher. Ajakirjade Kirjastus is Estonia’s largest maga-
zine publisher, while Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe (ZLG) has the same position in Lithuania.

MOBILE PHONES
Schibsted is now transferring its unique online positions to mobile telephony. 
VG is Norway’s most used mobile newspaper by far. Aftenposten has the fastest increase in 
its readership figures. In Sweden, Aftonbladet also imparts news via mobile phones. Aspiro
and Inpoc are Schibsted’s mobile phone brands and offer logos, games and ringing tones to 
consumers. In addition, they supply technical solutions for mobile voting and mobile competi-
tions to newspapers, magazines and TV channels. 
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An overwiev of some of Schibsted’s brands



SWEDEN DENMARK, FINLAND BALTICS

010



N
EW

SP
A

PE
R

S
O

N
LI

N
E

M
O

B
IL

E
LI

V
E 

PI
C

TU
R

ES
C

LA
SS

IF
IE

D
RUSSIA

LATIN AMERICA

AUSTRIA, SLOVENIA,
ITATAT LY, SWITZERLAND

FRANCESPAIN
O

TH
ER

SINGAPORE

011THIS IS SCHIBSTED
SCHIBSTED ANNUAL REPORT 2006

B
O

O
K

S 
& 

M
AG

A
ZI

N
ES

diciembre 05 



THE YEAR 
THAT CHANGED 
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2006 was a year of change for Schibsted. 
The acquisition of Trader Classified Media 
and formation of Media Norge, of which we 
are still not certain of the outcome, are 
events that contribute to creating the new 
Schibsted. however, this is when the real job 
starts. Strong growth rate places new, 
increased demands on our organisation. 
We must develop our employees and utilise 
our networks and market positions. Our 
family of strong media houses will be the 
main arena for this work, but we also have 
a job to do throughout the Group in order 
to utilise the potential which lies in good 
cooperation between our companies. 

intend to ensure continued diversity for readers 
and advertisers. 

diFFeReNT cULTURes
our competitive advantages are in part our tradi-
tional, established brands but also the opportu-
nities we have to utilise the potential inherent in 
collaboration throughout the Group. one of the 
new challenges which arose in 2006 was to in-
tegrate different cultures in our new companies 
into the Group’s culture. Half of our employees 
work in countries outside norway and Sweden. 
This provides completely new opportunities, but 
also presents some challenges. We have faith in 
a combination of effective collaboration, lear-
ning across our subsidiaries’ boundaries, local 
freedom and anchoring. 

Thorough work on our vision was carried out in 
2005 and new ambitions were defined. In 2006, 
we came a long way in establishing common 
Group activities, so that we will in time be able 
to match the best and leading companies in 
Europe in areas such as sales, innovation, orga-
nisational development and marketing. In 2007, 
common principles will be established defining 
what it means to be a manager in Schibsted. 

The challenge facing the Group’s further growth 
is not a lack of ideas or money, it is how to ob-
tain the necessary human resources. recruiting, 
further developing and keeping our skilled 
employees is one of the Group’s most impor-
tant tasks and a prerequisite for our further 
development. 

GOOd PReReqUisiTes
our trainee programme is part of our strategy 
for attracting talented people. This programme, 
which up to now has mainly been a Swedish/
norwegian affair, will be 10 years old in 2007. 
During the year, we will hire trainee number 100. 
This is and has been an important contribution 
towards bringing vitality and clever employees 
into the Group. In order to ensure the same 
effect in our new international world, the pro-
gramme will be extended to also apply in several 
more of the countries where we operate. 

our prerequisites have never been better – stra-
tegically and financially – for succeeding in our 
ambition: to make the new Schibsted Europe’s 
most attractive media company by having peo-
ple who dare, challenge and create. 

The Group produced its best results ever in 2006, with operating revenues of noK 11.6 billion and a 
profit of noK 1.5 billion (EBITDa). This was despite major investments in organic growth which de-
bited the accounts. The profit was increased by the realisation of non-recurring gains in connection 
with the sale of minority shareholdings in TV 2 and Sweden’s TV4. If we include the revenues from 
the former Trader companies on an annual basis, our real level of revenue has risen by 50 per cent 
to almost noK 15 billion.

2006 was not only a year of change, it was definitely also the year when Schibsted seriously started 
to be a force in a European context. our number of employees rose from 5 200 to 8 500, and we now 
have companies in 20 countries. We achieved our ambition to have a seven per cent organic growth 
rate each year. We ended up at nine per cent, a result we are more than happy with. 

In 2006, Schibsted changed from a newspaper company into a company that is now also compared 
with those whose main activities are online. The share of our profit from this sector has increased 
dramatically – from 19 to 28 percent. 

The PRiNTed NeWsPAPeRs ARe OUR FOUNdATiON
Changes are taking place extremely quickly in the media market, and user habits are changing at the 
same rate. a revolution is taking place in the field of digital media, with an explosive growth in the 
number of channels and an increase in interactive dialogue, user-generated contents and mobility. 

However, it is important to remember that the foundation for all of Schibsted’s online successes are 
the strong, traditional brands that have been built up over many years. The printed newspapers are 
the cornerstones of our development. They have given our new products a good starting point for 
establishing strong positions quickly.  We regard the further development of our established brands 
as being just as important as innovation. 

although 2006 has to a large extent been characterised by internationalisation, it has also been 
an eventful year here at home in norway. The formation of Media norway will lead to the major 
restructuring of the norwegian press sector. It will ensure that editorial quality is maintained, that 
the publishing platform is protected and that the foundation is laid for the further development of 
products in the digital media sphere. By strengthening the media houses’ further development we 

Kjell Aamot / President and CEO



01�

Digital media have led to an explosive increase in the number of media companies. at the same 
time the threshold for sharing information, pictures and films is becoming lower. Making the world 
as one’s public is just a few keystrokes away and the channels are steadily increasing in number and 
becoming more diverse. 

The media used to set the agenda and had the sole right to distribute contents. now, the balan-
ce of power has changed. over the past few years, there has been a revolution in user-generated 
contents. 

newspapers and websites no longer have the sole rights to news and to manage information flows. 
The digital democracy has never-ending possibilities, and the dialogue between established news 
channels and the general public is becoming increasingly close. For example, it is often MMS pictu-
res that illustrate the top stories on the major newspapers’ websites. until the newspaper has sent 
a journalist and photograph, it is the readers themselves that have the most up-to-date information 
and the latest pictures – from natural disasters or accidents. There is always someone with a mobile 
phone in the vicinity. 

The chANNeLs ARe AVAiLAbLe TO eVeRYONe
Many readers have become the editors of their own blogs, and the agenda for what is news is no 

how has the role of newspapers changed over the past ten 
years? Who has power in the media landscape at present, 
and who sets the agenda for tomorrow’s media? The Janu-
ary 2007 edition of TIME Magazine chose the person of the 
year with the heading “you. yes, you”. The magazine descri-
bes 2006 as a pioneering year for people’s media habits. 
“This was the year when people really took control over 
the media. you changed the way we see ourselves – and 
the world we live in. Forever.”

Modern Media users are on the Move 

ThE NEW 
NETWORK 
SOCIETy 
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longer set by the established media alone. The greatest change from yesterday’s information flow 
is that the channels are available to everyone. previously, information was communicated one way, 
from one authority to the general public. now a lot of the information flows from the general public 
– to the general public. a good example is VG’s community nettby.

In addition, digitalisation leads to some information flowing uncensored – without a control body 
having the overall responsibility for editing the material. The success Wikipedia, operated by a non-
profit foundation based in the uS,  is a well known example. The content of the web encyclopedia is 
produced and censored by the users alone. The challenge has become to filter the information that 
exists and to be critical about the profusion of sources that are available.

It is today’s young media users who are contributing the most to change. Figures published by MMI 
show that, in 2006, norwegian 16-24 year-olds for the first time spent more time on the Internet and 
playing computer games than they did watching TV.  Figures published by TnS Gallup show that 78 
per cent of norwegian 12-19 year-olds use the Internet daily.

VG’s and aftenposten’s printed newspapers have lost 15 and 27 per cent respectively of their 15-19 
year-old readers during the past decade. at the same time, VG has in total - printed and online ver-
sions – never had more readers, with more than 1.9 million in January 2007.  In addition, the printed 
newspaper is still – so far - the biggest. Similar trends can be seen in most of the newspapers. 
However, the online version of aftonbladet – a newspaper with almost 2.9 million readers each day 
-  is read by just over 1.7 million people each day, and thus has more daily readers than the printed 
version.
 
The ecONOMisT: WhO KiLLed The NeWsPAPeR?
The recognised weekly magazine The Economist published a special report on the state of the news-
paper industry in its last edition in august. It asked “Who killed the newspaper?”, and gave a flattering 
report on Schibsted. “newspapers are making progress on the Internet, but most of them are still 
too scared, defensive or arrogant,” writes the magazine, claiming that the newspapers with the best 
chance of increasing their revenues are those which dare to experiment with entirely new activities 
both in their printed and online versions. 

Schibsted is praised for its courage and ability 
to develop. “unfortunately for the newspaper in-
dustry, Schibsted is a rare example,” writes The 
Economist. “The greatest difference between 
us and some other media companies is that we 
continued to focus on the Internet when adver-
sity set in a few years ago. Many others gave up. 
The article in The Economist communicates our 
strategy to many target groups,” explains CEo 
Kjell aamot. 

strong brands in the information jungle
What kind of role is the media to play in the fu-
ture? What kind of content do users believe it is 
worth paying for? What kind of content is to be 
distributed to which channel, and what will the 
media’s competitive advantage be?

“The greatest diffe-
rence between us and 
some other media 
companies is that we 
continued to focus on 
the Internet when ad-
versity set in a few ye-
ars ago. Many others 
gave up.” 
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Today’s established channels and brands are facing a bundle 
of constantly changing challenges. In a media universe whe-
re there is no censorship or guarantee of quality, and where 
personal opinions can in theory be spread as quickly as inter-
national news, the established media will be a guarantee of 
quality and credibility. It is our task to manage our positions 
in a long-term, prudent manner. 

It will be even more important than before to give information 
a stamp of quality so that readers have a sound, reliable basis 
for their own opinions and debates. readers will also be able 
to provide valuable contributions, since the online newspa-
pers rapidly and efficiently allow for comments on articles. This will create an interactive dialogue that 
can provide a better all-round picture than by the journalists alone. Today, the media are regarded as 
the fourth estate. With the help of readers, this dimension can be strengthened. 

MediA NORWAY - AN iNTeNT TO eNsURe diVeRsiTY ANd deVeLOPMeNT
“With Media norge (Media norway) approved in resolutions passed by the general meetings of 
aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, Stavanger aftenblad and Fædrelandsvennen on 15 February 2007, 
the four regional media houses have taken a step further along the road to a strong publishing owner 
platform,” says Birger Magnus, the chairman of the Media norway project board and an executive 
vice president of Schibsted. 

“The media world is changing dramatically and the printed press is being challenged by both the digi-
tisation of information and ownership trends in which short-term investor environments without pub-
lishing interests are on the increase. Schibsted’s ownership position protects its publishing platform. 
These media houses’ expertise and resources are also to be further strengthened, so that we can do 
better and better in the digital media sphere. Without this move, these four media houses would be 
far worse prepared to protect their newspapers during the change processes that are increasingly on 
their way,” emphasises Magnus. 

iNNOVATiON – A MATTeR cLOse TO schibsTed’s heART
In Schibsted, we have established a separate strategy and business development department. This 
department’s tasks are to support projects run by the Group and by our subsidiaries.  In addition, 
there is a focus on user insight by further developing our knowledge of tools and processes for under-
standing our customers, users and advertisers. all this is intended to strengthen the Group’s overall 
product development work and, in time, to make our products better at being what our customers 
need tomorrow.  

Innovation primarily takes place in our subsidiaries. For instance, the creation of FInn r&D (research 
& Development) is part of our work of building innovation and creativity into the FInn culture. 
Employees here work a little alongside the operations activities, and have a focus on mapping and 
understanding what tomorrow’s customers need and developing innovation as a core competence 
within the company. 

Schibsted’s online newspapers have a strong focus on live pictures. live pictures are no longer reser-
ved only for TV. This is a growth area for our online newspapers and it has a huge potential. Through 
live pictures, we want to increase the readership of our online newspapers in general and offer our 
readers added value in the form of contents in a new format. 

Some of our developments are a result of changes in media habits and we also change some media 
habits. This is why user insight and innovation are important foundations for the new Schibsted. 

“Through live pic-
tures, we want to 
increase the rea-
dership of our on-
line newspapers in 
general and offer 
our readers added 
value in the form of 
contents in a new 
format.”

“Today, the media 
are regarded as the 
fourth estate. With 
the help of readers, 
this dimension can 
be strengthened.”

cOMbiNiNG FORces
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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Schibsted’s vision is to be Europe’s most attractive media company, and the Group currently has 
operations divided among 20 countries: norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland, France, Spain, Estonia, 
latvia, lithuania, austria, Italy, Switzerland, russia, Slovenia, Singapore, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, 
Venezuela and argentina. 

Schibsted acquired selected parts of the Trader Classified Media company in June 2006. The acquisi-
tions of Trader West Europe and Trader latin america are the largest Schibsted has ever made and on 
the acquisition date they comprised leading printed and online classified ads publications in 9 different 
countries: France, Spain, Italy, Switzerland, Venezuela, Colombia, argentina, Brazil and Mexico. 

For Schibsted, this acquisition was historic, not only because of its size but also because the opera-
tions were purely commercial. Traditionally, we have started off by establishing an editorial product 
that has given us readers. These readers then contribute to circulation and advertising revenues 
– revenues which have enabled us to further develop our editorial product. Here, we start at the other 
end, pursuing advertising revenues and attracting users in the online market. These are elements that 
will, in turn, give us opportunities to establish editorial products and further develop these in the new 
markets that are now opening up. 

 A MAJOR STEP 
TOWARdS EUROPE
a good idea KnoWs no national boundaries

A year ago, Schibsted had 5 000 employees in 11 countries. Now, 
8 500 people are working in the Group. half of them live outside 
Scandinavia. The most important reason for this is the purchase 
of the classified ads company Trader Classified Media. One of the 
headlines in the last annual report was “A good idea knows no   
national boundaries”. In 2006, we achieved a presence in nine new 
countries and are now present in 20.

cOMbiNiNG FORces
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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The RUssiAN MediA MARKeT
2006 was also the year when Schibsted for the first time got involved in the russian media mar-
ket through the purchase of 67 per cent of the company that publishes Moi rayon (My District), a 
free weekly newspaper.  This newspaper is published every Friday in districts in St petersburg and 
Moscow. Sixty per cent of its editorial content is the same in the various editions, while 40 per cent is 
local material - news, offers and guides. In august, Gregory Kunis was chosen as russia’s “Media ma-
nager of the year”. Kunis is the CEo of regional Independent newspapers north-West, which owns 
Moi rayon. ”This prize shows people that independent quality newspapers can survive in russia, and 
this may encourage many publishers here to comply with the principle of independent journalism in 
their work,” said Gregory Kunis when he accepted the prize. 

Schibsted’s free newspapers in Spain and France, 20 Minutes, are both leaders in their markets. In 
total, they have 4.5 million readers. These newspapers’ primarily target young, urban people, and 
both newspapers are in the process of working to transfer their strong positions to the Internet in a 
rapidly expanding market. 

cOOPeRATiON AcROss NATiONAL bOUNdARies
The Group’s international investments in search, directory and classified ads services currently in-
clude around 600 000 homes, 300 000 jobs and 300 000 cars, and have more than 17 million unique 
visitors each month. This means that Schibsted is in total one of the largest groups in Europe in the 
online classified ads sector. 

Sverre Munck, Executive Vice president International, has the following 
comments to make on the further development of the new companies:
“FInn.no and Blocket.se make it seem easy to succeed with online clas-
sified ads, but there is a lot of hard work and continuous product de-
velopment behind their success. We believe we have managed to break 
a code and that our experience allows large amounts to be gained in the 
countries in which we have now bought a position.

”Examples of best practices are to be found many places in the Group. 
For example, Infojobs in Spain, which has an incredibly strong position in its market, is excellent at 
creative ideas and solutions. In France, la Centrale has developed an insurance product for used cars 
that the companies in Sweden and norway have imported.  The acquisitions in 2006 also strengthen 
the winners in our domestic markets through the sharing of expertise with companies that are more 

“Schibsted’s free newspapers in 
Spain and France, 20 Minutes, 
are both leaders in their mar-
kets. In total, they have 4.5 mil-
lion readers.”

sChiBsted has 8 500 emPloyees and 
oPerations in 20 Countries
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exposed to competition. We want all participants 
to experience the networks we are establishing 
across national boundaries as added value – that is 
the only way we can maintain an interest in having 
common meeting places.”

“We want to be active owners in the various enter-
prises. We will do this by establishing a best-practi-
ce programme and common workshops for busi-
ness development and expertise enhancement. The 
goal is both to transfer experience we have gained at home and take the best from the new markets 
home with us. a number of conferences with international participation were held in the second half of 
2006, including many workshops for the classified ads companies: marketing in Madrid, car advertising 
in paris, recruitment advertising in Barcelona, general classified ads in oslo and real-estate advertising 
in Milan. We are aiming for an even higher level of activity in 2007.”

iNTeGRATiON is A PROcess, NOT A decisiON
With rapid expansion come opportunities and challenges. It is impossible to avoid some growing 
pains, especially in countries where Schibsted is establishing a presence for the first time. Groups 
management was reorganised in January 2006 in order to be better equipped for the tasks facing 
us.  The new units - norway, Sweden and International – are a step in the process of establishing a 
more active group role. We believe our subsidiaries’ freedom and distinctive characteristics are pre-
requisites for further growth. We want to combine the benefits of being part of an international media 
group with the internal diversity, local knowledge and involvement that can be found in each of our 
subsidiaries.  Efficient cooperation is to characterise the relationship between our companies – both 
old and new. In this way, we hope to establish creative organisations that are continuously improving 
and which derive maximum benefit from the network within the group. 

The goal of establishing a creative collaboration between the classified ads companies is to create 
an active, efficient network of experts across national boundaries – a network in which they can test 
out ideas and discuss new products and solutions. Besides, life is too short to make all the mistakes 
oneself, so we are trying to learn from each other! This is why collaboration across national bounda-
ries forms the foundation for the development of the new Schibsted.

“We want to combine the benefits of being 
part of an international media group with 
the internal diversity, local knowledge and 
involvement that can be found in each of 
our subsidiaries.”

cOMbiNiNG FORces
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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our groWth strategy

A COMMUNITy 
OF MEdIA hOUSES

We want to follow our readers and advertisers irrespective of media channel. Through the Internet, 
mobile phones, radios and live pictures, combined with traditional printed newspapers, we aim to 
offer contents throughout the media day. our current media houses are aftonbladet and Svenska 
Dagbladet in Sweden, VG and aftenposten in norway, Eesti Meedia in Estonia, 20 Minutos in Spain 
and 20 Minutes in France. all have leading positions in their markets and have traditional newspaper 
operations as the foundation for the development of new products. “The printed newspapers will be 
important to Schibsted for many years to come. They are the basis for the increased cash flow from 
the Internet,” says Group CEo Kjell aamot. 

The media houses’ power lies in their established positions, high volume of traffic and strong brands. 
In our further development work, we are trying to become established in markets where we can see 
opportunities for building strong new media houses. In time, we will link these operations even more 
closely together for expertise-transfer and internal-learning purposes. 

The chANNeLs cOMPLeMeNT eAch OTheR
The media market is characterised by people using more and more new channels to find information. 
VG, for example, has never had as many readers as it has now, but fewer people are reading its 
printed newspaper. Mobile phones and the Internet are gaining ground, and there are more and more 
products in these channels. live pictures on the Internet have become a significant part of the online 
newspapers’ news, and there is more and more interaction between the reader and news provider. 

The creation of a media house is about user insight and an ability to adapt to increased media con-
sumption and changed habits. our goal is to create a sense of loyalty to the brand name, irrespective 
of channel. Internally within the media houses, we are trying to optimise each channel’s qualities and 
ensure that they complement each other as regards contents and areas of use. 

at the same time, it is important to have close cooperation between the editorial staffs of the online 
and printed newspapers. In aftenposten, a new effort – “Media house 07” – is initiated to ensure even 
closer cooperation between the channels. The integration of the online and printed newspapers will 
strengthen all of aftenposten and give readers an even better product. This will safeguard the com-
mon future. However, the process must take place slowly so that everyone has an opportunity to learn 
about the new rules. Being able to work on the Internet and cooperate more closely with the online 
journalists will be a natural part of the work in the future.

In Schibsted, we have seven companies that we define as me-
dia houses. They all carry out publishing operations in seve-
ral channels and have been developed in answer to growing 
media consumption and an increasingly fragmented media 
landscape.  Based on a strong brand name, they disseminate 
news, useful articles and entertainment in many channels. 
These companies comprise the power centres in our further 
development.
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A COMMUNITy 
OF MEdIA hOUSES

Media house: CoMpanIES EnGaGED In puBlISHInG aCTIVITIES 
In a ranGE oF CHannElS, DEVElopED In rESponSE To InCrEaSED 
ConSuMpTIon oF MEDIa anD an InCrEaSInGlY FraGMEnTED MEDIa 
lanDSCapE. unDErpInnED BY STronG BranD naMES THEY DISTrIBuTE 
nEWS, praCTICal anD EnTErTaInMEnT ConTEnT In ManY CHannElS. 
THESE CoMpanIES CoMprISE THE poWEr CEnTrES oF our FurTHEr 
DEVElopMEnT.

Through the media houses, we can develop solutions that combine prin-
ted newspapers, TV, mobile phones and online newspapers. In this way, 
we can offer advertisers exciting, attractive concepts that also simplify the 
purchase process. The media houses are continuously making efforts to 
become better at analysis and competence on how the channels influence 
each other. E24 næringsliv is a good example of cooperation between 
media houses. Traffic from its owners, aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet 
in Sweden and VG and aftenposten in norway, has helped E24 to rapidly 
become established as the leading online business newspaper.

The cORe AcTiViTies ARe A dOOR OPeNeR
Schibsted has young media houses with strong positions. 20 Minutes, 
Schibsted’s free newspaper in Spain and France, is the most read general 
newspaper in both countries, with 2 448 000 and 2 160 000 readers in 
these two countries respectively. These newspapers target young, urban 
people. at the same time, in 2006, they intensified their online commitment 
and increased the number of users by 240 per cent in Spain. By having a 
leading position among the paper newspapers and now also a strong online 
position, 20 Minutos will be very well positioned for launching new pro-
ducts in the Spanish market. This is how core activities are used as a door 
opener for new products. 20 Minutes in France has experienced similar 
developments. 

In our oldest media houses, especially in norway and Sweden, there is a 
lot of sound expertise regarding the dissemination of contents using new 
platforms. our goal is to connect people with different experience and in 
this way benefit from the fact that we operate in different markets with 

common challenges. local knowledge about markets and readers is crucial to the 
success of these media houses. We want to combine this with what we have learnt 
from the rapid developments over the past few years and the export of concepts that 
have proven profitable in other markets. 

The PRiNTed NeWsPAPeRs ARe The FOUNdATiON
Group CEo Kjell aamot comments on how Schibsted thinks about the development 
of the media houses and how the products complement each other. “The point is 
to measure the activities in the individual media houses, such as VG. The income 
flows are moving from old to new media. But the basis for the media houses in the 
Schibsted Group is still the printed newspapers, with the competitive power that has 
created successes such as VG nett and FInn.no. We can see the same in France 
and Spain, where our free newspapers initially get us readers. They are then used to 
develop new online positions which rapidly gain credibility.” 

The media houses are intended to be a creative centre for bold product development, 
with the printed newspapers as their foundation and core activity. our ability to learn 
and develop is crucial to our success in realising our ambitions in an industry that is 
undergoing rapid change. 

our media house strategy is one of the foundations for the new Schibsted. 

cOMbiNiNG FORces
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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The strategy process in 2005 created important meeting places for the managers within the orga-
nisation. We are building on these in our further work so that we as a group ensure that we are all 
striving for the same goals. 

The Schibsted employees are our most important resource and our foremost ambassadors. our repu-
tation as an employer depends on satisfied employees. at the same time, strong and creative orga-
nisations are based on good managers. Management development will therefore be one of our most 
important tasks in the years to come. In 2006, we involved our hundred top managers in an effort to 
define a set of principles that describes the qualities which Schibsted’s managers must have, both 
those in the subsidiaries and those in the group management. We are also in the process of making 
arrangements for closer follow-up of each manager. regular evaluation and coaching are intended to 
make being a manager in Schibsted even more exciting and developing. 

iMPORTANT AMbiTiONs iN The GROUP’s sTRATeGY
our companies have many administrative tasks in common. We try to coordinate these so that we 
achieve the same rhythm in the group. This makes it easier to ensure continuity and quality in the way 
in which we follow up results and people. 

attracting, retaining and further developing clever people is one of our most important tasks. The 
development of expertise and our organisation are therefore important ambitions in the group’s stra-
tegy. We want to encourage local entrepreneurship while also utilising the benefits of being a large, 

INTERACTION 
ACROSS BOUNdARIES
strong groWth requires strong organisations

Schibsted’s strong growth in size and scope in 2006 has led to 
extra demands being stipulated as to the development of its 
organisation and expertise. during the past year, we reinforced 
a network in which knowledge and resources are utilised to the full 
across company, nations and business area boundaries.  
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international media group.  our aim is to promote mobility between the companies and to offer the 
whole of Schibsted as the platform for a career. 

In 2007, the Group Council (see page 53) launched a separate scholarship fund for work experience, 
so that more employees will have the chance to visit and work in other companies in norway and 
abroad. This measure forms part of the work of building new bridges between the group’s many 
employees and business areas. 

We want this fund to provide opportunities for greater mobility within the Group and for utilising the 
benefits of us being a major group, including when it comes to expertise transfer. over the past few 
years, a lot of important work has been done at group level to strengthen the development of the 
Group’s senior managers, middle management and now, most recently, sales personnel, through se-
parate programmes. These programmes will be very important to the Group’s further development. 
There is a great deal of interest in the work experience schemes and this is increasing in line with the 
number of new enterprises. This fund is intended to help establish good work experience schemes 
from which many people can benefit. 

iNTeRNATiONALisiNG The TRAiNee PROGRAMMe
Schibsted’s management trainee programme, which celebrates its 10th anniversary in 2007, has to 
a large extent helped to create a good network and dynamic environment among our companies. In 
2007, trainee number 100 will be recruited and the programme as a whole will be made international. 
This means that, in addition to norway and Sweden, we will also be recruiting from the Baltic region, 
Spain and France. 

a separate programme for sales trainees was established in 2006 with the goal of developing future 
key media sales staff. Both these programmes last for two years and have room for four participants. 
The Schibsted Sales award was launched in January 2007. This competition is intended to make visi-
ble and celebrate the best performances as well as establishing meeting places for expertise sharing 
and the creation of networks between the companies’ sales environments. 

In 2006, 139 people completed one of our programmes. This number will be even higher in 2007. 
There is a lot of interest in such common schemes and the concepts are constantly  being improved 
following evaluation and feedback from the participants. The programmes intended for sales mana-
gers, new as a Manager, senior managers, international workshops and the KaM  (Key account 
Manager) programme have become good arenas for meeting colleagues from other companies, 
exchanging experiences and learning from each other. The relationships between our subsidiaries 
are to be characterised by efficient cooperation and a strong local involvement. 

We are dependent on skilled staff for reaching our strategic goals. We have managed to attract some 
of the best media people in our domestic areas. our international expansion over the past year has 
also brought many new exciting employees to Schibsted. The challenge will be to create new meeting 
places and arenas internally in order to utilise the strengths to be found in our media houses and to 
make it easy for ideas to trickle easily throughout the organisation. In this way, we will ensure that 
successful concepts can also be cultivated in new markets. 

Expertise and manager development is one of our cornerstones for the new Schibsted. 

LE
“Schibsted’s management trainee 
programme, which celebrates its 
10th anniversary in 2007, has to a 
large extent helped to create a good 
network and dynamic environment 
among our companies. In 2007, trai-
nee number 100 will be recruited 
and the programme as a whole will 
be made international.”

cOMbiNiNG FORces
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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one of several foundations in Schibsted’s vision is that Schibsted is to be a 
group that contributes to democracy and diversity through its integrity and 
editorial independence. Schibsted ensures diversity in the media through 
its editorial independence and respect for the fact that different media 
are based on different publishing and political viewpoints and have varying 
distinctive characteristics.

Editorial integrity, independence, credibility and quality are decisive for all 
the media and publications in the Schibsted Group’s norwegian and for-
eign companies and are so central to the Group’s corporate governance 
that they are also stated in Schibsted’s articles of association. 

Schibsted’s corporate governance is also based on the norwegian 
recommendations regarding Corporate Governance (”the recommen-
dations”). The main principles of Schibsted’s corporate governance are 
summarised here. It has been more natural to discuss other parts of the 
recommendations in more specific contexts elsewhere in the annual 
report. This includes the principles governing the control of editorial 
operations, which are described under the chapter on Corporate Social 
responsibility on page 30 of the annual report. reference is also made to 
note 8 to the accounts, which includes the Board of Director’s declaration 
of determination of salaries and other benefits for senior Group executives. 
This means that much of the work done by the Compensation Committee 
and the Board of Directors relating to compensation for the Group’s senior 
managers has been moved to this note. In keeping with the new provi-
sions in Section 6-16 a of the norwegian public limited Companies act 
(cf. Section 5-6, third paragraph), the Board of Directors will present its 
declaration at the annual General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2007 for 
consideration and vote. 

shARehOLdeRs
Schibsted has one class of shares, with equal rights attaching to each 
share.

Due to Schibsted’s publishing responsibilities and role in society as a media 
company, Schibsted’s impartiality and integrity have been guaranteed by re-
strictions in ownership and voting rights stipulated in the company’s articles 
of association.

Changes to the articles of association require the approval of more than 
75 per cent of the share capital represented at the General Meeting. The 
same applies to resolutions to transfer aftenposten’s and VG’s publication 
rights. The Group’s publishing companies also have provisions in their arti-
cles of association to safeguard their editorial freedom.

any shareholder owning at least 25 per cent of the shares in the company 
is entitled to appoint one director directly.

Blommenholm Industrier aS owns 26.1 per cent of the shares in Schibsted 

aSa and is the company’s largest shareholder. The only voting a share in 
Blommenholm Industrier aS is owned by the Tinius Trust. This was transfer-
red by Tinius nagell-Erichsen in a deed of gift dated 11 May 2006. The Tinius 
Trust is described in more detail under corporate social responsibility.

ceNTRAL bOdies
The company is organised as a public limited company, with the General 
Meeting as its supreme authority, a Board of Directors, an external audi-
tor and a Chief Executive officer who reports to the Board of Directors. 
Schibsted is exempt from the rules regarding the establishment of a cor-
porate assembly. 

The bOARd OF diRecTORs
The Group’s Board of Directors currently consists of 11 members. Seven 
are elected by the shareholders and four are elected by and from among 
the employees. In accordance with protocols from 1988/89, one of the 
employee seats on the board is reserved for a VG employee and three 
employee seats on the board are reserved for aftenposten employees. VG 
also has an alternate member who regularly attends the meetings. 

There has also been a tradition that the editors-in-chief of aftenposten 
and VG regularly attend board meetings. This means that 14 people usually 
attend Group board meetings, in addition to the management, which nor-
mally has three or four representatives at the meetings. 

NeW RePReseNTATiON scheMe iN schibsTed
agreement has been reached with the employee representatives in 
aftenposten and VG on a new representation scheme in Schibsted. This 
will require §8 of Schibsted’s articles of association to be amended. This 
proposal will be submitted to the company’s annual General Meeting on 
10 May 2007. provided the annual General Meeting agrees to the amend-
ments, these changes will be implemented as quickly as possible. 

The directors
The new representation scheme means there is greater flexibility regar-
ding the number of directors the Group’s board is to have and that the 
employees’ board representation will depend on the representation rules 
that apply to media companies. at present, this means in accordance with 
the agreement regarding employees’ co-determination rights in newspa-
per companies and news agencies and associated regulations no. 1205 
of 18 December 1998. This also means that agreement has been reached 
on an election system that ensures that all the employees of the Group’s 
norwegian companies take part in the election process and can be elected 
to the Group’s board. 

The aim is to establish a board consisting of six shareholder-elected direc-
tors and two directors elected by and from among the employees in the 
norwegian part of the Group. It will be proposed that the number of share-
holder-elected alternate directors be increased from two to three. 

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Schibsted’s corporate governance is based on Schibsted’s publish-
ing tradition and the value base that has always played a key role 
in the Group’s operations. 
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The employee representatives
as part of the new representation scheme, a Group employee representati-
ve scheme will be established. This entails the election of one employee re-
presentative from norway and one from the country outside norway where 
Schibsted has the most, or most important, of its operations. at present, 
this means that the foreign employee representative is to be elected from 
Sweden. Both the employee representatives are to be allowed to attend 
and speak at the Group’s board meetings. 

The editors
an observer is elected from among the editors in the Group’s norwegian 
and foreign newspapers who is allowed to attend and speak at the Group’s 
board meetings. The current scheme, according to which the editors of 
aftenposten and VG always attend such meetings, has been discontinued. 
The number of directors has thus been reduced from 11 to eight, and the 
total number of people attending board meetings has been reduced from 
14 to 11 (excluding the management). 

The bOARd’s WORK
Extensive strategy work has been carried out in all parts of the Group 
throughout the year in order to continue the vision and strategy process 
that was started in 2005. 

as part of the vision and strategy work, the Board’s strategy process was 
altered in 2006. Three-year strategy plans are to be updated annually by 
tactical plans and estimates of budgetary consequences being determi-
ned. The Group’s annual strategy meeting takes place in the spring and 
forms the basis for the Group’s budget processes. 

as a management tool for use in its continuous monitoring and control of 
the Group’s operations, the Board receives detailed reports on the current 
situation from the management. These reports show the main financial figu-
res for the Group, the status of commercial factors, financial market infor-
mation and a status report for each business area. In 2006, the Board has 
been working on establishing new routines for monitoring and controlling 
the Group’s ongoing projects. The establishment of the audit Committee is 
one element in the work to strengthen this function in the Group.

The Board seeks to obtain a detailed presentation of one of the Group’s 
key companies at each board meeting so that it has a closer relationship 
with the Group’s individual companies and their managers. Furthermore, 
the Board seeks to regularly combine its meetings with a visit to one of the 
Group’s subsidiaries outside oslo. This normally takes place at the same 
time as the strategy meeting. 

The ANNUAL eVALUATiON OF The bOARd’s WORK 
The Directors’ report on page 60 of the annual report contains a presen-
tation of the Board’s members and of their experience and expertise. 
In previous years, the Board has evaluated its own efforts and way of 

working. These evaluations were based on conversations between the 
Chairman of the Board and each director. In 2006, the Board chose to use 
external consultants to conduct this evaluation. Both shareholder-elec-
ted and employee-elected directors took part in this evaluation. The aim 
was to obtain an external evaluation of the Board’s composition, way of 
working and combined expertise as a group. The consultants based their 
evaluations on a questionnaire that each member was asked to fill in as the 
basis for an individual interview. Based on this work, a report was prepared, 
which was submitted to the Board for assessment before it was sent to the 
nomination Committee as a basis for its continued work in connection with 
its annual evaluation of the Board. 

The consultants’ report states that Schibsted’s board appears to be good 
and well functioning, with dedicated, active and competent directors who 
represent a wide range of complementary expertise and backgrounds. The 
consultants did not found any critical weaknesses in the board’s composi-
tion or function, but nevertheless state that recruiting board members who 
ensure sufficient international experience and knowledge in the board is an 
extremely challenging task.

The consultants stated that planned reduction in board representation will 
have a positive effect on the Board’s work. 
The frequency and location of the Board’s meetings function well. In 2006, 
as in previous years, eight ordinary Board meetings were scheduled, inclu-
ding the strategy meeting, which lasts for two days and includes a visit to 
a Group company. The Group’s level of activity necessitated a total of 12 
meetings being held, compared to 14 in 2005. Meetings that are not listed 
on the meeting schedule may be attended by telephone. 

There is a great need to be professionally updated in a media Group that 
is in a constantly changing technological landscape. It is therefore positive 
that the Board of Directors is occasionally invited to professional seminars 
arranged by the management, with external and internal speakers, in ad-
dition to the Board meetings. Efforts are also being made to establish a 
separate portal for the Board. This would help to simplify and enhance the 
efficiency of the Board’s work, and may also be a useful tool for obtaining 
information in addition to that contained in the ordinary papers sent to 
the Board. 

The bOARd’s iNdePeNdeNce
In order to strengthen and utilise the directors’ expertise in and experience 
of the Schibsted Group’s operations, the directors are also members of the 
Group’s subsidiaries’ boards. among the shareholder-elected directors, 
this currently applies to ole Jacob Sunde, who is a director of aftonbladet, 
Cato a. Holmsen and Karl-Christian agerup (alternate director), who are 
directors of aftenposten, Monica Caneman, who is a director of Svenska 
Dagbladet, and John a. rein (deputy alternate director), who is a director 
of VG. 

“due to Schibsted’s publishing re-
sponsibilities and role in society 
as a media company, Schibsted’s 
impartiality and integrity have 
been guaranteed by restrictions 
in ownership and voting rights 
stipulated in the company’s Arti-
cles of Association.”

cORPORATe GOVeRNANce
SCHIBSTED annual rEporT 2006
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The Board of Blommenholm Industrier aS consists of Tinius nagell-Erichsen, 
as the Chairman of the Board, in addition to ole Jacob Sunde and John a. 
rein. ole Jacob Sunde is the Chairman of Schibsted’s Board. John a. rein 
is the deputy alternate member for the shareholder-elected directors of 
the Group’s Board and provides legal services to Blommenholm Industrier 
aS/Tinius nagell-Erichsen through the law firm of Wikborg, rein & Co. 

Formuesforvaltning, of which ole Jacob Sunde is a major shareholder, has 
a management agreement with Blommenholm Industrier aS/Tinius nagell-
Erichsen. Blommenholm Industrier aS has invested in FSn Capital Fond I 
(1.68 per cent share) and FSn Capital Fond II (0.66 per cent share). 

Cato a. Holmsen is executive chairman of FSn Capital partners, which 
is these funds’ management company. alternate director Karl-Christian 
agerup was a co-owner of Hugin, in which Schibsted until recently had a 
25.7 per cent stake. This company has now been sold. Christian ringnes 
controls the company that rents offices to Schibsted’s head office in Tallinn, 
Eesti Meedia. Some of the directors and alternate directors are directors 
of the Tinius Trust. The board of the Tinius Trust currently consists of Tinius 
nagell-Erichsen, ole Jacob Sunde, John a. rein and per Egil Hegge.

The Use OF cOMMiTTees iN The bOARd’s WORK
as the Group has grown in size and scope and become more and more 
international, the Board has seen an increase in the amount of work it has 
to do and the complexity of the issues. 

The Board shares the nomination Committee’s view that the formation of 
committees can lead to the Board having less responsibility for issues and 
that committees should therefore only be used when the complexity and 
scope of the issues so require. 

previously, the Board only had a separate Compensation Committee. 
However, following the annual General Meeting this year, an audit 
Committee will be established. Both committees are discussed below. 

The bOARd’s cOMPeNsATiON cOMMiTTee
Since its formation in 2004, the Compensation Committee has consisted 
of ole Jacob Sunde (chairman), Monica Caneman and alexandra Bech 
Gjørv. like the Board of Directors, the Compensation Committee is up for 
election each year.

The Compensation Committee prepares issues for the Board relating 
to compensation and other remuneration for the Group management 
and senior management in key subsidiaries. The secretary to the Board 
is also the secretary to the Compensation Committee. The CEo attends 
Compensation Committee meetings unless his own remuneration is to be 
discussed. other internal management resources and external expertise 
are also used to prepare issues for the committee.

This Committee’s work includes issues relating to salaries, bonuses, op-
tions, severance pay, early retirement pensions and retirement pensions. 
In recent years, the Group’s compensation schemes have been reviewed 
and reformed. The main features are described in the Board of Director’s 
declaration concerning these matters, which is included in note 8 to the 
accounts.

esTAbLishMeNT OF AN AUdiT cOMMiTTee iN schibsTed
The Eu’s 8th Directive stipulates a requirement that listed enterprises in 
the Eu/EEa area must establish audit committees. This requirement is 
expected to affect the 2008 financial year. The Board therefore finds it na-
tural to establish an audit Committee following this year’s annual General 
Meeting. 

The Board has considered how such an audit Committee can best be 
established and function within the framework of Schibsted’s management 
structure. a future audit committee will be assigned the task of proposing a 
specific mandate to the Board, when the audit Committee convenes after 
the annual General Meeting. The mandate will be based on frameworks 
determined by the Board. The Board of Directors has decided that the 
audit Committee shall consist of three members. There is the possibility 
of electing one external member, i.e. not from the members of the Board 
of Directors. 

The NOMiNATiON cOMMiTTee
The nomination Committee is made up of Supreme Court attorney lars a. 
Christensen (Chairman), Gunn Wærsted and Tinius nagell-Erichsen. nils 
Bastiansen, a director of the norwegian national Insurance Scheme Fund, 
is a regularly attending alternate member. The nomination Committee is 
elected by the annual General Meeting for two years at a time. The present 
nomination Committee has been elected to serve until the annual General 
Meeting in 2008. lars a. Christensen is Chairman of the nomination 
Committee. lars a. Christensen is a partner in the law firm of Wikborg, rein 
& Co which, through John a. rein, has a relationship with Blommenholm 
Industrier, Tinius nagell-Erichsen and the Tinius Trust. 

The secretary to the Board prepares issues for the nomination Committee 
and normally attends meetings together with the CEo

The nomination Committee’s mandate is mainly stated in §10 of Schibsted’s 
articles of association. The nomination Committee’s main task is to en-
sure that the Board is continuously evaluated in relation to the challenges 
facing the Group at any time. 

The nomination Committee’s chairman presents an oral report on the 
nomination Committee’s work during the year at the annual General 
Meeting. The nomination Committee’s written report on the work carried 
out in 2006 is published on page 56 of the annual report. 

schibsTed’s GROUP cOUNciL
Schibsted’s Group Council was established in 2004, based on the regula-
tions governing the Establishment of European Works Councils.

The purpose of the Group Council is to promote development, motivation, 
joint responsibility and mutual trust between the management and em-
ployees. The Group Council is to ensure active cooperation and represent 
a forum for information, discussion and dialogue within the Group. The 
Group Council is a supplement to the employees’ representation in their 
own companies. 

“In order to strengthen and uti-
lise the directors’ expertise in 
and experience of the Schibsted 
Group’s operations, some of the 
directors are also members of 
the Group’s subsidiaries’ boards”.
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The Group Council’s members are presented in further detail on page 62 
of the annual report, where the Group Council’s chairman, Håkon letvik, 
has also provided an account of the Group Council’s work. Håkon letvik is 
a member of aftenposten’s Editorial Staff union and has chaired the Group 
Council since it was established in 2004. 

NeW ResPONsibiLiTies FOR The GROUP cOUNciL As FROM 
2006/2007
Thrine and amandus Schibsted’s Scholarship Fund (”the Scholar-ship 
Fund”) has for a long time provided funding to employees who wanted to 
take a study trip or visit a company. The scholarship limits have been noK 
20 000 per employee, up to a total of noK 550 000 (2005). In order to 
utilise the Scholarship Fund’s assets in a more targeted fashion, the assets 
have now been reallocated so that they are to be used to establish work 
experience schemes within the Group. There is great interest in work ex-
perience schemes among the employees, and this is increasing in line with 
the acquisition of new companies. 

During the past few years, a lot of important work has been carried out at 
Group level to strengthen the development of the Group’s senior mana-
gers, middle managers and sales managers/sales personnel via separate 
programmes that take place over a lengthy period of time and involve close 
follow-up and clear, long-term goals for the individual participants in the 
programmes. 

These programmes are very important to the Group’s further development, 
but are nonetheless available to relatively few employees. For this reason, 
the Scholarship Fund’s assets will in the future be used to establish good 
work experience schemes for all the Group’s employees. 

Since the beginning of 2006, the Group Council has been responsible for 
administering the scholarship assets. The annual amount awarded has 
been increased from noK 550 000 to noK 1 million in connection with 
this reorganisation. 

election of Group employee representatives 
as part of the implementation of the new representation scheme mentio-
ned above, a Group employee representative scheme is being set up in 
the Group. Two Group employee representatives are to be elected. The 
norwegian Group employee representative is intended to be elected by 
and from among the employee representatives in the Group’s norwegian 
companies, while the Swedish Group employee representative is to be 
elected by and from among the employee representatives in the Group’s 
Swedish companies. 

AUdiT
Ernst & Young is Schibsted aSa’s auditor. The Company’s auditor is present 
when the preliminary consolidated accounts are presented to the Group’s 
Board and sometimes also in connection with the final presentation of the 
accounts. 

at these meetings, the auditor reviews the issues that have been assessed 
during the year and answers questions from the Board. The auditor is also 
present at the company’s annual General Meeting and comments on the 
auditor’s report that has been provided and invites the shareholders to ask 
questions relating to the audit. 

The Group’s total auditors’ fees paid to Ernst & Young in 2006 amounted to 
noK 6.8 mill. of which noK 1.3 mill. is related to auditing services provided 
to Schibsted aSa. noK 5.9 mill. of the total fees is related to the mandato-
ry audit. other services provided by Ernst & Young are invoiced separately, 
and in 2006 these amounted to noK 0.9 mill. for the Group and noK 0.5 
mill. for Schibsted aSa. This assistance is mainly connected to questions 
relating to taxation and necessary auditor’s confirmations in connection 
with corporate changes in the Group (capital injections, mergers, demer-
gers, etc). In connection with the acquisition of Trader Classified Media 
in 2006, Ernst & Young has carried out work for Schibsted in France for 
noK 6.5 mill.

Some of the Group’s subsidiaries use other auditing firms. auditors’ fees to 
these firms amounted to noK 9.7 mill. in 2006, of which noK 6.5 mill. rela-
ted to mandatory audits. otherwise refer to note 9 to the accounts, where 
the nature and extent of these services is described in greater detail. 
It is the Board’s opinion that the consulting services carried out by Ernst & 
Young for the Group do not affect the auditor’s impartiality.

The Board has not held any meetings with the auditor without the manage-
ment being present. The establishment of an audit Committee will change 
this.
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Schibsted is and must be a group that ensures diversity in the media through 
its editorial independence and respect for the fact that different media have 
different distinctive characters and are based on different publishing and po-
litical standpoints. This task must be continuously assessed, especially when 
investing in new media and in markets where editorial freedom does not 
have the same traditions as in Scandinavia. 

our editorial work complies with the legislation and ethical rules that apply 
to the media in the individual countries. In norway, these principles have 
been stipulated by the norwegian press association in its Code of Ethics. 
In Sweden, newspapers are edited in accordance with the Freedom of the 
press act and the ethical rules that apply to the Swedish press. 

The ediTORs’ cOde
In addition, each newspaper has its own internal regulations that are inten-
ded to ensure its editorial integrity, protect its sources and safeguard its 
ethical press standards. The Editor’s Code states that the editor-in-chief is 
personally fully liable for the newspaper’s contents. This also applies to ad-
vertisements. The editor reports to the company’s board of directors but is 
the independent head of the editorial staff based on the company’s articles 
of association and memorandum of association.

The newspapers have developed special routines for delegation and how the 
work is to be carried out during the media day. The objective of this is to en-
sure quality and compliance. Schibsted’s largest newspapers, aftonbladet, 
VG, aftenposten and Svenska Dagbladet, make the ”editorial control of ope-
rations” visible in their annual reports, as does the Scanpix picture agency. 
new developments have led to Schibsted now having a variety of new media 
channels which impart editorial content to society in different arenas. It has 
been important for Schibsted to ensure that the fundamental requirements 
regarding media ownership also cover these new media channels. 

The TiNiUs TRUsT
“ownership means much more to a newspaper than it does to a normal in-
dustrial company,” was how Tinius nagell-Erichsen started off his account 
of the background to the Tinius Trust in May 1996. This shows the special 
corporate social responsibility that is linked to running newspapers and other 
media. Media owners have a special responsibility. (refer to the report on 
the Tinius Trust on the next page.)

Editorial freedom and integrity are soundly anchored in Schibsted and sta-
ted in our articles of association. our objects clause states the following: 
“The shareholders shall enable the company to operate its information and 
publishing activities in such a way that editorial freedom and integrity is fully 
ensured. The requirement for editorial freedom and integrity shall apply to all 
media and publications encompassed by the norwegian and international 
activities of the Schibsted group.”

GeNdeR eqUALiTY
Schibsted makes its living from skilled managers and employees. Their ex-

pertise, creativity and willingness to continually improve are increasingly cru-
cial to our success, so it is vital to the Group to ensure that men and women 
have the same development opportunities. This is an important part of the 
Group’s corporate social responsibility.

active efforts are being made in a number of the Group’s companies to en-
sure that men and women have the same terms, the same access to ma-
nagerial positions and the same conditions with regard to recruitment and 
development activities. Several companies have their own gender equality 
plans, and many carry out mapping work based on a gender equality per-
spective. VG’s journalist trainee programme, which was established in 2003, 
is one of several examples of the fact that Schibsted’s subsidiaries take the 
question of gender equality seriously. The goal of this programme is to recruit 
talented women to jobs in male-dominated editorial environments, such as 
sports and news desks. aftenposten has actively recruited women to ma-
nagerial positions and 36 per cent of its senior managers are now women. 
Correspondingly, 36 per cent of aftonbladet’s managers and 38 per cent 
of Svenska Dagbladet’s managers are women. In VG, 30 per cent of the 
managers are female.

among the shareholder-elected directors on the Group’s board, 43 per cent 
are women. If the employee-elected board members are included, 55 per 
cent of the Group’s directors are women. 

Group management is also working systematically to ensure a balance bet-
ween the sexes, not least in the Group’s own development programmes. In 
2006, 30 per cent of those participating in these programmes were women. 
The accumulated share of female participants since Schibsted started its 
management and expertise programmes is 38 per cent.The percentage of 
women taking part in these programmes since they were established is as 
follows:
•  Schibsted’s management programmes – 34 per cent
•  Schibsted’s sales management programmes – 24 per cent
•  Schibsted’s KaM programmes – 42 per cent
•  Schibsted’s trainee programmes – 46 per cent
However, a lot remains to be done before Schibsted can be said to have 
achieved full gender equality. 

WORKiNG eNViRONMeNT
Schibsted wants to provide secure jobs where people enjoy working and 
there is good collaboration between colleagues and between the manage-
ment and other staff. Efforts to improve the workplace environment take 
place in each company’s working environment committee, for example. With 
the help of the company health service, regular working environment surveys 
are conducted and these form the basis for improvements. 

During the past few years, Schibsted aSa and some of its subsidiaries have 
taken part in the Great place to Work Institutes’ surveys and competitions. 
These allow Schibsted to determine how satisfied its employees are at work. 
Many measures have been implemented in the wake of these surveys. 

CORPORATE SOCIAl 
RESPONSIBIlITy

For a media group, acting properly and responsibly is of vital im-
portance. Trust is a key word. There must be mutual trust between 
us and our readers, viewers and listeners, as well as between us 
and our employees, owners and society at large.
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The Tinius Trust was established by Schibsted’s largest owner, Tinius 
nagell-Erichsen, in order to ensure that Schibsted’s newspapers and other 
media can continue to maintain their position as free, independent bodies.  
The Trust was established by Tinius nagell-Erichsen in a deed of gift dated 
8 May 1996 and has a basic capital of noK 10 million. 

Tinius nagell-Erichsen transferred the only voting share in Blommenholm 
Industrier to the Trust in May 2006. Blommenholm Industrier owns 
26.1 per cent of the shares in Schibsted aSa and is the Group’s largest 
shareholder.

amendments to Schibsted aSa’s articles of association require a majority 
of 3/4 and according to the articles of association no shareholder may 
own or vote for more than 30 per cent of the shares. The articles of as-
sociation also ensure that important decisions made by the Group’s sub-
sidiaries require the support of 3/4 of the votes at the General Meeting of 
Schibsted aSa.  as long as the 26.1 per cent shareholding is not split up, 
these provisions therefore allow a considerable influence over the ownership 
of Schibsted. This total holding is so strong that any takeover will also be 
extremely difficult. at Schibsted’s annual General Meeting in 1996, Tinius 
nagell-Erichsen gave an account of the background to the formation of the 
Trust. He said, among other things. 

“ownership means much more to a newspaper than it does to a normal 
industrial company. a newspaper is not a normal product, it is rather a fo-
rum for vital information on society and an exchange of ideas on which our 
democratic form of society rests. The ownership of a newspaper should, 
therefore, in addition to taking a long-term view, clearly commit to the va-
lues the newspaper stands for. at times, it may be necessary to defend 
these values so that the newspaper continues to be free and independent. 
In such case, it is an advantage to own a large share.”

The Tinius Trust’s articles of association stipulate that the Trust is to make 
efforts to ensure that the Schibsted Group continues as a media group, 
run according to the same main editorial and business guidelines as at 
present. Editorial independence, credibility and quality are to govern all the 
media and publications that are owned by the Schibsted Group. The Trust 
must also work to ensure the long-term, healthy financial development of 
the Group. 

The Trust’s board currently consists of Tinius nagell-Erichsen, per Egil 
Hegge, John a. rein and ole Jacob Sunde. upon the death of nagell-
Erichsen, the board will consist of three members. Each member is to ap-
point his/her personal successor. 

ThE TINIUS TRUST

Twice as many Schibsted companies took part in this year’s competition and 
a wide range of progress was registered. FInn.no retained its position as one 
of norway’s best companies, and a total of three Schibsted companies were 
ranked among the 20 best in norway.

The Group’s overall sickness absence rate is around six per cent and has re-
mained stable over the past few years. Some companies, such as Schibsted 
Trykk, have had particularly high sickness absence rates. Measures that 
were implemented reduced the sickness absence rate to 12 per cent on 
yearly basis and 10 per cent in the fourth quarter 2006. Further measures are 
being implemented. The level of injury in the Group’s companies is low. The 
printing companies’ operations are particularly exposed to injury but active 
SHE work is being carried out. no accidents were reported in the printing 
works in 2006. In total, as in 2005, seven occupational injuries leading to 
absence were registered. Crushing injuries and cuts are the most frequent 
types of injury. 

exTeRNAL eNViRONMeNT 
Schibsted’s companies comply with prevailing environmental regulations. 
newspaper production is digital up to the printing work stage. Schibsted 
owns three printing plants: Schibsted Trykk and Harstad Tidende Trykk in 
norway and Kroonpress in Estonia. printing operations are basically a rela-
tively clean industry. Where pollutants are used, the processes take place 
in closed systems. Most of the waste produced is sorted. For example, 

Schibsted Trykk sorts 98 per cent of all its waste. Special waste is picked up 
by approved carriers. The printing works in nydalen in oslo is a member of 
Green point and pays an environmental fee which ensures that all packaging 
is handled properly and external suppliers are inspected. 

The printing works have carried out projects aimed at making environmental 
improvements:
•  In May 2000, Schibsted Trykk installed a treatment facility that reduced 

the volume of fountain solution waste from 172 tonnes in 2000 to 26 ton-
nes in 2004. In order to increase its capacity to cope with the increase in 
production, a new treatment plant was started up in 2006.

•  Kroonpress has obtained ISo environmental management certification 
(ISo 14001/1996). 

In 2006, the three printing works used a total of 89.6 thousand tonnes of 
paper, 1 935 tonnes of printer’s ink and colours and 26.2 GWh of electricity. 
This is an increase of 6-7 per cent, reflecting a corresponding increase in 
production volume. 

Schibsted Trykk describes its environmental factors in its own environmental 
report each year. 

The newspaper companies in norway and Sweden arrange for unsold news-
papers to be collected for recycling. 
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Schibsted consists of a large number of companies which are avail-
able to media users in several different channels. The Group compa-
nies have operations in the following channels: printed newspapers, 
online newspapers, classified ads – both printed and online, live pic-
tures, books, magazines and mobile contents. 

Compared with Scandinavia, continental Europe 
is lagging behind as regards online developments 
and its broadband penetration is lower than in 
Scandinavia. The timing of the investment was 
crucial when we took a major step into Europe 
in the spring of 2006 with the purchase of Trader 
Classified Media’s West European companies. 
With this acquisition, Schibsted gained a pre-
sence in seven new countries. 

Over the past few years, Schibsted has expanded 
not only its geographical spread but also its pre-
sence in media channels. Since 1995, Schibsted 
has continuously developed and invested in on-
line activities and now holds considerable online 
positions, especially in Norway and Sweden. In 
Norway, Schibsted has 30 per cent of the traffic 
to Norway’s 20 largest websites. The correspon-
ding figure in Sweden is 35 per cent.  If we look 
at revenues and operating profits, 14 per cent 
of the Group’s revenues and all of 28 per cent 
of the operating profit (EBITA) came from online 
activities in 2006. 

New iNvestmeNts
Over the past few years, Schibsted has focused 
strongly on expansion through organic growth. 
These projects involve investments in new acti-
vities and future growth. The new investments 
are intended to strengthen the Group’s position 
in a media world that is rapidly changing. New 
investments as we define them are primarily 
aimed at new geographical markets or the de-
velopment of products where the Group previ-
ously did not have a position. The projects are 
characterised by a short development phase, 
the improvement of existing solutions and, last 
but not least, marketing to build market posi-

Scandinavian rooTS 
and expanSion in 
europe

tions, including increasing the number of users 
and readers.

These projects debited Schibsted’s operating 
profit by NOK 384 million (NOK 165 million) in 
2006. They included:
-  Search and directory services in Norway and 

Sweden (Sesam, Internettkatalogen, Hitta) 
-  Free newspapers (Punkt SE, Moi Rayon)
-  TV (the digital TV channel TV7 and IPTV) 
-  The internationalisation of the classified ads 

operations (Compraventa.com, Leboncoin.fr, 
Willhaben.at). 

AdvertisiNg iN the priNted News-
pApers ANd oNliNe
The advertising market was strong in 2006 in 
both Norway and Sweden. Of Schibsted’s to-
tal revenues in 2006, 44 per cent came from 
advertising, compared to 38 per cent in 2005. 
Advertising revenues increased by 21 per cent 
from 2005 to 2006 (after adjusting for acquisi-
tions). Schibsted’s revenues are positively affec-
ted by the good outlook for advertising markets 
and continued strong online growth rates. 

Over the past 10 years, Schibsted has actively 
converted strong positions in the printed news-
paper sector into strong positions in the online 
sector, but the price level of online advertising 
is still considerably lower than that of printed 
newspaper advertisements. Online advertise-
ments are constantly increasing their share of 
the total advertising market. In 2006, online ad-
vertising accounted for 8.4 per cent of the total 
advertising market in Norway, a growth of 42 
per  cent compared to 2005 (INMA). In Sweden, 
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The individual companies are either part of a me-
dia house or separate companies that are also in 
some cases run in cooperation with other media 
companies in their local markets. 

In order to obtain an overview of Schibsted, one 
must know the individual media house that forms 
part of the Group, but in order to understand the 
company one must also look at the Group’s de-
velopments within the individual media channel. 

In 1992, 100 per cent of the Group’s operating 
revenues came from operations within Norway. 
This has gradually changed and, in 2006, 46 per 
cent of the Group’s operating revenues came 
from Norway, while 39 per cent came from 
Sweden and 15 per cent came from international 
operations. Over the past few years, Schibsted 
has gradually expanded in Europe through both 
acquisitions and organic growth. 
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online advertising comprised 8.9 per cent of the 
total advertising market in 2006, a growth of 50 
per cent compared to 2005 (IRM). 

Search word advertising in Norway only com-
prises eight per cent of the total online adver-
tising market. This is much lower than in other 
countries, such as the UK, where search word 
advertising makes up almost 50 per cent of the 
total online advertising, and the USA, where this 
figure is around 30 per cent (INMA). 

From 2003 to 2005, the time that Europeans 
spent on the Internet out of the total time they 
spent on media consumption increased from 
17 per cent to 29 per cent. Online advertising 
only increased from 3.3 per cent to 4.5 per cent 
during the same period (2006 JupiterResearch).
Internet advertising per inhabitant of France and 
Spain is currently less than 20 per cent of the 
level in Scandinavia (IRM), where the use of the 
Internet and online advertising has increased in 
line with the broadband penetration level. 

CirCUlAtioN
The numbers of those reading newspapers in 
Norway and Sweden is very high in an interna-
tional context. The Group’s Norwegian tabloid 
newspaper (VG) in particular has had very high 
readership coverage, but the circulation figures 
fell by quite a lot in 2006 (8%). At the start of 
2007, there are signs that the decline in circu-
lation is bottoming out, but circulation figure de-
velopments are important parameters for both 
VG and Aftonbladet. In VG and Aftonbladet, the 
circulation revenues account for 74 per cent and 
71 per cent respectively of their printed news-
papers’ total revenues.

BUsiNess AreAs
Changes were made to the Group management 
in 2005. The executive vice presidents’ areas of 
responsibility were changed from activity based 
to geography based. The main divisions are now 
Norway, Sweden and International. Several of 
the Group’s companies have operations in seve-
ral countries, but for follow-up purposes they are 
assigned to the geographical area where the pa-
rent company has its head office. 

NorwAY
Birger Magnus is the executive vice president 
responsible for operations in Norway. Within 
Norway we find the Aftenposten and VG media 
houses, Schibsted Forlagene (publishing houses), 
Sesam and Internettkatalogen search services 
and common functions. Magnus is CEO Kjell 
Aamot’s deputy manager.

Aftenposten produced sound results for 2006. 
The printed newspaper’s advertising revenues 

increased and the online activities produced re-
cord results. 

VG saw mixed developments in 2006. The decli-
ning circulation led to cost savings and downsi-
zing for the printed newspaper, while the online 
newspaper, vg.no, sharply increased its number 
of users, revenues and profits. 

Regarding the Group’s investment in online search 
services (Sesam), it has taken longer than antici-
pated to achieve a satisfactory volume of traffic 
and associated revenue. 

swedeN
Gunnar Strömblad is the executive vice pre-
sident responsible for operations in Sweden. 
Sweden includes the Aftonbladet and Svenska 
Dagbladet media houses, the Metronome Film & 
Television operations, Sandrew Metronome and 
the mobile contents supplier Aspiro. 
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OPERATING PROFIT NorwAY    

(Nok million) 2006 2005
Subscription revenues 674    658
Single copy sales revenues 1 337    1 348
Advertising revenues 2 488    2 195
Other revenues 852    740
operating revenues 5 351    4 941
Operating expenses (4 905)    (4 448)   
Income from associated companies 87    138
operating profit (eBitA) 533    631
Impairment loss goodwill 0    0
Other revenues and expenses 999    79
operating profit (eBitA) 1 532    710
  
Operating margin (EBITA)(%) 10,0 12,8
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2006 was a record year for the Aftonbladet me-
dia house, and its printed newspaper delivered 
strong results. The online activities set records 
with regard to traffic, revenue growth and pro-
fits. Aftonbladet launched several new products in 
2006, the largest of which were the free newspa-
per Punkt SE and TV7, a channel that broadcasts 
on Sweden’s digital terrestrial ground network. 

SvD produced its best results ever and was the 
only printed newspaper in the Schibsted Group 
to increase its circulation.  

iNterNAtioNAl
Sverre Munck is the executive vice president 
responsible for Schibsted’s international ope-
rations. International includes the operations in 
the Baltic region, the free newspaper 20 Minutes 
in Spain and France, the free newspaper Moi 
Rayon in Russia and the international invest-
ments in search and classified ads services. 

International has a focus on building media 
houses in Schibsted’s new domestic markets of 
Spain and France. In the spring of 2006, its ope-

rations increased significantly as a result of the 
acquisition of the West European parts of Trader 
Classified Media. This company has a unique po-
sition, especially in Spain, in the field of printed 
classified ads.  Its online position is strong in all 
the verticals: miscellaneous, car, real estate and 
recruitment adverts. The company’s recruitment 
portal is Schibsted’s most profitable company 
measured by operating margin. The Group’s 
online activities contributed 33 per cent of the 
revenues and 63 per cent of the operating profit 
(EBITDA).  

The free newspapers (20 Minutes) are the lar-
gest general newspapers (apart from the purely 
sports newspaper L’Equipe in France) measured 
in number of readers in both Spain and France. 
The printed newspaper in Spain produced strong 
results in 2006. In France, the newspaper made 
a profit towards the end of 2006. Considerable 
efforts will be made to establish new user ha-
bits that also include the online editions in both 
countries.

mediA NorwAY (mediA Norge)
During the autumn of 2006, negotiations took 
place regarding an ownership superstruc-
ture for the Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, 
Fædrelandsvennen and Stavanger Aftenblad 
media houses under the name of Media Norge 
(Media Norway). A possible future group will have 
as its aim to become a listed, leading media com-
pany in Norway. The general meetings of the indi-
vidual media houses have passed resolutions in 
2007 agreeing to the Media Norway integration.

The purpose of the merged company, in which 
Schibsted will own a 50.1 per cent stake, is to 
safeguard and strengthen regional journalism 
through a secure, strong publishing owner plat-
form. The media houses will further strengthen 
their expertise and resources and will be able 
to compete even better in the digital media 
sphere. 
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OPERATING PROFIT  swedeN    

(Nok million) 2006 2005
Subscription revenues 364 341
Single copy sales revenues 1 314 1 245
Advertising revenues 1 344 1 045
Other revenues 1 604 1 519
operating revenues 4 626 4 150
Operating expenses (4 287)    (3 839)   
Income from associated companies 91 59
operating profit (eBitA) 430 370
Impairment loss goodwill 0 0
Other revenues and expenses 541 (95)
operating profit (eBitA) 971 275

Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 9.3 8.9

OPERATING PROFIT iNterNAtioNAl    

(Nok million) 2006 2005
Subscription revenues 83 74
Single copy sales revenues 165 43
Advertising revenues 1 309 534
Other revenues 178 140
operating revenues 1 735 791
Operating expenses (1 686) (816)   
Income from associated companies 1 1
operating profit (eBitA) 50 (24)
Impairment loss goodwill (10) 0
Other revenues and expenses (48) 200
operating profit (eBitA) (8) 176

Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 2.9 (3.0)
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Aftenposten is one of Norway’s oldest and lar-
gest media houses, with strong positions in 
both the printed and online newspaper sectors. 
Aftenposten’s morning and evening editions are 
Norway’s second- and fourth-largest newspa-
pers respectively, with a total daily readership of 
more than 1 million. The online edition, aftenpos-
ten.no also attracts more than 1.1 million unique 
readers each week, and FINN.no, which has 1.2 
million unique users each week, is Norway’s lar-
gest classified ads website.

In addition, this group’s activities involve the 
sale of information from databases, the publi-
cation of magazines, the distribution of mainly 
newspapers and development of new distribu-
tion systems. The parent company, Aftenposten 
AS, provides financial and IT services both to 
companies within the Aftenposten group and to 
other Schibsted companies. This group’s total 
revenues in 2006 came to NOK 2.7 billion.

the ChANNels
Aftenposten is the largest newspaper in the 
Greater Oslo area and the second largest in 
Norway. It publishes two daily editions from 
Monday to Friday, and one daily edition on 
Saturdays and Sundays. 

Aftenposten Multimedia provides news and con-
sumer, finance and information/advice articles 
on the Internet. aftenposten.no is Norway’s 
fourth largest online newspaper and eighth lar-
gest website (TNS-Gallup). E24.no is Norway’s 
largest business website. 

FINN.no, in which Aftenposten has a 62 per cent 
stake, is the dominant classified ads website in 
Norway. In 2006, the FINN group further strengt-
hened its position in the online market as Norway’s 
largest marketplace for real-estate, recruitment 
and car advertising and other classified ads. 

Retriever is the Nordic region’s leading sup-
plier of media surveillance, media archive and 
media analysis services on a digital platform.
Aftenposten Distribusjon is one of Norway’s lar-

gest distribution companies. It distributes news-
papers, advertising inserts and other media pro-
ducts and provides distribution services in Oslo, 
Follo, Asker and Bærum.

Distribution Innovation develops logistics so-
lutions and provides consultancy services. It 
also runs an electronic messenger book for 110 
newspapers and magazines. 

Aftenposten Forlag (publishing) has a number of 
projects relating to magazine and book publica-
tions. This publishing house started up in 2006 
and publishes the Hyttemagasinet and Mamma 
magazines. 

A verY good YeAr
2006 was a very good year for the Aftenposten 
group, with positive developments in both the 
printed and online activities.

In a difficult newspaper market, Aftenposten 
has managed to increase its circulation reve-
nues despite a slight reduction in volume. The 
morning edition had a circulation of 248 503 at 
year-end. The subscription circulation figures 
fluctuated during the year but ended well, and 
the number of subscribers at the start of 2007 
is the same as at the start of 2006. The launch 
of the A-magasinet magazine had a positive ef-
fect on single-copy sales. Aftenposten’s positive 

developments are also reflected in the fact that 
the newspaper was chosen as “Newspaper of 
the Year” by the Norwegian Media Businesses’ 
Association. The reasons given for this were that 
Aftenposten is a “sound quality newspaper and a 
good example to others”. 

The conversion of the morning newspaper into a 
tabloid format and the launch of the A-magasi-
net magazine in 2005 produced positive effects 
in 2006 too. On the editorial side, the evening 
edition was launched in a new form in 2006. In 
addition, Aftenposten started to distribute the 
evening edition to all households permanently 
once a week, something that was very much 
in demand by advertisers. The introduction of 
zoned advertising pages meets the advertisers’ 
local needs.

From an advertising point of view, 2006 was a 
year when Aftenposten reinforced its strong po-
sition as an advertising channel through active 
product development. This was due to both the 
positive economic situation and the fact that 
necessary action was taken to face the com-
petition. Aftenposten’s advertising revenues in 
2006 came to NOK 1 294 million, an increase 
of NOK 73 million. The classified ads market 
grew by NOK 87 million compared to 2005. The 
recruitment advertising market made the grea-
test contribution to this, but most advertising 
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OPERATING PROFIT AFteNposteN groUp    

(Nok million) 2006 2005
Circulation revenues  1) 673    659
Advertising revenues 1 726    1 531
Other revenues 266    231
operating revenues 2 665    2 421
Operating expenses (2 367) (2 155) 
 
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 298    266

operating margin (eBitA)(%) 11.2 11.0 
 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenue.   
  
Number of employees 1 026 903



038

markets have experienced stable to positive 
developments. 

The brand advertising market developed more 
weakly than expected and its revenue was NOK 
24 million less than in 2005. One explanation for 
this is the transition to the Internet. Following 
negative developments in 2005, the retail mar-
ket was considerably strengthened in 2006 and 
increased its revenue by NOK 12 million.

The delivery quality of the printed newspaper im-
proved in 2006.

mUltimediA
Aftenposten Multimedia’s online editions (inclu-
ding the E.24.no business website) improved 
their positions and increased their number of uni-
que users per week by 63 per cent from 2005 to 
2006. For the first time, Aftenposten Multimedia 
had more than 1.1 million unique users per week, 
and it aims to become Norway’s best and most 
important current affairs website. As part of this 
strategy, there is a strong commitment to web-
TV and reader-generated contents. This commit-
ment started at the beginning of the year. 

Aftenposten Multimedia and VG established 
the E24.no business website and this became 
Norway’s largest website in this field within a 
short space of time. 

53 per CeNt iNCreAse For FiNN
In the FINN group, the three main markets – car, 
recruitment and real-estate advertising – had a 
good year in 2006. Its car advertisements achie-
ved a market share of 90 per cent, while its recru-
itment advertisements achieved a market share of 
70 per cent. In total, the number of new advertise-
ments ordered exceeded 1.6 million, an increase 
of 53 per cent compared to 2005. Torget (the mi-
scellaneous marketplace) is the major contributor 
to this, with 744 000 advertisements. Measured 
in number of page views, FINN was Norway’s 
largest website for much of 2006, with a total of 
more than five billion page views. 

In addition to a major focus on its existing 
markets, the FINN group established two new 

marketplaces in 2006. Travel was launched in 
February, with airline, overnight accommodation 
and rental car markets as well as a directory pro-
duct for tourism companies in Norway. Charter 
tours were added to this in December. A dating 
service, which is a FINN version of Møteplassen 
(the Meetingplace), was also established at 
the beginning of the year. Finn Eiendom (real 
estate) expanded its product range through 
acquisitions. 

CUstomer BeNeFits progrAmme
Aftenposten’s customer benefits card, which 
is issued to subscribers who have been custo-
mers for more than a year, was launched in 
the spring of 2006. Subscribers receive many 
favourable offers through this customer bene-
fits programme, and this is one of the elements 
which has helped to reduce the number of stop-
ped subscriptions during the summer. 

strAtegY work
Aftenposten has carried out a lot of strategy 
work during the year, linked to best practices 
in the fields of sales, innovation, organisational 
development and continuous improvements. 
During 2006, several measures were imple-
mented to reinforce and improve the evening 
edition’s position in the Oslo market. 

With regard to circulation, the work of develo-
ping new sales channels is continuing in order 
to weigh up for fewer sales due to people stating 
they do not wish to be contacted by telephone 
sales personnel. A new segmentation model is 
currently being tested out and is intended to 
ensure that Aftenposten is even better able to 
deal with its customers in a differentiated and 
correct manner. 

Online advertising revenues are expected to con-
tinue increasing, both for the classified ads and 
brand advertising markets. With a strong brand 
and a growth-focused organisation, the online ac-
tivities will be well equipped to continue increas-
ing their market shares and revenues in 2007. 

The main cornerstones of the Verdens Gang (VG) 
media house are the VG printed newspaper and 
the vg.no website. The VG printed newspaper is 
Norway’s largest newspaper. Vg.no is Norway’s 
largest website. In total, VG has more than 1.9 
million readers each day, which means it covers 
49.2 per cent of the population. Verdens Gang 
owns the business website E24.no (40 per cent) 
together with Aftenposten. As from January 
2007, Norway’s largest personal finance maga-
zine, Dine Penger, is also part of the VG media 
house. Verdens Gang was established in 1945. 

the vg mediA hoUse’s ChANNels
VG is Norway’s absolutely biggest newspaper, 
with a daily weekday circulation of 315 549 copies. 
VG has held the number one position for many 
years, and this was reinforced in 2006 when it 
achieved a higher share of the single-copy sales 
market than ever before. 

VG Nett is Norway’s largest website. In 2006, VG 
Nett – as Norway’s first and only website – had 
more than two million unique users per week. 
The number of readers each day in 2006 was 1 
115 000. 

VGTV, which forms part of vg.no, is now naturally 
integrated into VG Nett’s daily news coverage. 
During the second half-year, there were for se-
veral weeks more than half a million users who 
watched VGTV. 

VG Mobil is Norway’s largest news service among 
suppliers of mobile contents, and it had 39 000 
readers daily in the fourth quarter 2006. VG Mobil 
updates its readers in the same areas as VG Nett. 
Contents from VGTV can also be viewed on VG 
Mobil. 

VG Radio, which is part of vg.no, currently offers 
two different channels: VG Jukebox, which conti-
nuously plays music based on the VG hit list and 
where the readers themselves vote on the play 
sequence, and VG Radio, which has formatted 
music and some programmes linked to VG Nett’s 
other coverage. 
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mArket shAre oF 68.3 per CeNt
In 2006, 1 253 000 people read VG’s printed 
newspaper, while 1 115 000 read VG Nett each 
day. VG in total (printed and/or online) was read 
by 1 924 000 persons in the space of a day. This 
is more than ever before. Norwegian newspaper 
consumption is on of the highest in the world but 
is falling. VG has a strong position in this market, 
with a 68.3 per cent share of the single-copy 
sales market in 2006 compared to a 68.0 per 
cent share in 2005. The printed newspaper’s 
readership declined but this is more than com-
pensated for by the growth in VG Nett. 

VG’s Saturday insert, VG HELG, had 1 259 000 
readers in 2006 and strengthened its position in 
the readership market throughout the year. VG 
HELG also had a positive effect on the Saturday 
circulation figures. 

The VG media house sold advertisements for 
NOK 559 million in 2006, an increase of 9.7 per 
cent compared to the year before. VG Nett’s 
share of these revenues was 30 per cent in 
2006, compared to 21 per cent in 2005. 

New prodUCts
In February, VG launched a new personal finan-
ce service together with Dine Penger, called VG 
Dine Penger. This service has become establis-
hed high up on the official traffic lists and has 
been well received by the advertising market. VG 
AS bought the Dine Penger AS company with ef-
fect from 1 January 2007.

In April, VG and Aftenposten launched E24.no, 
now Norway’s most visited website for economic 
and financial news. VG Multimedia AS owns 40 
per cent of E24 AS, which owns and runs E24.no. 
During its start-up phase, this website has benefi-
ted greatly from traffic generated by VG Nett. 

VG Nett’s greatest innovation during the year 
was the launch of Nettby.no, an online commu-
nity. This is a service in which all the contents are 
provided by the users themselves. Through deba-
tes, articles, pictures, diaries, etc, the “citizens” 
themselves create this community. This service 
was launched in September and had 120 000 
members at year-end. 

The Sesam search service was further integrated 
into VG Nett in 2006, and has increased its traf-
fic volume through this collaboration. 

In 2006, VG Nett launched a membership pro-
gramme called VG Pass. This is a service accor-
ding to which the members receive free warning 
of news from VG Nett, they can send free sms 
text messages via the Internet and they are given 
discounts and benefits from more than 300 VG 
Pass partners. 

Otherwise, there has been continuous product 
development work relating to both vg.no and the 
printed newspaper. Sections have been moder-
nised and adapted and new concepts have been 
launched. 

dowNsiziNg 
2006 started off worse than expected for VG 
AS. The circulation figures declined more quickly 
than they had in 2005 and advertising revenues 
fell compared to 2005. Due to this, it was deci-
ded to implement a programme to cut costs by 
NOK 100 million, including a staff reduction of 
80-90 man-years – or 20 per cent. 

At the end of the year, the cost-cutting program-
me is on schedule and the downsizing has been 
carried out according to plan. As at 31 December 
2006, there were 57 fewer employees than at 31 
December 2005. Many of the employees who 

accepted the severance package had their last 
working day on 31 December 2006. In January 
2007, there are therefore 103 fewer employees 
than there were on 31 December 2005. 

high rAte oF prodUCt developmeNt 
In 2006, 83 per cent of the population over the 
age of 12 years read one or more newspapers on 
an average day. Ten years ago, the share was 91 
per cent. In 2006, 85 per cent of the population 
watched TV and 69 per cent listened to the ra-
dio. The growth in media usage is taking place on 
the Internet. The share of the population using 
the Internet daily has increased from less than 
two per cent in 1995 to 61 per cent in 2006.

VG is well positioned in a market that is rapidly 
changing. The continued expansion of the broad-
band network in Norway is expected to lead to 
even more use of the Internet. The time that peo-
ple spend on the media will move from the prin-
ted media and TV to the Internet. Parallel to this, 
new niche-based printed and online concepts 
are expected to be launched. 

The media houses will probably carry out their 
development work at a fast pace. In other words, 
the fight for people’s time is expected to beco-
me even harder in future. VG is one of Norway’s 
best known and well liked brands. It has solid 
platforms that in total reach almost 50 per cent 
of the Norwegian population each day. 

OPERATING PROFIT vg groUp    
(incl. VG AS, VG Multimedia AS, E24 AS (40 %), Nettby Community AS (60 %) and Avisretur AS (50 %)) 

(Nok million) 2006 2005
Circulation revenues  1) 1 185    1 208
Advertising revenues 559    510
Other revenues 62    45
operating revenues 1 806    1 763
Operating expenses (1 516)    (1 463)   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 290    300
   
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 16.1  17.0 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenue.   

Number of employees 496 532
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2006 was a very expansive year for the 
Aftonbladet media house, with the creation 
of two major new companies: the TV channel 
Aftonbladet TV7 and the free newspaper Punkt 
SE. The Aftonbladet group thus has activities in 
the fields of single-copy sales, free newspapers 
and online and TV operations.

Aftonbladet has become a media house, with the 
unique opportunities this entails for both jour-
nalistic development and new solutions for the 
advertising market in order to comply with the 
needs of its 2.9 million daily readers. 1.365 mil-
lion people read Aftonbladet’s printed version, 
1.734 million read aftonbladet.se on the Internet 
and 371 000 read the free newspaper Punkt SE. 
These almost 3.5 million readers become 2.9 
million if one takes account of those who read 
all three. (Orvesto 2006:3 – Orvesto investigates 
and describes the reader habits of Swedes rela-
ting to newspapers, among other things.)

As far as results go, 2006 was a very good year, 
despite investments of around SEK 100 million 
in TV7 and Punkt SE. The operating profit was 
the best in the company’s 177-year history: SEK 
316 million (314 million). Its revenue increased to 
SEK 2 689 million (2 377 million) and the num-
ber of employees rose from 699 to 828. 
 

siNgle-CopY sAles NewspAper 
Aftonbladet, a single-copy sales newspaper, is 
the group’s core activity and will continue to be 
so in the foreseeable future. This newspaper is 
extremely profitable. In 2006, advertisements 
worth more than NOK 0.5 billion were sold. 
Despite the slight drop in circulation to 426 000 
per publication date (439 000), the newspaper 
achieved its best profit ever. The improvement in 
results is related to the fact that the single-copy 
weekday sales price was increased to SEK 9 in 
June 2006.
 

Aftonbladet increased its market share during 
the year. The so-called gap to the rest of the 
single-copy sales market is now around 80 000 
copies. 

The newspaper’s inserts also experienced posi-
tive developments. New in 2006 were “Härligt 
Hemma!” (Wonderful Home!) and a number of 
one-shot inserts. Despite certain problems for 
the “TV magazine”, all the inserts made a posi-
tive contribution to the results. 

In 2006, Aftonbladet’s insert operations were 
chosen as ”Publishing House of the Year” by the 
trade newspaper Pressens Tidning.

AFtoNBlAdet NYA medier (New mediA)
Aftonbladet was the first Swedish daily newspa-

per to be published online. Ever since the start in 
1994, aftonbladet.se has played a leading role in 
the development of this medium, and great efforts 
have been put into finding new, smart solutions 
for advertisers. 

The journalistic product is being improved daily 
for the benefit of readers, and the user-friendly 
pay services such as “Plus” and “Viktklubb” 
(a slimming club) have also been given new 
contents. The online operations are continuing 
to grow at full speed. The number of users has 
increased by 21 per cent, and aftonbladet.se is 
visited by 3.5 million unique browsers during any 
normal week. 

The work of developing the use of live pictu-
res on the Internet is continuing, although in 
a slightly different form since the autumn of 
2006. The own-production of live pictures for 
which Aftonbladet Nya Medier (New Media) was 
previously responsible is now done by the newly 
started subsidiary Aftonbladet Produktion AB. 
This company produces live pictures for both the 
Internet and TV7. 

Advertising sales set new records in 2006, and 
extensive work to make online advertisments 
even more effective was carried out. Among other 
things, advertisers can now buy parts of a special 
advertising position for one or more days. 

Anna Vegerfors was appointed the new managing 
director of Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB in 2006.

AFtoNBlAdet tv7 
Following a period of trial transmissions, 
Aftonbladet’s new digital TV channel went on the 
air on 9 October. This channel transmits using the 
Swedish terrestrial network. This network had 
1.3 million possible viewers right from the start 
according to a penetration survey conducted by 
MMS (Media Measurement in Scandinavia).

TV7 has hired a number of people with a lot of 
expertise in the TV medium. With the help of 
these, Aftonbladet’s wide journalistic foundation 
and the advertising organisation’s experience 
will make Aftonbladet TV7 a success. 
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OPERATING PROFIT AFtoNBlAdet    

(sek million) 2006 2005
Circulation revenues  1) 1 486    1 420   
Advertising revenues 1 036    766   
Other revenues 167    191   
operating revenues 2 689    2 377   
Operating expenses (2 375)    (2 065)   
Inntekt fra tilknyttede selskaper 2    2   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 316    314   
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%)  11.8   13.2 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenue.  

Number of employees 828 699
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Market analysts claim that the greatest growth 
potential in media lies with the Internet - and 
with free newspapers. Following painstaking sur-
veys, Aftonbladet decided to join in the fight for 
the advertisers that advertise in the free news-
paper sector. 

On 2 October 2006, the very first edition of punkt 
se was published in Stockholm, Gothenburg and 
Malmö. The handy format – slightly larger than an 
A4 page – appealed to those travelling on public 
transport and the first surveys were positive after 
only a few weeks of publication. According to 
Orvesto’s last survey in 2006, this free newspa-
per is read by 371 000 people every morning. 

AFtoNBlAdet tillväxtmedier 
Aftonbladet Tillväxtmedier, (Growth Media) in 
which Blocket is the largest company, did very 
well in 2006.

During the year, Blocket carried out the ten 
millionth transaction in the company’s history. 
Martin Frey was hired as Blocket’s new mana-
ging director. He succeeded Pierre Siri, who con-
tinues to work for Schibsted but now in interna-
tional operations based in Spain. 

hitta.se also had a successful year, with a very 
strong growth in its traffic volume. This company 
is characterised by a strong spirit of entrepre-
neurship and, even if only the results are looked 
at, Hitta has fully lived up to expectation. Hitta 
also appointed a new managing director in 2006 
– Rui Brites de Sousa. 

Byt Bil produced a good result and improved a 
lot of its services during the year. 

teleadress holding AB has a strong position 
in the fields of direct marketing and computer 
and information services. This company, which 
is run from Kalmar under the leadership of Kent 
Eklund, successfully further developed its servi-
ces during the year. 

The website prisjakt (Price Hunt) was bought 
in 2006. This website carries out online price 

comparisons, and the company developed very 
positively during the year.

orgANisAtioN
In order to make the media house’s editorial and 
commercial strengths clear, the Aftonbladet group 
has partly altered its corporate structure. One part 
now focuses solely on the editorial operations. 
This part consists of Aftonbladet Kvällstidningen 
(evening newspaper), Aftonbladet Nya Medier 
(New Media), Aftonbladet Gratistidningen (free 
newspaper), Aftonbladet TV7 and Aftonbladet 
Produktion (production).

The other part, which contains Aftonbladet’s 
purely commercial online activities, is coordi-
nated as from the year-end under the name 
Aftonbladet Tillväxtmedier (Growth Media). Mats 
Eriksson is this company’s managing director.

Aftonbladet’s greatest resource is its personnel. 
During the year, extensive work was carried out 
under the slogan “A Great Place to Work”. The 
“Aftonbladet media house as a workplace” sur-
vey was conducted at year-end 2005. Following 
this, a lot of the employees spent 2006 preparing 
an impact analysis and proposals regarding vari-
ous measures. The goal is for Aftonbladet to be 
Sweden’s most attractive media workplace and 
to have the very best employees in all areas of 
expertise. 

The SvD media house achieved its best results 
ever in 2006. The group’s operating profit, which 
was almost three times higher than the 2005 
profit, is mainly due to the revenues rising by 13 
per cent. Nya Medier (New Media) accounted for 
most of this increase. 

The circulation revenues increased by 7.7 per 
cent to SEK 442 million. Svenska Dagbladet had 
a considerable increase in circulation during the 
year, a result of continuous product development 
and more marketing work. The total average dai-
ly circulation was 194 900, compared to 187 200 
in 2005. The Stockholm circulation increased 
to 127 300 (124 500). Svenska Dagbladet con-
tinues to be the Swedish daily newspaper whose 
circulation is increasing the most. 

The newspaper’s advertising revenues rose by 
10.8 per cent to SEK 448 million. The adverti-
sing market continued to expand in 2006 and 
Svenska Dagbladet’s market shares increased 
in almost all sectors. The competition between 
the newspapers in Stockholm has intensified even 
further and there is a strong pressure on prices. The 
launch of the free newspaper Punkt SE increased 
the pressure on prices from the free newspapers, 
but was also favourable to SvD due to the Triaden 
sales package. 

OPERATING PROFIT svd    

(sek million) 2006 2005
Circulation revenues  1) 442    411   
Advertising revenues 521    436   
Other revenues 73    72   
operating revenues 1 036    919   
Operating expenses (1 002) (906)  
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 34    13   
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 3.3  1.4 

1) Circulation revenues consist of subscription and single copy sales revenue.  

  
Number of employees 422 388
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CUrreNt AFFAirs work
The volume of traffic visiting SvD Nya Medier’s 
websites increased sharply and was at more 
than one million unique visitors per week at year-
end. E24.se surpassed Dagens Industri’s online 
newspaper, di.se, and in total SvD’s websites 
had more visitors than Dagens Nyheter’s web-
site, dn.se.

The revenues increased to SEK 74 million, an 
increase of SEK 43 million or 134 per cent. 
The collaboration between the media house’s 
sales departments in Nya Medier and the prin-
ted newspaper Svenska Dagbladet was further 
developed. 

SvD.se focused strongly on current affairs work, 
Tasteline modified one of its websites in order 
to improve its reader participation and E24 very 
successfully launched Pengar 24, a personal fi-
nance website. 

A new business package was launched in 
February. This consists of E24, an improved SvD 
Näringsliv (business) and a Sunday magazine, 
N. This also forms part of the new, successful 
Sunday product, in which the current affairs 
newspaper has been given a partially new form, 
with more in-depth reports. Apart from N, the 
new SvD Söndag (SvD Sunday) also consists of 
K, a culture magazine. In 2006, the news desks of 
the printed newspaper and SvD.se were integra-
ted to form a so-called superdesk. In this way, the 
current affairs work has been further intensified 
and made more efficient. The superdesk is the 
first step in further synchronising the SvD media 
house’s various editorial staffs and websites. 

prizes
In the autumn of 2006, SvD Söndag (Sunday) 
was awarded the Swedish Design Prize. SvD’s 
food website, Tasteline, was chosen as the 
Website of the Year by InternetWorld in May, and 
in September E24 was awarded the New Media 
Daily Newspaper of the Year prize in a reputa-
ble competition that is arranged by Pressens 
Tidning. In addition, two of SvD’s sales personnel 
were chosen as Sales Personnel of the Year. 
The interior design magazine Magasinet has 
reinforced its position in the exclusive segment. 
Working in an integrated fashion with the SvD 
media house’s websites increased its opportuni-
ties to create new advertising solutions. 
At the beginning of the year, SvD Nya Medier 
(New Media) was established as a separate 
company and a separate group was formed, 
with the subsidiaries Tasteline Sweden AB and 
E24 Näringsliv 24 AB. The recruitment website 
Jobb24 was launched in the spring, in collabora-
tion with Aftonbladet Nya Medier (New Media). 
Jobb24 is not consolidated in the SvD Group’s 
results. 

In the autumn, Näringsliv 24 AB was renamed 
E24 Näringsliv HB. Due to a trademark dispute 
with ProSiben, a German media company, the 
name was changed from N24 to E24. 
 
settiNg the politiCAl AgeNdA
The dominant news events in 2006 were the 
World Football Championships in Germany and 
the Swedish change of government. Svenska 
Dagbladet’s political coverage of the election 
was regarded as being perfectly neutral. During 
the stormy period just after the election, the 
newspaper set the political agenda by revealing 

that some ministers had failed to pay tax. SvD 
was also a news leader in its reports on the po-
litical handling of the tsunami disaster in 2004 
and on the climate threat. Its climate report was 
so popular that it was published separately and 
quickly sold out.

At the beginning of 2007, the company bought 
91 per cent of Min Tur, a travel website that 
is one of Sweden’s most popular online travel 
communities and has 4 700 members. It con-
tains 27 000 reader’s letters and 165 000 rea-
ders’ pictures. Min Tur will continue to be run as 
a separate trademark but will also be integrated 
with Svd.se/resor, which is a popular travel 
website. 

In order to further strengthen its position in the 
real-estate advertisement market, the distri-
bution of the Magasinet magazine was increa-
sed to 300 000 copies in January. Distribution 
via Posten (The Swedish Post) means that 
Magasinet is delivered to 145 000 selected hou-
seholds which do not already get this magazine 
with their newspaper. 

20 minutter
20 Minutes is Schibsted’s free newspaper con-
cept. These newspapers are published in 22 
towns in Spain and France. Rapid updates and 
service for people in a hurry are the key words 
here. The newspapers focus on the following is-
sues: news, entertainment, consumer articles/
guides and interactive services. The concept was 
launched in December 1999 and these newspa-
pers have since experienced enormous growth. 
20 Minutes in Switzerland was sold in 2005, but 
is still the largest newspaper in that country. The 
newspapers in Spain and France are also the lar-
gest general newspapers in their markets. 

20 miNUtos, spAiN
20 Minutos was launched in Madrid and 
Barcelona in 2000 and is now published with a 
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OPERATING PROFIT 20 miNUtter, PRO FORMA

(eUr million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 62 47   
Operating expenses (65)   (54)   
operating profit (eBitA) (3) (7)   
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) (4.2) (14.3)
  
Number of employees 347 260



BUsiNess AreA ANAlYses 
SCHIBSTED ANNUAL REPORT 2006 043

0 500 1000 1500 2000 0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000

n Spain   n France   n Total

CirCUlAtioN 20 miNUtes
FigureS iN 1000

dAilY reAdership 20 miNUtes
FigureS iN 1000

n Spain   n France   n Total

circulation of 1 000 000 in 14 Spanish towns: 
Madrid, Barcelona, Alicante, Coruña, Bilbao, 
Córdoba, Granada, Malaga, Murcia, Seville, 
Valencia, Valladolid, Vigo and Zaragoza. 20 
Minutos is Spain’s most read current affairs 
newspaper, with 2 448 000 readers each day. 
Most of the newspaper’s readers are young, ur-
ban people with an active lifestyle. 

20 Minutos’ high readership level in its main 
target group makes this newspaper a preferred 
advertising medium for large brand advertisers. 
Despite the steadily increasing competition, 20 
Minutos’ revenues grew by 30 per cent in 2006. 
This increase is expected to continue in 2007, 
helped by 20 Minutos’ established position as 
the no. 1 newspaper in Spain. 

Spain’s fourth national free newspaper, ADN, 
was launched in March 2006, and competition 
for readers during the morning hours has inten-
sified. Still, 20 Minutos is maintaining its clear 
leadership. Compared to its competitors Qué!, 
Metro and ADN, 20 Minutos has 500 000, 
700 000 and 1 260 000 more daily readers 
respectively.

20.miNUtos.es
Now that the printed newspaper has become 
profitable, investments are being made in a me-
dia house position for 20 Minutos, with invest-
ment in the online edition 20minutos.es and the 
monthly magazine Calle20. 

The news website www.20minutos.es was in-
cluded in the official Spanish traffic volume sur-
veys (OJD) in March 2006 and has up to January 
2007 achieved the strongest growth in traffic of 
any Spanish news website. The growth between 
March 2006 and January 2007 was all of 140 per 
cent, from 1.4 million to more than 3.3 million 
unique users per month. There are only two other 
websites in the entire OJD survey, irrespective 
of category, that are growing more rapidly than 
20minutos.es. 

The number of daily hits has grown from 92 
000 in March 2006 to 255 000 in January 2007 
(+183%) and the number of page views per month 

has grown from 26 million to 76 million (+170%). 
There is still a long way to go to equal its main 
competitor, Elmundo.es, which had 9.7 million 
unique users in January 2007, but the focus on 
20minutos.es is continuing at full strength in 
2007. 

The website is being developed by the local 
organisation in Madrid, but 20 Minutos makes 
also use of the expertise and experience of 
Schibsted’s online activities in Scandinavia. 

CAlle 20
Calle 20, a monthly magazine, was launched in 
December 2005 and is distributed in Madrid, 
Barcelona and Valencia. This magazine has a 
circulation of just over 100 000 and is aimed at 
urban young people who are interested in cul-
ture, fashion and trends. It is distributed in cafes, 
bars, shops, etc. The magazine has been well re-
ceived by both readers and advertisers. Calle 20 
is not included in the national readership surveys 
but is estimated to have around 10 readers per 
copy. 

20 miNUtes, FrANCe
20 Minutes was launched in France in the spring 
of 2002 and is published in eight towns. The 
editions published in Paris, Marseille, Lyon, Lille, 
Toulouse, Bordeaux, Nantes and Strasbourg have 
a total circulation of 870 000 copies. With its 
1 998 000 readers, this is the most read current 
affairs newspaper in the country and the second 
most read newspaper in total, only beaten by the 
sports newspaper L’Equipe.

This newspaper targets young, active, urban peo-
ple, and 20 Minutes is a clear leader in this group. 
In the 15-34-year-old age group, 20 Minutes has 
more than one million readers, 300 000 more 
than the second most read newspaper, Metro. 20 
Minutes has created a new generation of news-
paper readers in France – where 77 per cent of 
readers do not read any paid newspapers. 
In the spring of 2006, 20 Minutes was for the 

first time included in the official French reader 
surveys, EuroPQN, after being excluded for four 
years. Participation in this survey is important 
because media buyers then have an opportunity 
to directly compare 20 Minutes’ readership figu-
res with those of other newspapers. 20 Minutes’ 
advertising revenues increased by 21 per cent in 
2006, and this trend is expected to continue in 
2007. 
 
the preFerred prodUCt
The competition in the French free newspaper 
market grew tougher during the past year. In June 
2006, the afternoon newspaper Direct Soir was 
launched. Yet another morning newspaper, Le 
Matin Plus, was launched in February 2007. Like 
in Spain, 20 Minutes aims to be the preferred 
product for its target group and thus maintain its 
valuable leading position in the reader market. 
In 2006, 20 Minutes also focused systematically 
on theme inserts, which are distributed along 
with the newspaper once or twice a month. With 
inserts on high-tech products, the housing mar-
ket, recruitment, cultural events etc, the news-
paper wants to attract advertising segments that 
would otherwise not use the main newspaper. 

20miNUtes.Fr
20 Minutes has throughout 2006 intensi-
fied its focus on the current affairs website 
www.20minutes.fr by providing more resources 
and developing a separate web editorial staff. 20 
Minutes’ volume of traffic increased sharply in 
the second half of 2006 and this growth is ex-
pected to continue once the website is relaun-
ched in March 2007. 

The www.20minutes.fr website is being develo-
ped by the local organisation in Paris, but 20 
Minutes also makes use of the expertise and 
experience of Schibsted’s online activities in 
Scandinavia.
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schibsted Baltics
Schibsted Baltics AS is the parent company 
for the activities in the Baltic countries. In 
Estonia, most of the activities are organised in 
Eesti Meedia, in which Schibsted owns a 92.5 
per cent stake. The original owner, the Tulevik 
Foundation, owns the remaining 7.5 per cent. In 
Lithuania, Schibsted is involved in three compa-
nies, Magasinforlaget ZLG (Schibsted 67%), the 
tabloid newspaper LT (67%) and the free newspa-
per 15 Min (67%).

estoNiA
Eesti Meedia is Estonia’s largest media house 
and has newspaper, magazine, printing, online 
and radio operations. 

postimees, Estonia’s ”Aftenposten”, which has 
a circulation of 68 000, is the largest newspaper 
in Estonia. This newspaper started publishing a 
separate Russian edition in the late autumn of 
2005 and this is now the most-read Russian-lan-
guage daily newspaper in Estonia. 

slÕhtuleht is a tabloid newspaper that is pub-
lished under a 50/50 joint venture between 
Eesti Meedia and the Express Group. SLÕhtuleht 
has a circulation of 65 000 and has around the 
same number of readers as Postimees.

Under a 50/50 joint venture with the Express 
Group, the company also runs Ajakirjade 
kirjastus, a magazine publishing house which 
accounts for around 75 per cent of the maga-

zine circulation figures in Estonia, and the free 
newspaper Linnaleht, which is published in two 
editions (Estonian and Russian) four days a week 
in Tallinn. 

These two companies also jointly run a distribu-
tion company, ekspress post, which handles 
the subscription and single-copy distribution of 
all the companies’ products. 

kroonpress in Tartu is a wholly-owned printing 
company that prints newspapers and magazines 
for both Estonian and international customers, 
and which is the largest contributor to Eesti 
Meedia’s operating profit. 

Eesti Meedia also has five local newspapers in 
Estonia, whose circulations range from approxi-
mately 4 000 to 25 000. All these newspapers 
have achieved good margins. 

soov (100%) is a classified ads company that 
publishes a weekly newspaper and runs a clas-
sified ads portal. 

The TV channel Kanal 2, which is wholly owned 
by Schibsted Baltics, was the major winner in the 
autumn of 2006 when it for the first time had the 
highest viewer ratings of the three national chan-
nels. This led to it attracting a considerable share 
of the advertising revenues. 

eCoNomiC UpswiNg
The economic upswing in Estonia continued in 
2006, a fact which is reflected in the, in part, 

considerable increases in advertising revenue as 
well as pressure on wages and increasing shor-
tage of labour. 

The introduction of the Russian edition of 
Postimees at the end of 2005 reinforced 
Postimees’ leading position as an advertising 
channel and led to Postimees increasing its sha-
re of the total advertising revenues and achieving 
stronger growth than any of the other media. 

In 2006, efforts were made to improve the online 
activities in most of the companies. These efforts 
will be further reinforced in 2007. Postimees.ee is 
now experiencing a sharp rise in its number of uni-
que users and will further strengthen its position 
when it introduces several well-tried Scandinavian 
concepts in 2007. The classified ads company 
SOOV’s developments were slightly poorer than 
expected. Since becoming a wholly-owned subsi-
diary of Eesti Meedia in the autumn of 2006, the 
company is now making great efforts to become 
the leader in the Estonian online market. 

Kroonpress continued to develop strongly in 
2006 and the company’s machine park is now 
often fully utilised. There is extremely strong pres-
sure on the printing capacity throughout the Baltic 
area, and Kroonpress is now going to invest in a 
new magazine stamping press. This will also be 
very useful for our magazine publishing house in 
Lithuania, which is experiencing capacity limita-
tion as regards both circulation volume and page 
numbers at its existing production site. 

lithuania
The magazine publishing house Zurnalu Leidybos 
Grupe (zlg) achieved record results in 2006, 
mainly due to zmones, the popular weekly ma-
gazine that is now the largest magazine in the 
Baltic countries. With a printed circulation of 
around 130 000 each week and a very low return 
rate (2-3%), this has proven to be an unqualified 
success from a circulation viewpoint in the Baltic 
region. Most of the other titles published have 
also been successful and the company is now 
planning to publish new titles.

OPERATING REVENUES eesti meediA groUp

(eek million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 707 579
Operating expenses (630)    (510)   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 77 69
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 10.9 11.9
  
Number of employees 902 790
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lt, the relaunched tabloid newspaper (in micro-
format) which is published in cooperation with 
Lietuvas Rytas, had a weak start in the spring 
of 2006 and was reorganised in the autumn of 
2006. The editorial profile was changed slightly 
and lightened-up, with more emphasis on youth-
ful articles. The single-copy sales have improved 
over the past few months, and there will be a 
strong focus on further improvements so that 
the newspaper can prove it can survive. 

The free newspaper 15 min which is now pub-
lished in three editions (in Vilnius, Kaunas and 
Klaipeda) is an unconditional success from a 
circulation point of view and has already reinfor-
ced its position as the most read newspaper in 
Vilnius, Kaunas, and Klaipeda. Following its launch 
in Klaipeda in the autumn of 2006, it has already 
become just as popular as the local newspaper. 
The newspaper is not quite expected to break 
even in 2007, but will according to plan make a 
profit in 2008. 

schibsted international 
Classified and search
Schibsted International Classified and Search 
(SICS) was established as a separate business area 
on 1 April 2006. This unit comprises Schibsted’s 
classified ads and search operations, both online 
and printed, outside Norway and Sweden. At the 
end of 2006, this unit mainly included classified 
ads services, with just over 150 printed titles and 
just under 50 different websites in 14 countries, 
primarily in Europe and Latin America. 

The websites managed by SICS contain adver-
tisements for around 600 000 properties, 300 
000 jobs vacant and 300 000 cars in which the 
approximately 17 million users who visit the ser-
vices each month can search. 

export oF sUCCess stories 
The core of Schibsted’s internationalisation stra-
tegy has been to export the success stories we 
have managed to develop in Scandinavia. Two 
of these success stories are FINN.no in Norway 
and Blocket.se in Sweden. Both companies are 
digital success stories in their respective mar-

kets, but FINN.no is also a success story in that it 
concerns the transformation of an industry from 
printed classified ads to online marketplaces. 

We want to repeat these success stories in 
markets where the digital industry is developing 
slightly later than in Scandinavia, so we have 
chosen to enter the following markets by estab-
lishing or acquiring new companies: France, 
Spain, Italy, Austria, Switzerland, Slovenia, 
Estonia, Lithuania, Argentina, Brazil, Venezuela, 
Colombia, Mexico and Singapore.

All these markets are regarded as lagging behind 
the digital developments we have experienced 
in Scandinavia, but we assume they will have 
many of the same experiences as we have had 
in Scandinavia. However, there will be time lags 
between the different countries and continents. 
There will also be differences in local conditions 
and competition scenarios that may also give us 
experiences we can utilise in Scandinavia. For 
example, the migration from paper to the Internet 
has come a long way in countries such as Spain, 
France and Austria, while Latin America is still 
strongly paper-based. 

ACqUisitioN oF trAder
The most important event in 2006 in the SICS 
business area was the acquisition of parts of 
Trader Classified Media’s activities in Spain, 
France, Italy and Latin America. This acquisition 
is the largest ever in Schibsted’s history and on 
the acquisition date it included leading classified 

ads publications, both printed and online, in nine 
different countries. The acquisition contract 
was entered into in June 2006 and the purchase 
price was EURO 553 million. 

The acquired companies are market leaders within 
their segments in their markets, and include 
brands such as InfoJobs.net, Europe’s largest on-
line recruitment portal whose headquarters are 
in Spain, Segundamano in Spain, La Centrale, 
the leading car classified ads service – both prin-
ted and online - in France, and Secondamano in 
Italy. On the acquisition date, these companies 
had approximately 2 200 employees. 

All of SICS’ companies have local organisations 
with strong positions in their respective markets. 
The main focus of the various companies is pri-
marily on transferring traditional, paper-based 
operations to a more digital-based company in a 
controlled fashion. In addition, a lot of the focus 
in the companies is related to further developing 
the digital operations that can be created around 
the traditional classified ads product. These are 
activities that are to a large extent carried out by 
the local entities. 

experieNCe trANsFer
In addition, SICS established an extensive Best 
Practice programme in 2006, aimed at all the 
companies in order to ensure the transfer of 
experience and dissemination and sharing of 
expertise across market boundaries. This pro-
gramme intends to further develop active ow-

OPERATING PROFIT sChiBsted iNterNAtioNAl ClAssiFied ANd seArCh

(eUr million) 2006 2005
Circulation  revenues 29 34   
Advertising revenues 158 144   
Other revenues 8 8   
operating revenues 195 186
Operating expenses (166) (155)   
Income from associated companies 0 0   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 29 31   
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%)  14.9   16.7 

Number of employees  2 304   2 126 
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nership, facilitate synergies across company 
and market boundaries, and help to increase the 
value of all the entities within the business area. 
Schibsted’s companies in Norway and Sweden 
are also active participants in this programme. 

SICS’s main focus for 2007 will be to continue the 
work of integrating the acquired companies, faci-
litate a controlled transition from printed to online 
versions and further strengthen the companies’ 
online positions in their existing markets. 

When the Schibsted Group’s founder, Chr. 
Schibsted, began his media company in Norway 
in 1839, he started off with book publications. 
Schibsted Forlagene AS is thus the original part 
of the Group.
Today, the publishing operations include fiction, 
fact books, yearbooks, children’s literature, tra-
vel guides, language courses and light reading 
series. Schibsted Forlagene is one of the largest 

book publishing houses in Norway and has also 
been one of the most profitable ones for many 
years. In addition to its book-related operations, 
Schibsted is a considerable comic series pub-
lisher in Norway, and publishes the Maison and 
Design:Interiør interior-design magazines, the 
Maison Mat & Vin food magazine and the Tique 
fashion magazine. 

Schibsted Forlagene is Norway’s leading im-
porter of foreign books for sale in Norwegian 
bookshops, and owns 50 per cent of Dagens 
Medisin, the leading newspaper for doctors and 
health personnel. In Sweden, it owns a sister 
publishing house, Schibsted Förlagen AB. The 
2006 results are to a certain extent affected by 
non-recurring costs linked to the restructuring of 
the Swedish publishing company. 

2006 was a record year for Schibsted Forlagene 
as a publisher of fiction in Norway. It has for 
many years been famous for bestsellers in the 
yearbook and fact book sector in Norway, such 
as ”Hvem Hva Hvor” and the Guinness World of 
Records. The internationally successful novel 
“Kite Runner”, Schibsted Forlagene’s first in this 

genre, was, however, extraordinarily successful 
in Norway. By the end of the year, this book had 
been at the top of the best-seller lists for around 
40 weeks and had sold almost 60 000 copies 
– a very high figure for a novel in Norway.

The sequel to this book has now been written and 
a Norwegian edition is expected to be published 
in the autumn of 2007. Schibsted Forlagene has 
also started off 2007 by launching several new 
light reading series which seem to be popular 
with readers. 

schibsted søk As
Schibsted Søk AS was established in Norway in 
2005 and launched the Sesam.no search service 
on 1 November of the same year. Schibsted Sök AB 
in Sweden launched the Sesam.se search service 
one year and six days later. Schibsted Søk owns 
Internettkatalogen NO AS (100%) and Schibsted 
Sök AB (100%). 

In Norway, the service has grown to 430 000 uni-
que users per week in its first year of operation 
and is ranked as one of the 15 largest websites 
in Norway (source: TNS Gallup). In Sweden, it is 
already one of the leading search services, with 
300 000 unique visitors already six weeks after 
launching. 

Through its well indexed contents and categorised 
results pages, Sesam helps you to find what you 
are looking for. Sesam’s contents are newer than 
those of other services in the market because the 
company is close to the Norwegian and Swedish 
sources and has a special relationship with news 
contents. Sesam is a search engine for all normal 
users of the Internet.

FUrther developmeNt oF sesAm
Sesam.no contains, among other things, an on-
line search system for Norway and the rest of the 
world, a news search system that contains news-
paper contents going all the way back to 1985, 
a company and person search system containing 
facts relating to accounting figures and managerial 
salaries and a (company) role register, Wikipedia 
encyclopaedia entries, a picture search system 

OPERATING PROFIT sChiBsted søk

(Nok million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 55    10
Operating expenses (181)    (61)   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) (126)    (51)   

operating margin (eBitA) (%) (228.4) (514.8)
  
Number of employees 113 67

OPERATING PROFIT sChiBsted ForlAgeNe

(Nok million)  2006 2005
operating revenues 377 356 
operating expenses 346  312
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 31 44
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 8.3  12.3 

Number of employees 137 143
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with pictures from Picsearch and Scanpix, a blog 
search, a weather forecast with more than 50 000 
Norwegian and 8 000 foreign sites, a TV search 
system with an overview of 75 channels, and web-
TV clips from a selection of suppliers. Sesam.no 
also enables mobile searches on wap.sesam.no.

Sesam.no’s contents have been chosen and put 
together on the basis of users’ wishes. Sesam is 
continuously being further developed according to 
ideas it receives for improvements and new func-
tionality and contents. 

Sesam.se in Sweden cooperates regarding con-
tents with, among others, Blocket.se, Hitta.se, 
Bytbil.com, Prisjakt.nu and Sweden’s Wikipedia.

high BrANd reCogNitioN 
At the end of 2006, Sesam had a brand recogni-
tion of 59 per cent (source: TNS Interbus). This 
recognition had increased by 15 per cent in 2006. 
Sesam made active efforts in the media in 2006 
and throughout the year had a larger percentage of 
press articles than its competitor Eniro/Kvasir and 
Gule Sider (Yellow Pages) (source: Inter Media). 

2006 was a year in which many products were 
launched and the search service increased in 
scope and content. When Google News was la-
unched in Norway to mixed reviews in November, 
Sesam started a project together with certain 
other Schibsted resources. This project focuses 
on giving users a better overview of and insight 
into the news so that they can easily and closely 
follow the issues and subjects in which they are 
particularly interested. The project is based on 
existing services in the field of news searches. 

According to Jupiter Research, a reputable analysis 
agency, forecasts show that around 50 per cent 
of all online revenues in Europe will come from 
search services in the future. This is very different 
to today, when around 15 per cent of the online 
revenues come from these services. The reason 
for the growth relating to searches is the search 
engines’ excellence in combining understanding of 
searches and contextual contents with relevant ad-
vertisements. With its in-house developed adverti-
sing platform, Sesam has started to build a large 

advertising database. Combined with the search 
engine’s contextual binding, these advertisements 
may be published on Sesam, on Schibsted’s other 
web services and on the partner programmes with 
all of Sesam’s partners. The advertising solutions 
can be linked to all sorts of services on our own 
and other websites. 

loNg-term iNvestmeNt
Sesam Media AS (formerly Internettkatalogen.no 
AS) was established in 2002 and is now one of 
Norway’s largest online company directories. This 
company’s product is an online search tool that 
concentrates on companies, which are divided into 
sectors. Sesam Media is an efficient marketing 
channel in which it is easy for private individuals 
and companies to find the products and services 
they are looking for. 

Sesam is a long-term investment project for 
Schibsted, since the American search engines 
(Google, Yahoo and msn) have a head start and 
a position that it will take time to break down. In 
this context, distribution and traffic building will be 
Sesam’s major challenges in order to ensure a suf-
ficient basis for future good earnings. With Sesam’s 
proximity to the market, our unique opportunity 
to link local content to us and our wide range of 
contacts in the local media market, Schibsted has 
good prerequisites for success. 

Scanpix was established in 1999 and is the lead-
ing picture agency in Scandinavia. Its operations 
comprise the production and sale of pictures. 
Its most important customer groups are news-
papers, online publications, the weekly press, 
publishing houses, the trade press, companies 
and advertising/PR agencies. 
 

The company sells pictures for editorial use, such 
as news pictures and historical pictures, as well 
as illustration pictures for advertising and other 
purposes. The distribution and sale of live pic-
tures are also a part of the operations on which 
increased emphasis will be placed in the future. 

the mArket sitUAtioN
The sale of pictures to printed newspapers still 
accounts for most of Scanpix’s revenues. The 
greatest growth has been achieved in sales to 
online publications and the advertising segment. 
Scanpix is well positioned for continued growth 
in these areas through its wide-ranging, strong 
product portfolio, which is securely anchored in 
national/local picture production. 

Scanpix is one of the leading players when it co-
mes to sales to the weekly press. This is an area 
where there is strong competition and a consi-
derable pressure on prices. Sales to the publish-
ing segment increased considerably in Norway 
in 2006. The company’s broad picture portfolio, 
which contains historical, current affairs and il-
lustration pictures, is an important reason for 
this growth. 

OPERATING PROFIT sCANpix

(sek million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 170 155
Operating expenses (147) (142)
Income from associated companies 0  3 
operating profit (eBitA) 23  16 
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 13.4  10.5 

Number of employees 89 128

OPERATING REVENUES sChiBsted’s oNliNe ACtivities

(Nok million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 1 654 857
Operating expenses 1) (1 301) (650)
Depreciation and amortisation (65) (13)
operationg profit (eBitA)  288  189 

Numbers includes results from each newspaper
1) includes all costs, editorial content exluded
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 17.4  22.1 

exchange rates  
SEK/NOK  87.02 86.30
EUR/NOK  8.05 8.01
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2006 was the first whole year of operation af-
ter the merger between Scanpix Sverige and 
Pressens Bild. This merger has been very 
successful and made a strong contribution to 
Scanpix achieving its best ever operating profit. 
Scanpix Baltics is expanding and has doubled its 
earnings over the past two years. 

tt tAkes over iN swedeN
The production and sale of live pictures was prio-
ritised in Norway in 2006. Both the pictures pro-
duced by the company itself and those bought 
from international business partners have hel-
ped to increase the revenues from online publi-
cations. The focus on live pictures will continue 
in 2007 in cooperation with NTB. 

Swedish news agency Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå 
(TT), in which Schibsted is a major owner, is to 
take over Scanpix Sverige (Sweden). The com-
pany will continue to collaborate closely with the 
other Scanpix companies but will also form part 
of TT’s new multimedia operations. 

The market for pictures will remain stable. Online 
publications make great use of pictures and this 

provides good opportunities for further develop-
ment. It will be natural for Scanpix to have an 
increased focus on the production and distribu-
tion of live pictures. It is important that this work 
takes place in cooperation with national news 
agencies such as TT and NTB in order to utilise 
complementary expertise and capacity.

Metronome Film & Television is the Nordic 
region’s largest producer of TV programmes, 
drama series, feature films and advertising films. 
This production work takes place through subsi-
diaries in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland 
and Estonia.

The market in which Metronome operates is gro-
wing. The volume of TV and online advertising is 
increasing, analogue TV networks are being closed 
down in favour of digital terrestrial television (DTT) 
networks and IPTV is growing rapidly and constant-
ly improving its broadcasting quality. The opportu-
nities for interactivity are greater with DTT but are 
unlimited with IPTV. New companies are entering 
the market and new business models are arising. 

Metronome has good prerequisites and experti-
se for utilising the opportunities created by these 
developments.

iNCreAsed demANd
The digitisation of the TV network in Sweden has 
led to more intense competition between the TV 
companies and to an increase in the number of 
TV channels, which again has led to greater de-
mand for TV programmes. 

The market has been characterised by a strong 
pressure on production prices, since the demand 
for programmes has risen more quickly than ad-
vertising revenues. This necessitates alternative 
ways of financing TV programmes and increases 
the need for new sources of income to produce 
films and programmes. 

This has led to harder competition for intellectual 
property rights since the importance of owning 
rights has increased in line with the opportunity 
to utilise these rights in more and more win-
dows. Metronome has increased its investments 
in developing its own programmes, formats and 
concepts. 

1 605 hotel CAesAr episodes
Revenues increased by 13.5 per cent in 2006 
compared to 2005 and ended up at SEK 1 074 
million. The increase in volume was primarily 
due to more TV production work in Norway and 
Sweden. The profits fell compared to those of the 
previous year, due in part to poor profitability on 
feature films and in part to reorganisation costs. 

The autumn of 2006 was a very good period for TV 
production work. In Sweden, the viewer succes-
ses “Idol” and “Bonde söker fru” were produced 
for TV4, while in Norway “Deal or No Deal” and 
“Rikets Røst” were produced for TV 2. The drama 
series “Hotell Caesar” had another good year in 
Norway. More than 1 605 episodes have now 
been produced since this series started in 2000. 
This year too, there was a Norwegian/Swedish 
“Big Brother” production that was broadcast in 
both countries. “Big Brother” was also produced 
in Finland and achieved great success. 

OPERATING PROFIT metroNome Film & televisioN
  
(sek million)  2006 2005 
operAtiNg proFit 1 074  946 
Operating expenses  (1 052) (921)
operating profit (loss) eBitA)  22  25
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%)  2.1 2.7
 
Number of employees  654 606

OPERATING PROFIT sANdrew metroNome     

(sek million) 2006 2005
operating revenues 476    808   
Operating expenses (466)    (825)   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 10    (17)  
  
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 2.2  (2.1)

Number of employees 156 223
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OPERATING PROFIT sChiBsted trYkk

(Nok million)  2006 2005
Operating revenues 774 722
Operating expenses (745) (716)   
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 29    6   

operating margin (eBitA) (%) 3.7 0.8 
   
Number of employees 275 282

During the year, a new film production of the 
“Kommissarie Beck” series was made. Kautokeino, 
a Norwegian-produced film, is expected to have 
its premiere in 2007. 

Sandrew Metronome is one of the Nordic 
region’s leading film companies. Its business 
concept is to create, buy and manage film rights 
for all current and future distribution forms in 
the Nordic market. The company has offices in 
Stockholm, Oslo, Copenhagen and Helsinki and 
is wholly owned by Schibsted.

Sandrew Metronome’s largest commercial 
successes in the Nordic region in 2006 were the 
feature films Superman Returns, The Departed, 
Brokeback Mountain, Volver, The Queen, V for 
Vendetta, and Happy Feet. 

2006 has been a year of transition, with major 
organisational changes due to the company’s 
adaptation to a new cooperation agreement 
with Warner Bros. In addition, the company’s 
cinema operations in Denmark and Finland 
were sold as part of the efforts to strengthen 
the company’s strategic focus on rights mana-
gement and contents. 
Sandrew Metronome operated in all the “win-
dows” of the film industry’s value chain in 2006: 
the distribution of films via cinemas, DVDs, vi-
deos on demand and TV, and participation in 
film productions and cinema operations. 

AttrACtive BUsiNess pArtNer
In 2006, the film industry made significant pro-
gress when it came to utilising the distribution 
opportunities available in web-based solutions. 
Leading rights holders now allow for the distribu-
tion of feature films and, later, TV series on the 
Internet. Schibsted’s position on the Internet 
and the expertise in rights management that 
Sandrew Metronome represents make us an 
attractive business partner for producers and 
those holding the rights to live pictures. 

Sandrew Metronome has a considerable focus 
on the development of, and adaptations to, new 
digital distribution formats. Several projects are 
being developed, some in close cooperation 
with other Schibsted companies. 

There seems to be a huge increase in demand 
for live pictures on the Internet. Sandrew 
Metronome is now – as a company in the 
Schibsted Group – in a good position to utilise 
future growth in this market.

The Nordic market for cinema film distribution 
grew by nine per cent in 2006. No significant 
changes are expected in this market in the near 
future. 

The video market increased by five per cent in 
2006 and is characterised by a growth in volu-
me and falling prices. The past few years’ strong 
growth in the market for DVD products is there-
fore expected to bottom out now. However, the 
introduction of new formats, such as HD DVDs 
and BlueRay, will have a positive effect on the 
market. 

Schibsted Trykk AS has a new, modern producti-
on facility in Nydalen in Oslo and is Norway’s lar-
gest newspaper printing company. The company 
produces Aftenposten’s morning and evening 
editions, VG and Dagsavisen – in total around 
230 million newspapers a year. The company 
also prints advertisement inserts and had con-
siderable revenues from this segment in 2006. 

A significant share of its operations is linked to 
inserts and enclosure packaging. 

The demand for its products increased in 2006, 
but there is generally stiff competition for prin-
ting assignments and Schibsted Trykk has to 
constantly improve its productivity in order to 
remain competitive. 

stABle ABilitY to deliver
Schibsted Trykk is continuing to make constant 
improvements and increased its profits by around 
NOK 20 million compared to 2005 if extraordi-
nary costs related to the introduction of IFRS in 
2005 are disregarded. Its ability to deliver was in 
2006 the best since it started up in Nydalen, and 
this is experienced by customers as being very 
good and stable. In general, Schibsted Trykk is 
well positioned for future challenges – related to 
both production and marketing. 

The VG magazine project, which was necessary 
in connection with the launch of the VG Helg 
weekend magazine, was completed in 2006. 
This project consisted of two sub-projects – the 
installation of machinery and a new annex to the 
packaging plant. The project had a total fram-
ework of NOK 123.4 million and was completed 
within this financial framework and the deadlines 
that had been set. Taking into account that the 
project was carried out parallel to full product-
ion, tight deadlines and a difficult market both as 
regards machine deliveries and contractors, this 
project has been exceptionally successful. 

meAsUres implemeNted
The sickness absence rate has been an area of fo-
cus for the past few years, and the first part-goal 
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was achieved in the 4th quarter 2006 when the 
sickness absence rate fell below 10 per cent, which 
is a considerable decline. The systematic work of 
reducing the sickness absence rate is continuing 
and the goal is to reduce this to a normal industrial 
level within a relatively short space of time. 

Commercial printing operations are expected to 
continue being sensible additional production 
work for Schibsted Trykk, since these have in-
creasing volumes and better profitability. A rise 
in the volume of inserts is expected. 

Schibsted Trykk must continue to make constant 
improvements so that it will at all times be the 
natural choice for its customers, owners and 
employees.

Moi Rayon is a free weekly newspaper that is 
distributed in St Petersburg and Moscow. In St 
Petersburg, the newspaper is printed in 14 edi-
tions and has a circulation of 450 000. With its 
769 000 readers, it is this city’s second-most-
read news publication (TNS Gallup). Moi Rayon 
Moscow was launched in September 2006 and 
will be increased to a total of 19 editions with a 
total circulation of half a million copies in 2007. 

This newspaper is positioning itself as a source for 
”local news” or ”everything that affects you perso-
nally”. Around a quarter of each edition consists 
of local district news, while around three quarters 
consist of news related to the entire city. National 
and international news is reported to the extent 
that this is of relevance to most of the readers. In 
addition to current affairs, the newspapers con-
tain useful information about the city and district. 

The newspaper targets weekend shoppers - fami-
lies with medium to high incomes in the 28-55-
year-old age group. These busy city people usually 
do most of their shopping from Friday to Sunday, 
when Moi Rayon is distributed from its own racks 
in shopping centres, supermarkets and entrances 
to blocks of flats. Moi Rayon is thus an effective 

advertising channel for the local retail trade. The 
many different editions also allow advertisers to 
have very flexible geographical zoning. 

The publishing company, Regional Independent 
Newspapers North-West (Regionalnyje neza-
visimyje gazety Severo-zapad) was established 
in 2002. This company is Schibsted’s first invest-
ment in Russia. Schibsted acquired 67 per cent of 
the company in April 2006. The minority sharehol-
ding is owned by the founders, among them is the 
newspaper’s publisher, Grigorij Kunis.

mArket sitUAtioN
Less than four years after launch, Moi Rayon is 
St Petersburg’s largest newspaper, with a total 
readership of 769 000 (TNS Gallup). Moi Rayon 
overtook its main competitor Argumenty i fakty 
(732 000 readers) in the first quarter of 2007, 
while the free daily newspaper Metro (611 000) is 
lagging well behind. 

In order to take over the leadership position, cir-
culation was increased from 360 000 to 450 000 
in 2006, and the number of editions rose from 11 
to 14. The Gallup readership survey quoted here is 
based on a lower circulation than at present, so 
we expect to see a rise in the number of readers 
in coming surveys.

The Russian advertising market has been one of 
the world’s fastest growing during the past five ye-
ars, but newspapers have a relatively small share 
of this market. Both in Moscow and St Petersburg, 
Moi Rayon is competing for advertising roubles 
with traditional newspapers and with purely ad-
vertising flyers that have higher advertising reve-
nues than traditional newspapers. 

Compared with 2005, the advertising revenues 
in St Petersburg rose by 58 per cent. A strong 
growth in revenue is also expected in 2007. 

the lAUNCh iN mosCow
The most important event in 2006 was the launch 
of Moi Rayon in Europe’s largest city, Moscow. 
This is a gradual process, in which new editions 
are launched at irregular intervals. At the end of 
the first quarter 2007, Moi Rayon will be pub-

lished in 12 editions and have a total circula-
tion of 330 000. Before the end of the summer 
2007, a total of 19 editions will be launched and 
have a circulation of 500 000. 

The Moscow newspaper is an independent or-
ganisation. At the end of 2007, the company 
expects to have 100 employees in Moscow 
and 80 in St Petersburg. As well as becoming 
the most read newspaper in St Petersburg, the 
main goal in 2007 is to become established as 
a leading current affairs newspaper in Moscow. 

Moi Rayon is also in the process of establishing 
online news websites, www.mr-spb.ru and www.
mr-msk.ru, which will be further developed. 

HTG consists of the local newspapers Harstad 
Tidende, Bladet Tromsø (95%), Troms Folkeblad, 
Framtid i Nord, Brønnøysunds Avis (64%) and 
Avisa Nordland (38%). All the newspaper com-
panies also have online editions. HTG owns 
TV Hålogaland and Radio 10 in Harstad. HTG’s 
largest company is HTG Trykk, which prints the 
Northern Norway editions of VG and Dagbladet 
and four local newspapers in the north of Norway. 
HTG also has its own distribution company. 

The Harstad Tidende Group (HTG) was estab-
lished in January 2000 and is a continuance of 
Harstad Tidende’s 120-year newspaper tradition. 
Schibsted had a 51.5 per cent stake in this com-
pany at year-end. This has since been conside-
rably increased. 

In 2006, the group achieved revenues of NOK 
272 million (251 million) and an operating profit 
(EBITA) of NOK 21 million (20 million).

the mArket sitUAtioN
The local newspapers’ printed editions are under 
pressure but the readership figures are increas-
ing slightly. Of HTG’s newspapers, only Framtid 
i Nord increased its circulation in 2006. The 
results have improved, especially those of Troms 
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Folkeblad and Brønnøysunds Avis. The Tromsø 
magazine produced weak results in 2006 but 
measures have been implemented to reverse this 
trend in 2007. 

HTG Trykk, which is the largest rotary printing 
works in the north of Norway, invested more 
than NOK 50 million in 2006. It has decided 
to invest in five new printing towers in 2007 so 
that the entire printing works will be completely 
modernised by the autumn of 2007. 

Due to the company’s long-term printing con-
tracts, HTG Trykk’s outlook is considered to be 
good. The challenge is to improve quality and 
regularity and retain and develop the company’s 
position in the market for printed advertising 
materials. 

There are two challenges facing the local newspa-
pers: to strengthen their positions in the reader 
and advertising markets and to develop competi-
tive online products. Work is continuously being 
carried out to improve the printed newspapers. 
At the same time as focus is increasingly being 
turned towards the online operations. 

Aspiro is the market leader in the Nordic and 
Baltic regions when it comes to the distribution of 
mobile contents services. Using the company’s 
services, users can watch TV, listen to music, take 
part in network communities, play games etc, on 
their mobile phones. Sales take place through 
partnerships with mobile phone operators and 
media companies as well as via the company’s 
own web and wap pages and advertisements in 
printed media. Inpoc, Cellus, Mobilehits and 
Boomi are the company’s brands in this context.

Aspiro was started in 1998 and is listed on the 
Nordic Stock Exchange in Stockholm. In 2006, 
the company achieved revenues of SEK 448 mil-
lion and an operating profit (EBITDA) of SEK 63.5 
million, an increase of 78 per cent compared to 
2005. Fifty-three per cent of the company’s reve-
nues come from Norway, while 19 per cent come 
from Sweden. The company has approximately 
130 employees. Its head office is in Stockholm 
and the company has offices in Norway, Sweden, 
Finland, Denmark, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. 
 
mArket sitUAtioN
Aspiro estimates that the overall market for mo-
bile contents services grew by around 15 per 
cent in 2006. The demand for traditional servi-
ces such as call signals, pictures and games did 
not increase by the same amount. 

Aspiro expects sound growth in 2007 too, in par-
ticular relating to the demand for music, videos 
and search services. The demand for call signals, 
pictures and games is expected to decline. The 

demand for new types of services is expected 
to increase significantly once the number of 3G 
subscribers and density of more advanced mo-
bile phones increases – probably at around the 
end of this year. 

During the second half of 2006, Aspiro started ac-
tivities related to mobile marketing, search servi-
ces, mobile TV, the downloading of music and on-
line communities. The links between the Internet 
and mobile telephony are becoming stronger and 
stronger. Many of Aspiro’s new investments will 
therefore be both web and mobile based. 

FoCUs oN proFitABilitY
Aspiro’s strategy for its existing operations is to 
focus on profitability. This means the company 
may also in the future choose to reduce its re-
venues from unprofitable advertising and media-
partner channels if these are not strategically 
important. Subscriber services, directory enqui-
ries via SMS, the large Nordic mobile phone 
operators and the company’s own channels will 
be given priority. The company’s board believes 
that Aspiro will maintain its strong market posi-
tions within its existing operations and continue 
to achieve good profitability. 

In order to enable strong growth in the future, 
the company has decided to make a special 
commitment to mobile TV operations, music, 
mobile marketing, search services and online 
communities. These are areas in which strong 
growth is expected during the next three years. 
This commitment is estimated to cost SEK 15-25 
million in 2007. 

schibsted Finans As
Schibsted Finans AS is responsible for the 
Group’s external borrowing, investments and fo-
reign-currency and interest-rate positions and is 
also the Group’s internal bank. 

loNg-term FiNANCiNg
Schibsted’s long-term financing, which today 
includes syndicated loans, bond loans and bank 
loans, is intended to ensure that the Group has 
sufficient financial flexibility. Schibsted’s goal is 
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DRIFTSRESULTAT hArstAd tideNde grUppeN

(Nok million)  2006 2005
operating revenues 272 251
Operating expenses (255)    (235)
Income from associated companies 4 4 
operating profit (loss) eBitA) 21  20 
   
operating margin (eBitA) (%) 7.7 8.0 
   
Number of employees 235 214
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sChiBsted eieNdom As as at 31 deCemBer 2006
Addresses, owned buildings total no. of m2  main tenants
Akersgaten 55, Oslo, a subsidiary of Verdens Gang (VG) 32 000  VG, Schibsted Eiendom, Entra Eiendom *), etc.
Apotekergaten 10, Oslo  6 400  Schibsted ASA, Dagens Medisin, Retriever
Gildi 1 Tartu  1 100  Eesti Meedia – office
Jenagade 22, København  9 600  Metronome Studios, Metronome Productions TV3 DK, et. al.
Sandakerveien 121, Oslo  45 000  Schibsted Trykk
Tähe 133 Tartu  7 800  Eesti Meedia office/printshop
Total 104 000

Addresses, leased buildings   total no. of m2   main tenants
Apotekergaten 12/Pilestredet 12, Oslo  4 550  Schibsted Forlagene
Arenavägen - Globen City, Stockholm  7 400  Aftonbladet
Biskop Gunnerusgaten 14, Oslo *)  16 174  Schibsted Eiendom/Aftenposten
Gullhaug Torv 3, Oslo *)  7 700  Nydalen Studios, Nordisk Film, FilmTekst Norge, Aftenposten
Mäster Samuelsgatan 56, Stockholm  5 200  Svenska Dagbladet
Maakri 23, Tallinn  3 800  Eesti Meedia

*) Schibsted Eiendom AS subleases the premises to the tenants.

for the Group’s total liquidity reserves to compri-
se at least 10 per cent of the Group’s estimated 
revenues for the next 12 months. 

Schibsted Finans AS has placed one NOK 600 
million bond loan in the Norwegian market (is-
sued in 2003). This bond loan, which is listed on 
the Oslo Stock Exchange with the ticker SCHF01, 
has a fixed interest rate (4.98 per cent) and falls 
due for repayment in the autumn of 2007. By issu-
ing bonds, Schibsted has opened up a financing 
source that can supplement the banks. The is-
suance of bonds has also created links with the 
certificate market. 

Schibsted Finans has three loans from the Nordic 
Investment Bank, of which two are in Euro and 
one is in US dollars. 

The acquisition of Trader Classified Media was 
financed by a bridging loan to Schibsted Finans 
from DnB NOR and Nordea in June 2006. The 
original loan limit was EUR 680 million and the 
loan originally fell due for repayment in June 2007. 
The loan limit was reduced to EUR 450 million in 
February 2007 as a result of a reduction in the 
loan requirements and the date for the loan’s 
repayment has been postponed until January 
2008. 

In the autumn of 2005, Schibsted set up a new, 
syndicated multi-currency loan facility with a total 
lending framework of EUR 250 million, syndicated 
to eight Norwegian and international banks. This is 
a five-year drawing facility with an option to extend 
it for another year. Schibsted Finans had not drawn 
on this syndicated loan at year-end but wants to 
have this financing source available in order to 
maintain the Group’s financial flexibility. Schibsted 
Finans is planning to refinance in 2007. The refi-
nancing risk is regarded as being low. 

Schibsted has a group account scheme with 
Danske Bank that covers all the Norwegian sub-
sidiaries and most of the Group’s subsidiaries 
in Sweden and Denmark. The group account 
system was established to contribute to optimal 
liquidity management for Schibsted.  Surplus li-
quidity is mainly deposited in the group account 
or in short-term interest-rate instruments and 
money-market funds. 

CUrreNCY
Schibsted Finans enters into forward contracts 
in various currencies or takes out currency loans 
in order to reduce the Group’s currency risk. The 
Schibsted Group has currency risks relating to 
balance-sheet monetary items and the transla-
tion of assets in foreign entities. 

iNterest
Schibsted Finans has both floating and fixed inte-
rest rates on its interest-bearing debt. It is mainly 
the NOK 600 million bond loan that has been 
entered into at a fixed rate of interest (4.98 per 
cent). At the year-end, this means that approxi-
mately 90 per cent of the Group’s debt will be in-
fluenced by changes in the interest rate market. 

schibsted eiendom As
Schibsted Eiendom manages all the Group’s 
properties. Most of the buildings in Norway are 
owned directly or via subsidiaries of Schibsted. 
Larger properties are leased via Schibsted 
Eiendom which sublets to sister companies. 

Entra Eiendom subleases three floors of 
Akersgaten 55 from Schibsted Eiendom. In 
addition, Schibsted Eiendom rents a total of 
eight floors in Biskop Gunnerusgate 14 from 
Entra Eiendom. These premises are used by 
Aftenposten. 

All the properties, owned or leased, were fully 
rented out at the year-end, mainly to companies 
within the Schibsted Group. 

The day-to-day management of the properties in 
Norway is outsourced. This includes reception 
services, security, operations and some regular 
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Shareholder 
informaTion

Schibsted’s board therefore aims to maximise the shareholders’ rate of 
return through long-term growth in the share price and dividend. The board 
will strive to ensure that the company’s shares achieve a price that in so far 
as possible reflects the company’s long-term earnings ability. 

Schibsted’s foundation is based on strong positions in the Scandinavian 
media market, especially in the newspaper sector. The earnings and cash 
flow from these operations are characterised by cyclical fluctuations but 
the strong brands involved indicate a long-term, stable position. In periods 
of recession, interesting opportunities may open up for a company that has 
maintained its capital strength. 

The company’s board has agreed on a new vision and strategy that takes 
into account the fact that the media sector is changing dramatically. This 
strategy involves a more rapid change and development of the Group’s 
operations. Schibsted’s capital structure must appear to be sufficiently ro-
bust in order for us to maintain the financial freedom of action required by 
the Group’s growth ambitions. 

Schibsted’s ownership structure, with Blommenholm Industrier as the 
main shareholder, gives the Group long-term stability. It also means that 
the number of outstanding shares will be stable for long periods of time. 
Earnings from operations combined with loans will therefore be the primary 
source for growth financing. Schibsted should thus have sufficient freedom 
of action in the form of increased equity and a lower debt-equity ratio to 
take part in future acquisitions and high-risk investments. 

Schibsted’s many companies play an important role in a democratic society. 
The trust and credibility on which these media depend also necessitate fi-
nancial independence. This is ensured through a strong financial position. 

The Group’s strategic direction and ownership structure place some re-
strictions on the Group’s capital structure. A stable increase in dividend, 
combined with an opportunity to repurchase shares, is regarded as a suita-
ble tool for adjusting the capital structure. 

In future, Schibsted will place greater emphasis on a fixed dividend payout 
ratio that, over time, is to be 25-40 per cent of the Group’s cash flow per 
share. In addition, the board wants the dividend to be stable over time. 
In years when economic conditions are weak, the dividend level will be 
maintained as long as the Group’s capital structure so permits. Such a 
dividend level will mean that Schibsted’s direct yield will be competitive in 
both the Norwegian market and among European media companies. 
 

According to an authorisation granted by the General Meeting, Schibsted 
can repurchase up to 10 per cent of its own shares. Repurchases must be 
viewed in relation to Schibsted’s dividend policy, investment opportunities 
and long-term perspective regarding the Group’s capital structure. Shares 
will be repurchased in the market over time in order to correct the capital 
structure in line with main financial target figures. 

Schibsted’s dedicated and active management and investor relations de-
partment deal with the investor market each day in order to ensure that 
relevant information becomes known to the market at the right time so 
that the Schibsted share is correctly priced. Contact with the Norwegian 
and international stock markets has high priority in Schibsted. The goal is 
to increase the market’s knowledge of the company, develop the investor 
market’s confidence in Schibsted and improve the share’s liquidity on the 
Oslo Stock Exchange. 

Schibsted’s web site, www.schibsted.no, plays an important role in the 
Group’s communication with the stock market. Schibsted publishes all its 
financial information, such as presentations, quarterly and annual reports, 
stock exchange notices, etc, on its web site. As a media company with 
considerable investments in online products, Schibsted’s aim is to have a 
high quality web site and it has on several occasions won awards for the 
way in which it has handled information to the market.

FiNANCiAl goAls
One of Schibsted’s main goals is to ensure a competitive rate of return for its 
shareholders through a combination of an increase in share prices over time 
and direct dividends. These are to be ensured through long-term growth and 
clear financial goals for operating margins, returns on capital and financial 
soundness. As a result of acquisitions and changes to the Group’s structure, 
the Group’s long-term financial target figures are being revised. 

divideNd
A dividend of NOK 5.00 per share will be paid on 23 May 2007 to those registe-
red as shareholders on the date of the Annual General Meeting, 10 May 2007. 

shAre priCe developmeNts
The Schibsted share is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. At the beginning 
of the year, the share was priced at NOK 201.00. At year-end, this price had 
risen to NOK 223.00, an increase of 11 per cent. During the same period, 
the Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark Index (OSEBx) had risen by 32 per 
cent.  The Oslo Stock Exchange was to a considerable extent driven by oil-
related industries, whose share prices rose in line with the high oil prices. 

The lowest price at which the Schibsted share was traded was NOK 153.50 
on 13 June, while the highest share price, NOK 231.00, was noted on 13 
December. The media sector experienced a further upswing in 2006, dri-
ven by the generally more optimistic economic outlook. 

On average, 242 587 shares were traded daily in 2006, an increase of 
32 per cent compared to 2005. The share of foreign-resident owners was 
55 per cent at year-end, compared to 47 per cent at the end of 2005. 
Schibsted had 3 688 shareholders at year-end, compared to 4 201 at the 
beginning of the year.

Schibsted is a listed company that aims to provide a competitive 
rate of return based on a healthy economy. The board of Schibsted 
considers it essential that shares in the company are perceived to 
be an interesting investment alternative. 

shAreholder iNFormAtioN 
SCHIBSTED ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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FiNANCiAl CAleNdAr 2007  

  date time   
1st quarter 2007 accounts  
Presentation 10 May 4.30 pm
Webcast – English presentation 10 May 4.30 pm
Annual General Meeting 10 May 5.30 pm
Conference call 10 May  6.00 pm

2nd quarter 2007 accounts  
Presentation  16 August  4.30 pm  
Webcast – English presentation 16 August 4.30 pm
Conference call  16 August  6.00 pm   

3rd quarter 2007 accounts 
Presentation 1 November 4.30 pm  
Webcast – English presentation 1 November 4.30 pm
Conference call 1 November 6.00 pm  

iNvestor CoNtACts:
Trond Berger, Executive Vice President & CFO  
– e-mail: trond.berger@schibsted.no

Astrid Thommesen Sæbø, Investor Relations Officer 
– e-mail: astrid.thommesen.sebo@schibsted.no

Tel: + 47 23 10 66 00   
Fax: + 47 23 10 66 01

Dividend per share (NOK)

Year 1996  1997  1998  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Dividend 1.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00  3.25 4.25 5.00

risk AmoUNt (estimAted AdjUstmeNt to the tAx BAsis) per shAre As At 1 jANUArY (Nok)

Year 1996  1997  1998  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Risk amount  4.25 4.96 6.23 1.98 1.68 4.79 1.19 3.27  1.21 -3.18 -4.11

10 lArgest shAreholders As At 31 deCemBer 2006
The figures show the largest shareholders as these are registered in the 
Norwegian Central Securities Depository.

   shareholding  (%) Nominee 
1  Blommenholm Industrier AS 18 083 520  26.11 
2  State Street Bank    6 973 762 10.07 x
3  JPMorgan Chase Bank   4 840 176   6.99 x
4  Folketrygdfondet    3 563 800   5.15
5 Mellon Bank   2 591 653   4.32 x
6 State Street Bank   2 381 042   3.74 x
7  Schibsted ASA   2 373 622   3.43
8 Skand. Enskilda Banken   2 130 217   3.08 x
9 Svenska Handelsbanken   2 018 701   2.92 x
10 Orkla ASA      1 946 250   2.81

Percentage of foreign-resident shareholders   54.59%
No. of shareholders  3 688
Total no. of outstanding shares  69 250 000
Of which own shares  2 373 622
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emploYee shAre sCheme
Schibsted believes that incentive schemes attract new skilled employees 
and keep existing ones. Various incentive programmes give employees an 
opportunity to take part in the value creation within the Group. 

In 2006, the employees of the Group companies were once more offered 
the chance to buy shares up to a value of NOK 7 500 at a 20 per cent 
discount in accordance with the Norwegian Tax Act’s provisions. Around 
25 per cent of those who were invited to buy shares did so, compared to 
24 per cent in 2005.
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SchibSTed’S 
Group council

The Group Council is led by a working committee consisting of four mem-
bers, of which Håkon Letvik of Aftenposten was the chair from 2004-2006. 
He was re-elected for another two-year term of office in October 2006. 
Marianne Falk of Svenska Dagbladet was elected as deputy chair.

Prior to the meetings, the Group management and Working Committee 
discuss the issues that are to be raised at the next meeting. The agenda 
and underlying materials are sent to the Group Council’s members in ad-
vance in so far as possible.

The Group Council had two meetings in 2006 – the first one in Stockholm 
in April and the second in Oslo in October.  The first meeting in 2007 was 
held in Tallinn in April. 

The Group Council’s objective is to promote dialogue, contact, cooperation 
and trust between the management and employees across company and 
national boundaries. At the same time, the Group Council is to be a forum 
for information and discussion within the Group. The employee representa-
tives meet for an internal meeting the day before the actual Group Council 
meeting. At this internal meeting, experiences in the various companies 
are discussed and exchanged. One fixed item on the agenda is for one of 
the employees to present “his/her” company. Schibstedforlagene (pub-
lishing houses), the Harstad Tidende Group, Kroonpress and Meterfilm are 
among the companies that have been presented so far. 

At the Group Council meeting the next day, the Group management meet 
the employee representatives. The Working Committee’s chair then pre-
sents a summary of the situation as seen by the employees, while the 
CEO provides a report on the Schibsted Group’s situation and the major 
events that are taking place. The agenda of the last meeting also included 
the reorganisation process in VG, Aftonbladet’s free newspaper project, 
Media Norway, the Group’s work experience scheme and the significance 
of Schibsted’s purchase of Trader. The working environment and strategy 
work are also issues that are discussed regularly. 

Everyone has stated they want plenty of time for questions, ideas and 
discussions. The feedback from the employee representatives has been 
positive: through the Group Council and the meeting with the Group mana-
gement a lot of good information is imparted and both sides can contribute 
constructive ideas.  However, bringing the discussion and information that 
is exchanged further out into the companies and to the employees is chal-
lenging. Further efforts are being made to ensure this. 

The morning after the Group Council meeting, the employee representati-
ves hold a new internal meeting, often combined with a visit to a company. 
At the last meeting, in Oslo, the representatives were given a guided tour 
of Schibsted Trykk (printing works). 

In addition to the Group Council helping to spread information and provi-
ding opportunities for the exchange of ideas and views, it is of great va-
lue that employees from several countries and companies can meet each 
other and the management in a more social, informal context.  The sense 
of working for the same Group is also strengthened in this way. 

The evaluation conducted after each meeting shows that the employee 
representatives very much appreciate the Group management’s open at-
titude and informal, friendly behaviour, which also contribute to a good 
dialogue between employees and management. 

The Group council consists of 25 representatives elected by and 
from among all the Group companies.  most of them come from 
norway and Sweden but denmark and estonia are also repre-
sented. efforts are being made to arrange representation for 20 
minutes in france and Spain and for new companies following the 
acquisition of Trader classified media. 
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nominaTion 
commiTTee’S 
STaTemenT

Nomination of shareholder-elected members of the board and 
alternate members 
The nomination scheme at Schibsted is such that the board’s shareholder-
elected members and alternate members are nominated each year. An im-
portant part of the nomination committee’s work is therefore to continually 
work on the recruitment of the board and evaluation of the board’s work. 

In its assessment the nomination committee has taken into consideration 
the evaluation report that was prepared by an external consultancy com-
pany on assignment from the Group’s board. Based on the findings discus-
sed in the report, the Nomination Committee will provide remuneration to 
the board, and particularly to the Chairman of the board, for the work that 
has been done during recent years to achieve an even better structure and 
improved efficiency in the work of the board. The Nomination Committee’s 
assessment is that there has been a positive development in the work of the 
board both in isolation and in relation to Management.

The Nomination Committee is of the opinion that the Group’s board is broad 
and well composed both with regard to expertise, experience, age, gender 
and education. Schibsted has large parts of its enterprise in Sweden. The 
Nomination Committee is therefore satisfied that the board now has two 
Swedish board members. This has been an important part of the recruitment 
work in recent years. Over the years recruitment has also been carried out 
to ensure that seats on the board are also occupied by independent board 
members. 

reduction in the board
The Nomination Committee’s work in 2006 and until this year’s General 
Meeting has been characterised by the planned reduction in the Group’s 
board. An account of the contents of the negotiated solution is found on 
page 26 under Owner control and company management. 

Based on the negotiated solution, the Nomination Committee has arranged 
that the shareholders representatives will be reduced by one member, so 
that the board will have a total of eight members, of which six are sharehol-
der-elected and two are employee-elected board members. 

The Nomination Committee believes that the negotiated solution safeguards 
the desire to implement a certain reduction of the board in a balanced man-
ner, whilst the new election scheme for the employees in Norway, together 
with the introduction of the Group representative scheme, ensure a broa-
der representation amongst the Group’s employees. Foreign representation 
amongst the employees is also better safeguarded through the planned 
Group representative scheme.  

Alternate members
In connection with the restructuring, the Nomination Committee proposes 
that the number of alternate members for the shareholder-elected board 
members be expanded from two to three. The Nomination Committee’s 
proposal for a new board, including alternate members, is presented in the 
summons to the Annual General Meeting.

On pages 27 and 28 of the annual report, information is given on the Group’s 
board members commercial relationships to shareholders and others con-
nected with these, or to Schibsted. In the case of the board member’s in-
dependence, the Nomination Committee wishes to state that the Group’s 
Chairman of the board, Ole Jacob Sunde, is a board member in Stiftelsen 
Tinius, that represents Schibsted’s majority shareholder, Blommenholm 
Industrier AS, through the ownership of the one voting share in that com-
pany. The Group’s Vice Chairman of the board, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, is the 
Chairman of the board in Stiftelsen Tinius. Furthermore, the Group’s board 
2nd alternate member John A. Rein is a board member in Stiftelsen Tinius. In 
addition, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen is a member of the Nomination Committee. 

Christian Ringnes owns a property company that rents out office premises 
to Schibsted’s Estonian head office Eesti Meedia. The commercial relations-
hip between Schibsted and the 1st alternate member Karl-Christian Agerup 
has ceased following the sale of the jointly-owned company Hugin in the 
autumn of 2006. Schibsted has an agreement with Tinius Nagell-Erichsen/ 
Blommenholm Industrier that the company performs services for these for 
a fixed annual payment at market rates. This includes for the rental of office 
and accounting services. 

The Nomination Committee deems the other members and alternate mem-
bers of the Group’s board to be independent in the sense that they do not 
have any particular connection to a certain shareholder group, or to the 
company. 

members of the group’s board’s seats on the boards of subsi-
diary companies 
The Nomination Committee does not deem that the members of the Group’s 
board’s seats on the boards of subsidiary companies weaken their indepen-
dence as members of the Group’s board. The Nomination Committee’s as-
sessment is that this represents access to resources when central topics 
are discussed. Ole Jacob Sunde (Aftonbladet), Cato Holmsen (Aftenposten), 
Monica Caneman (SvD), 1st alternate member Karl-Christian Agerup 
(Aftenposten) and John A. Rein (VG) have seats on the boards of the Group’s 
subsidiary companies (as stated). These seats are specifically remunera-
ted in accordance with the individual company’s Annual General meeting 
resolutions.
 
the establishment of committees in the group’s board 
The Group’s board established a Compensation Committee in 2004 to as-
sess the compensation schemes for senior executives in central companies 
in the Schibsted Group. The Nomination Committee has been informed that 
the Group’s board will establish an Audit Committee after this year’s Annual 
General Meeting. The Nomination Committee registers the general trend in 
the establishment of committees to ensure that cases are sufficiently pre-
pared before being presented for decisions before the Group’s board. The 
Nomination Committee also understands that during 2007/2008 it will pro-
bably be made compulsory for companies listed on the stock exchange to 
have an Audit Committee. 
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The Nomination Committee sees that it can be necessary for the Group’s 
board to prepare complicated cases in committees, but wishes to emphasise 
the board’s collective responsibility for the assessments and decisions that 
are made. The Nomination Committee wishes to draw attention to the pro-
blem as this places demands upon how the committees prepare and present 
cases to the Group’s board.

election of members to the Compensation Committee
The Group’s board compensation committee is currently made up of Ole 
Jacob Sunde (leader), Alexandra Bech Gjørv and Monica Caneman. The com-
mittee prepares cases for the Group’s board. The Group’s board has infor-
med the Nomination Committee that the composition of the committee will 
be decided in the Group’s board after this year’s Annual General Meeting. 

election of members to an Audit Committee
The Group’s board has stated that the Audit Committee’s ultimate mandate 
and composition will be decided after this year’s Annual General Meeting. 
The Group’s board notes that it is open to the possibility of the committee 
having an extra member. The Nomination Committee wishes to express the 
opinion that this can be a good solution if the person in question has special 
professional expertise that the committee requires in its work. 

remuneration for members and alternate members of the 
group’s board  
A thorough assessment of the remuneration of the board was carried out 
before the Annual General Meeting in 2005 and remuneration was then in-
creased to become more adapted to the market. This specifically applied to 
the Chairman of the board’s remuneration that was set at NOK 550,000. 
Remuneration to ordinary board members resident in Norway was set at 
NOK 150,000. Foreign residents received somewhat higher remuneration at 
NOK 225,000, to compensate for the time taken travelling to meetings. The 
alternate members’ remuneration has been composed of a basic remunera-
tion of NOK 30,000 and remuneration of NOK 10,000 for each meeting in 
which they have participated.

In advance of this year’s Annual General Meeting the Nomination Committee 
has carried out a new assessment of remuneration. 

The general development leads in the direction of increased demands on the 
work of the board and increased responsibility. Developments in Schibsted 
have been in the direction of an increased number of meetings and longer 
meetings each time the board meets. The number of cases is increasing and 
the cases are complex. Normally there are eight ordinary meetings per year 
in the meeting plan. The level of activity in Schibsted is high and therefore 
there is normally a need to hold more meetings. In 2005 fourteen meetings 
were held, and twelve in 2006. 1. Alternate members met 11 times in 2006. 

Against this background the Nomination Committee proposes a general in-
crease in remuneration for the coming nomination period. 

The Nomination Committee proposes that the Chairman of the board receive 
NOK 625,000 in remuneration and that the board’s other members receive 

NOK 250,000 in remuneration. The higher remuneration of members resi-
dent outside Norway is replaced with a scheme that entails that extra travel 
time can be specifically remunerated with up to NOK 50,000. This decision 
is made by the Nomination Committee’s leader after consideration by the 
Chairman of the board. 

Remuneration for the alternate members of the board is proposed set to a 
basic remuneration of NOK 35,000 and a remuneration per meeting of NOK 
15,000.

remuneration of the members of the Compensation Committee 
The Group’s board members who work in the committee should continue 
to receive special remuneration for this. This remuneration is currently NOK 
50,000 for the leader of the committee and NOK 30,000 for the committee’s 
two other members and has been at this level since the committee was 
established in 2004.

The Nomination Committee considers the committee’s work as comprehen-
sive and time-consuming these last two years. Even if the work in the future 
may be of more supervisory and more concerned with follow-up duties the 
Nomination Committee proposes that these remuneration rates also be rai-
sed. The proposal is NOK 60,000 to the committee’s leader and NOK 35,000 
to the committee’s other members. 

remuneration of the members of the Audit Committee 
Experience from the compensation committee shows that during the initial 
phase there will be comprehensive and time-consuming work involved. Much 
of the work in planning and adapting the committee’s work will fall upon the 
leader of the committee. At the same time it is difficult to propose reaso-
nable remuneration in advance. The Nomination Committee believes that 
the remuneration of the committee’s members in the initial phase should 
be relatively high and proposes NOK 100,000 to the committee’s leader and 
NOK 60,000 to the committee’s other members. Based on the experiences 
from the initial period, the Nomination Committee will assess remuneration 
again. 

payment of Board remuneration
Board remuneration is set in advance at the Ordinary General Meeting and is 
paid at the end of the nomination period, i.e. at next year’s Ordinary General 
Meeting. No changes are proposed to this practice.

NomiNAtioN Committee‘s stAtemeNt
SCHIBSTED ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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HigHligHts in 2006:
  Schibsted is focusing on building strong media houses in 
our domestic markets and on utilising the Group’s core 
competence to create new positions in other markets.

  In 2006, there was expansion in Europe through the Group’s 
biggest acquisition ever: the purchase of Trader Classified 
Media’s operations in the southern part of Europe for NOK 
4.4 billion.

  Negotiations have been held with the intention to integra-
te the media operations of Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, 
Fædrelandsvennen and Stavanger Aftenblad by creating a 
new listed media group – Media Norge ASA. 

  The advertising markets in both Sweden and Norway de-
veloped positively in 2006. 

  The decline in VG’s circulation in 2006 resulted in cost cuts 
and downsizing. 

  The Group achieved an operating profit (EBITDA) in 2006 of 
NOK 1 452 million (1 321 million), producing an operating 
margin of 12 per cent (13 per cent). The underlying growth 
in operating profit was nine per cent (after adjusting for ac-
quisition and sale of subsidiaries and foreign currencies).

  Over the past few years, Schibsted has focused strongly on 
expansion through organic growth for the past two years. 
New investments debited the 2006 accounts by NOK 384 
million (165 million). 

  Several new initiatives were launched in 2006: the free news-
paper Punkt SE in Stockholm, Gothenburg and Malmö, a TV 
channel in the Swedish digital terrestrial network (TV7), a 
search service in Sweden (sesam.se), an online business 
newspaper in Norway (E24.no), the travel portal FINN reise 
and international online classified ads services (willhaben.
at and leboncoin.fr).

  The Group’s online activities produced strong figures in 
2006. The revenue grew by more than 60 per cent (before 
the acquisition of subsidiaries) and these activities’ share of 
the Group’s operating profit (EBITDA) was 24 per cent (after 
the acquisition of subsidiaries). 

  The Group has repaid debt after the sale of its shares in TV2 
and TV4, other shareholdings and real estate. 

  The Group increased its ownership shares in online clas-
sified ads companies Blocket (100 per cent) and InfoJobs 
(94 per cent).

  The Board’s proposed dividend for the 2006 financial year is 
NOK 5.00 (4.25) per share.

schibsted is a scandinavian media group whose head office is located in 
oslo. although most of its operations are linked to Norway and sweden, 
the Group has activities in 20 countries. 

Last year, schibsted increased its level of ambition from that of crea-
ting strong positions in the scandinavian media market to that of build-
ing additional positions in the european market. in the spring of 2006, 
schibsted bought the Western european part of Trader classified Media 
and increased its presence in spain and france. schibsted’s ambition is to 
be the most attractive media group in europe. 

schibsted prioritises growth in countries where we can create media hou-
ses. a media house carries out publishing operations in several channels 
and has been developed in answer to growing media consumption and an 
increasingly fragmented media landscape. based on a strong brand name, 
they disseminate news, useful articles and entertainment in many chan-
nels. We define Norway, sweden and the baltic region as our current core 
markets, with spain and thereafter france as our coming core markets. 
The Group is developing several new core products in order to supplement 
these media houses. in addition to this, we aim to utilise market develop-
ments and our specialist expertise to capture short- or long-term positions 
in other markets, currently in countries such as italy, austria, russia and 
singapore. 

AnAlysis of the 2006 AnnuAl Accounts  
schibsted reports its consolidated accounts in accordance with the 
international financial reporting standards (ifrs). 
                            as of 31 december
figures in NoK million  2006 2005
operating revenues  11 648 9 832
operating profit 1)  1 452 1 322
depreciation and amortisation   (439) (344)
other revenues and expenses  1 492 184
profit before taxes  2 413 1 177
net income   2 225 947
1) operating profit before depreciation, impaiment of goodwill and other revenues and expenses

The operating revenues increased by 18 per cent in 2006 compared to 
the year before. after adjusting for the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries 
and exchange rate effects, the growth in the underlying operating profit 
was 9 per cent. 

The 2006 accounts are affected by the Group’s new investments in such 
things as free newspapers, digital TV, directory and search services and 
the internationalisation of the classified ads services. These investments 
debit the 2006 accounts by NoK 384 million (165 million).  

other items in 2006 consist of the sale of an unused plot of land in 
Nydalen, oslo, the sale of danish and finnish cinema operations, the sale 

ThE BOArD OF 
DIrECTOrS’ rEPOrT
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of the Group’s shares in TV 2, TV4 and hugin, the downsizing in VG and 
various restructuring costs. The sale of the Group’s TV channels was car-
ried out in accordance with the Group’s strategy and has produced a gain 
of around NoK 1.5 billion. 

The Group’s tax cost for 2006 came to NoK 188 million (230 million). The 
effective tax rate is low mainly due to considerable tax-free gains on sale 
of shares.

Acquisition of euRoPeAn clAssifieD ADs 
oPeRAtions in 2006
in July 2006, schibsted bought the Western european activities of Trader 
classified Media (schibsted international classifieds) for NoK 4.4 billion. 
Trader classified Media was a leading specialist classified ads company, 
with a focus on contents in the following verticals: cars, real estate, recru-
itment and general merchandise. The classified ads services are distribu-
ted on paper and the internet. following this acquisition, schibsted has 
become a leading classified ads company in spain, france and italy. The 
most important assets that schibsted acquired in spain were the largest 
online recruitment service, infoJobs.net, and segundamano, the most im-
portant company in the field of printed and online general merchandise 
classified ads. in france, schibsted acquired, among other companies, La 
centrale, a leading brand in the field of printed and online car classified 
ads, and J’annonce, a leading printed and online general merchandise clas-
sified ads service. following this transaction, schibsted owns all Trader 
classified Media’s activities in italy, switzerland and france and 77 per 
cent of the shares in a company called anuntis segundamano holdings 
(spain and Latin america). schibsted has an option to purchase 12 per 
cent of the shares of the minority shareholder primerama as from July 2009 
and to purchase the remaining shares as from July 2013. all the options are 
to be exercised at market value. These companies were consolidated in 
schibsted’s accounts as from 14 July 2006.  

the BAlAnce sheet 
at the end of 2006, the Group had total balance sheet assets of NoK 16.5 
billion (7.9 billion). The increase compared to 2005 is mainly due to the 
Group’s acquisition of schibsted international classifieds. Long-term as-
sets make up the largest item of NoK 11.9 billion (5.7 billion), of which the 
Group’s printing plants account for NoK 1.1 billion (1.1 billion). The Group’s 
recorded goodwill and other intangible assets equal NoK 8 billion (1.4 bil-
lion). The purchase of schibsted international classifieds has increased the 
Group’s goodwill by around NoK 4 billion and intangible assets by around 
NoK 2 billion. The goodwill recorded in the balance sheet can be justified 
for all the investments on an individual basis. 

The amount of NoK 1.2 billion (1.6 billion) is recorded as investments in 
shares and associates. The reduction compared to 2005 is mainly due to 
the sale of the Group’s investments in TV4, TV 2, startsiden and hugin. at 
the same time, the Group increased its stake in bergens Tidende in the 

autumn of 2006. The market value of the Group’s investments exceeds 
their balance sheet value. 

in 2006, the Group invested NoK 5.2 billion (693 million) in shares and 
NoK 498 million (363 million) in tangible fixed assets and intangible as-
sets. The main entries under shares relate to:
• The Western european part of Trader classified Media (subsidiary) 
• sandrew Metronome from 50 to 100 per cent (subsidiary)
• blocket from 80 to 100 per cent (subsidiary)
• infoJobs from 60 to 94 per cent (subsidiary)
• bergens Tidende from 28.5 to 52.8 per cent (associate)

in 2006, schibsted repurchased 292 071 of its own shares (net). at the 
year-end, the Group owned 2 373 622 of its own shares, equal to 3.4 per 
cent of the outstanding shares. 

AnAlysis of the GRouP’s Risk

liquidity
The Group’s debt-ratio increased considerably in connection with the ac-
quisition of Trader classified Media in July 2006, and measures to release 
capital were implemented after the purchase. by the end of 2006, the net 
interest-bearing debt had been considerably reduced, mainly as a result of 
the Group’s sale of shares and property. 

schibsted’s long-term financing, which currently includes syndicated, bond 
and bank loans, aims to ensure that the Group has sufficient financial flexi-
bility. schibsted’s goal is to have a total liquidity reserve equal to at least 10 
per cent of the Group’s estimated revenues over the next 12 months.
at the end of 2006, schibsted had net interest-bearing debt of NoK 3.7 
billion and a long-term liquidity reserve of approximately NoK 2 billion. 

Market risk
although schibsted’s basic currency is Norwegian krone (NoK), its opera-
tions outside Norway mean that the Group is also exposed to fluctuations 
in the exchange rates of other currencies, mainly the euro, swedish krone 
(seK) and estonian krone (eeK). schibsted has currency risks linked to 
both balance-sheet monetary items and the translation of stakes in foreign 
entities. The Group makes use of loans in foreign currencies and forward 
exchange contracts to reduce its currency risk. The loans in foreign cur-
rencies and forward exchange contracts are managed actively in line with 
the Group’s strategy in order to reduce the currency risk. 

schibsted has both floating and fixed interest rates on its long-term debt. 
around 10 per cent of the Group’s debt at the end of 2006 was at a fixed 
interest rate. The Group has considerable pension liabilities which provide 
a natural hedging of the floating debt since the present value of the liabili-
ties increases if the interest rate falls. This reduces the need to hedge the 
interest rate on long-term interest-bearing debt. 
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1 2 3 4 5

1 chRistiAn RinGnes
CEO and largest shareholder (1984- ) in Eien-
domsspar AS/Victoria Eiendom AS. Consultant 
(1981/82) and project manager (1983/84) 
McKinsey & Company, INC – Scandinavia. 
Assistant to Area Manager, Nordic Countries, 
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company, 
(1978/79). Chairman of the board of NSV-In-
vest AS, Mini Bottle Gallery AS and the Asso-
ciation of City Folk in Oslo Centre (Foreningen 
Byfolk Oslo Sentrum). Member of the boards 
of Norsk Scania AS, Nationaltheatret (deputy 
chairman) and Oslo City’s Town Architecture 
Council (Oslo Bys Råd for Byarkitektur). MBA 
from Harvard Business School, Boston, USA 
(1979-81). Master’s degree in economics from 
École des Hautes Études Commerciales, Uni-
versity of Lausanne (1975-78).

2 tinius nAGell-eRichsen
DEpUTy CHAIRMAN OF THE GROUp’S BOARD
Chairman of the board of Aftenposten. A former 
journalist with Aftenposten, among other news-
papers, general manager of Verdens Gang and 
CEO of Aftenposten. Chairman of the Norwegian 

Newspapers’ Employer Association (Avisenes 
Arbeidsgiverforening) during several periods 
from 1972 to 1987. Chairman of the board of 
Schibsted for several periods. Former chairman 
of the board of Fædrelandsvennen, director and 
chairman of the board of Verdens Gang and 
director of Aftonbladet AB. Master of Science 
(1959 LSE).

3 AlexAnDRA Bech GjøRv
A director of Norsk Hydro ASA responsible for 
New Energy. Senior vice president of Corporate 
Human Resources Norsk Hydro (2000-05). 
Assistant Director of Strategy & Organisational 
Development, Hydro Automotive Structures, 
Oslo (1998-2000), Company Secretary, Norsk 
Hydro ASA, Oslo (1995-98), lawyer with Norsk 
Hydro USA, Inc, New york (1993-95), legal ad-
viser with Edwards & Angell, Boston (1992-93), 
associate lawyer with the law firm of Schjødt, 
Oslo (1991-92). Former member of the board of 
Sintef (2004-2006). 

4 MonicA cAneMAn
Formerly deputy CEO of SE-Banken (1997-2001), 
employed by SE-Banken since 1977. Director of 
Svenska Dagbladet AB, SJ AB (Swedish State 
Railways), poolia AB, Orexo AB, Nya Livförsä-
krings AB, SEB TryggLiv, EDT AS, point Scandi-
navia AS, Xponcard AB, EDB Business partner 
ASA, Citymail AB, Investment AB Öresund, Aka-
demikliniken AB, Interverbum AB and Lindorff 
Holding Group AB. Educated at the School of 
Management in Stockholm (1976).

5 cAto A. holMsen
Chairman of the Board/partner at FSN Capital 
partners AS. Formerly Deputy CEO of Scancem 
AB and CEO of Scancem International ANS. 
Chairman of the boards of Eiendomsspar AS, 
Fesil ASA and Alignment Holding AB. Deputy 
chairman of the boards of Victoria Eiendom AS, 
member of the board of Aftenposten AS, Aura 
Light AB, Kongsberg Automotive ASA, Eksport-
finans ASA, NorgesGruppen ASA, Via Travel 
Groups ASA and several other companies. He 
has an MSc in Engineering ETH (Zurich) 1964.
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7 1096 8

6 RoGeR hollunD
Employed by Aftenposten since 1982. Trained 
printer (2004). Trade union representative at 
the printing works since 1998. Board member 
of Aftenposten Graphical Club (AGK) and has 
represented AGK in a number of boards and 
committees.

7 ole jAcoB sunDe
CHAIRMAN OF THE GROUp’S BOARD
The founder and chairman of the board of For-
muesforvaltning ASA since 2000. Established 
Industrifinans Forvaltning ASA (1983), of which 
he was general manager until 2000. Former 
consultant with McKinsey & Co (1980-83). Va-
rious board appointments, including the Tinius 
Foundation and Aftonbladet AB. Educated at 
the Université de Fribourg (Switzerland) in 
1976 and the Kellogg School of Management, 
North-western University (USA) (with distinc-
tion) 1980.

8 evA linDquist
Former Senior Vice president of TeliaSonera 
Mobile Business, president and Head of Bu-
siness Area TeliaSonera International Carrier, 
Senior Vice president and Head of Business 
Area Telia Equity, Managing partner Sandberg 
Trygg, various positions in Ericsson during 
1981-1999. Chairman of the Board of ELFA AB 
and member of the boards of Vin&Sprit AB, Se-
curitas Systems AB, Trolltech ASA, Transmode 
AB and Nordia Innovation AB. MBA, Melbourne 
University, Australia (1992). MSc, Lindköping 
University (1981). 

9 Gunn inGeR AAsen
Employed in the computer department of VG 
since 1998. Worked as an executive officer 
in IT and budget matters at the Ministry of 
Finance until 1998. Attended the Norwegian 
School of Management BI (1986) and Østfold 
University College (1988-1990). Head of parat 
Media VG since 2006.

10 BeRit BjeRG  
Key account manager, Aftenposten’s real-esta-
te advertisement market. Joined Aftenposten 
AS in 1987. Senior shop steward of the Union 
of press Employees in Aftenposten since 1992. 
Media advisor Norwegian School of Manage-
ment (BI) (2002).

hilDe hARBo (Not present) 
Aftenposten’s London correspondent from 
2005. Joined Aftenposten in 1985, worked in 
the News, politics and Foreign Department. A 
former alternate member of Schibsted’s board 
(1990-93), deputy chair of Aftenposten’s Edi-
torial Staff Union, member of the board of the 
Oslo Union of Journalists, vice president of the 
Norwegian parliament’s press Corps. She has 
taken a degree in politics, majoring in political 
science, University of Oslo, 1985. 
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schibsted uses newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes in the 
paper market. a change in price of 1 per cent alters the Group’s raw ma-
terials prices by around NoK 10 million per annum. The price of newsprint 
in Norway and sweden is negotiated with the suppliers each year and is 
already fixed for 2007.  

at the end of 2006, the Group had limited exposure to the stock market 
and thus only a slight risk of loss. 

since many of the Group’s products are sold on the basis of advance pay-
ments (subscription sales) or cash payments (single copy sales), there is 
little credit risk associated with the Group’s circulation revenues. deposit 
schemes and credit insurances have been established for much of the 
Group’s advertising revenue

new investMents/ oRGAnic GRowth
over the past few years, schibsted has focused strongly on expansion 
through organic growth. schibsted has no projects which come under 
the definition of research and development and which are recognised in 
the balance sheet. however, schibsted’s subsidiaries invest considerable 
amounts in new projects and these investments are included in the Group’s 
profit and loss account. These projects are investments in new operations 
and future growth. The new investments are intended to strengthen the 
Group’s position in a media world which is rapidly changing. New inves-
tments as we define them are primarily aimed at new markets or at the 
development of products in which the Group has not had a position before. 
The projects are characterised by a short development phase and marke-
ting in order to build market positions, including users and readers. 

These projects debited schibsted’s operating profit by NoK 384 million 
(165 million) in 2006 and include:
-  search and directory services in Norway and sweden (sesam, 

internettkatalogen, hitta)
- free newspapers (punkt se, Moy rayon)
- TV (a digital TV channel TV7 and web-TV)
-  The internationalisation of classified ads (compraventa.com, Leboncoin.

fr, Willhaben.at). 

The investments in new projects are governed by a portfolio way of thin-
king, with quarterly reports based on both financial contents and risk fac-
tors. The follow-up aims to ensure that all the new investment projects are 
in line with the Group’s strategy and that the portfolio of projects has the 
correct risk composition. This again is intended to ensure that the Group 
prioritises correctly when making investments, improve the Group’s ability 
to carry out the individual projects and ensure that the goal of a 7 per cent 
rate of organic growth is maintained over time. The risk assessment is ba-
sed upon different commercial risk factors. 

the GRouP’s online Activities 
operating profit before the write-down of goodwill and other incomes and 
expenses (ebiTa):

figures in NoK million  2006 2005
Total operating revenues  1 654 857
operating expenses  (1 301) (650)
depreciation and amortisation   (65) (13)
operating profit (eBitA)  288 189

the Group’s online activities are continuing to develop strongly and 
comprised 24 per cent (15 per cent) of the Group’s operating profit 
(ebiTda) in 2006. The revenue grew by more than 60 per cent from 2005 
to 2006 (before the acquisition of subsidiaries). The Group’s new invest-
ments debited the online activities with costs of around NoK 250 million.  
strong developments have taken place within the Group’s online newspa-
pers and established classified ads services.  VG Nett, fiNN, aftonbladet 
Nya Medier, blocket and bytbil produced particularly good results. 

Business AReA AnAlysis – noRwAy, 
sweDen AnD inteRnAtionAl

the noRwAy Business AReA
operating profit before the write-down of goodwill and other incomes and 
expenses (ebiTa) for selected companies within the Norway business area:

figures in NoK million  2006 2005
Aftenposten Media house  298 266
aftenposten newspaper  152 145
aftenposten online  148 117
vG Media house  290 300
VG newspaper  209 248
VG online  82 51
schibsted søk  (126) (51)

the AftenPosten MeDiA house
in 2006, the advertising revenues of Aftenposten’s printed newspaper 
increased by six per cent compared to 2005. The recruitment advertising 
market particularly contributed to this growth in revenue.  The circulation 
revenues increased by two per cent compared to 2005 as a result of an 
increase in subscription prices. all the editions’ circulation figures declined 
slightly compared to 2005 and efforts are now being made to stabilise the 
circulation at present levels. 

Within aftenposten’s online activities, finn’s revenue increased by almost 
50 per cent in 2006, compared to 30 per cent the year before. fiNN’s 
operating margin came to 37 per cent (43 per cent). fiNN’s costs increa-
sed in 2006 as a result of more product development work and additional 
employees. finn reise (travel) was launched in february 2006.  The reve-
nues from recruitment, real-estate and car advertisements increased by 67 
per cent, 22 per cent and 20 per cent respectively in 2006. 

e24.no was launched in the spring of 2006, and has become established 
as Norway’s largest finance and business news website. 

the vG MeDiA house
for the vG printed newspaper, 2006 was a year of change and the first 
time that downsizing operations were carried out. VG has implemented 
measures intended to provide cost cuts of around NoK 100 million. This 
has been equal to a staff reduction of around 90 man-years. 

The weekday circulation of the vG printed newspaper fell by around 
28 000 in 2006 compared to 2005. The advertising revenues also decli-
ned slightly compared to the year before. This slight reduction is due to 
increased competition, higher discounts and the fact that brand adverti-
sing is moving from print to online products.

vG’s online activities, vG nett, increased their revenues by 61 per cent 
compared to 2005, and achieved an operating margin of 42 per cent in 
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2006 (42 per cent). increased editorial and business development resour-
ces led to slightly higher costs. 

online seARch seRvices
schibsted søk (search) launched a complete search service involving 
local and international web searches, directory searches, news searches, 
pictures and maps under the name sesam.no in the autumn of 2005.  This 
service has started off slowly from a revenue point of view and it has taken 
longer than expected to attract a sufficient number of users to the service.  
an extended collaboration with, among others, fiNN and VG was started in 
the autumn of 2006. This has led to the volume of traffic increasing to more 
than 400 000 weekly visitors at the beginning of 2007. a corresponding 
service was launched in sweden in the autumn of 2006. 

otheR
2006 was a good year for schibsted’s publishing operations, with 
schibsted forlagene as achieving an operating margin of 10 per cent. This 
reinforces schibsted forlagene as’s position as one of the most profitable 
of the major publishing houses in Norway. 

the regional newspapers increased their advertising revenues in 2006 
but produced a result that was weaker than in 2005 due to increased 
costs. 

the sweDen Business AReA

operating profit before the write-down of goodwill and other incomes and 
expenses (ebiTa) for selected companies within the sweden business area:

figures in seK million  2006 2005
Aftonbladet Media house  316 314
aftonbladet newspaper  254 240
aftonbladet online  178 185
svenska Dagbladet Media house  34 13

the AftonBlADet MeDiA house
aftonbladet produced its best operating profit ever in 2006 – seK 316 mil-
lion (314 million). This was despite considerable costs relating to new inves-
tments, including in directory services and the launch of a free newspaper 
and a TV channel. 

the Aftonbladet printed newspaper produced strong results in 2006. 
its advertising revenues rose by 11 per cent compared to 2005, while its 
circulation revenues increased by 4 per cent. The circulation per publica-
tion date fell by 13 100 compared to 2005. on 26 June 2006, aftonbladet 
increased its weekday sales price from seK 8 to seK 9, and its sunday 
newspaper price to seK 10. This price increase has not had any signifi-
cant effect on the circulation. The newspaper’s costs are increasing due 
to higher editorial costs. 

aftonbladet launched several new products in 2006: the free newspa-
per Punkt se was launched in stockholm, Gothenburg and Malmö on 2 
october. This newspaper is printed in 340 000 copies and has been well 
received by the market. The TV channel, tv7, was launched in the digital 
terrestrial network on 9 october. tv7 will initially focus on current affairs, 
lifestyle and entertainment programmes and broadcasts for around 9.5 
hours each day from Monday to friday. 

The aftonbladet group’s results are affected by costs relating to direc-

tory services (hitta.se) and the aforementioned new products. in 2006, 
these activities debited the operating profit by around seK 160 million (45 
million). 

The advertising revenues from Aftonbladet’s online activities (aftonbladet 
Nya Medier, blocket, bytbil and hitta) rose by 64 per cent in 2006 com-
pared to 2005. of aftonbladet’s total advertising revenues, 49 per cent 
(41 per cent) came from the online activities. blocket developed well 
throughout 2006, both as regards number of advertisements and number 
of unique visitors. its operating profit increased significantly compared to 
2005. The volume of traffic visiting hitta.se rose by 70 per cent in 2006, 
and several new services were launched towards the end of the year in 
order to increase this traffic even more. sales of this service were strong 
in 2006. bytbil produced its best results ever and aftonbladet Nya Medier 
(New Media) saw a growth in revenue of 58 per cent in 2006 compared to 
the previous year. 

the svenskA DAGBlADet (svD) MeDiA house
the svD printed newspaper’s advertising revenues rose sharply in 2006 
- by 11 per cent compared to 2005. The circulation revenues were 8 per 
cent higher in 2006 than in 2005. The increase in revenue produced the 
newspaper’s best ever operating profit in 2006. The latest readership sur-
vey conducted showed that the gap in readership between this newspaper 
and its main competitor had been reduced by more than 100 000 readers 
compared to the corresponding period the year before. 

svD’s online operations, (svd.se, tasteline.se, e24.se) shoved a positive 
result for the year. There was a strong increase in traffic and the revenues 
rose sharply.

otheR
Metronome film & television’s revenues rose by 14 per cent from 2005 
to 2006. The Nordic production market is growing and resulting in increas-
ed production work for Metronome film & Television, especially in sweden. 
however, the company’s drama productions are subject to a pressure on 
margins and the production volume in sweden and denmark is low. 

in the spring of 2006, schibsted increased its stake in sweden’s sandrew 
Metronome from 50 to 100 per cent. as a result of the sale of the swedish 
cinemas and the change in the collaboration with Warner home Video, the 
revenues fell in 2006 compared to 2005. The danish and finnish cinemas 
were sold in Q2 2006. in the future, the company will make active efforts 
to distribute films in new channels.
 
the inteRnAtionAl Business AReA
operating profit before the write-down of goodwill and other incomes and ex-
penses (ebiTa) for selected companies within the international business area:

1) figures in eur million  2) figures in NoK million 2006 2005
20 Minutes 1)   (2.6) (6.8)
Baltics 2)  33 41
international classifieds 2)  48 (11)

20 Minutes
the 20 Minutes companies’ revenues increased by a lot in 2006 – re-
venues increased by 30 per cent in spain and 18 per cent in france com-
pared to 2005. More publications and an increased circulation in 2006 
compared to 2005 led to slightly higher costs for both the spanish and 
french companies. The development of online activities in 20 Minutes was 
and will be given high priority in both countries. both publications produced 
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strong results in the second half of 2006 and 20minutos in spain shoved a 
profit for the entire 2006. 
 

despite increased competition in the spanish market, 20minutos increa-
sed its readership. The latest readership survey (el estudios General de 
Medios) shows that 20minutos is reinforcing its position as the largest ge-
neral newspaper in the spanish market, with 2.4 million daily readers. 

The french edition, 20minutes, was included for the first time in the of-
ficial french readership figures in March 2006. The latest readership sur-
vey shows that 20minutes is strengthening its position in the french mar-
ket. This newspaper is now the most read general newspaper in france, 
with 2 160 000 daily readers. 

the BAltic ReGion AnD RussiA
among the Group’s companies in estonia, eesti Meedia increased its ad-
vertising revenues by 34 per cent in 2006 compared to 2005. its costs are 
increasing due to new projects (the online product and free newspaper) 
and higher salaries. all the eesti Meedia publications developed well, with 
increased advertising revenues, stable circulation and higher circulation 
revenues as a result of price increases. 

The TV channel, kanal2, strengthened its position and both its market 
shares and advertising revenues increased. 

in lithuania, the weekly magazine Zmones is continuing to develop well, 
both in circulation, number of readers and advertising revenues. The free 
newspaper 15 Minutes covers the three largest towns and has captured 
the number one position in two of these towns. The tabloid lt made a 
negative contribution of NoK 22 million to the 2006 results. changes were 
made to the organisation and the product was relaunched, and the circula-
tion figures increased towards the end of 2006. 

The group’s weekly free newspaper in Russia, Moi Rayon, is the most 
read newspaper in st petersburg, with 769 000 readers. This newspaper 
was launched in Moscow on 22 september and had a circulation of 216 
000 at the year-end. The plans are to increase the circulation to 500 000 
by april of next year. 

schiBsteD inteRnAtionAl clAssifieDs
schibsted international classifieds (”Trader”) was bought in the sum-
mer of 2006 and consolidated into schibsted’s accounts as from 14 July.

Throughout 2006, there was an increasing shift from print to online pro-
ducts, and the online activities in spain, especially, produced very good re-
sults. in total, the online activities achieved a 57 per cent growth in income 
in 2006. The share of the companies’ operating profit (ebiTda) that came 
from the online activities was 63 per cent in 2006 (41 per cent).

The print products’ revenues fell by 10 per cent in 2006. This fall is in line 
with the Group’s expectations. Measures are being implemented to slow 
the decline in the print products’ revenues, especially in spain and italy. in 
2006, several publications were closed down in spain – equal to around 
five per cent of the revenues compared to 2005. 

infojobs.net developed very strongly in 2006, with a growth in income of 
68 per cent. This company achieved the Group’s highest margin in 2006 
– 54 per cent (ebiTda). other online activities in spain also produced so-
lid results, with a growth in revenue of 72 per cent. segundamano.es, 
fotocasa.es and coches.net are also developing strongly. The volume of 

traffic is growing and our position as the leading classified ads player within 
the key verticals in spain is being strengthened.

The results in italy are disappointing and the Group has implemented spe-
cific measures to turn this situation around. classified ads services within 
more verticals are being launched in 2007. 

in 2007 schibsted have entered into an agreement to merge parts of the 
french operations with the french online car portal caradisiac which is 
owned by spir. The merged companies will take a leading position within 
classified ads and information sites related to cars in france.
 
otheR inteRnAtionAl clAssifieD 
in spain, the classified ads service compraventa.com saw a sharp growth 
in its traffic volume last year. although it costs nothing to advertise objects 
here, sales of advertising space on this website started in april 2006. The 
volume of sales has been less than expected. 

in france, schibsted launched a joint venture with spir in 2006 – the clas-
sified ads service leboncoin.fr, which is based on the blocket model. The 
service has experienced good growth in its volume of adverts and traffic 
since it started up. 

an austrian classified ads service, willhaben.at, was launched in January 
2006 (a 50 per cent joint venture with styria Medien). This service publishes 
recruitment, real-estate, car and general merchandise adverts.  it has experi-
enced good growth in its volume of adverts and traffic since starting up. 

MeDiA noRGe 
aftenposten, bergens Tidende, fædrelandsvennen and stavanger 
aftenblad intend to integrate the ownership of their media operations by 
creating a new listed media group – Media Norge asa. in addition to the 
regional newspapers, Media Norge will include the online classified ads 
service fiNN.no. The parties have cooperated closely for a long time and 
common ownership will enable them to realise considerable synergy gains. 
synergies are expected within the areas of advertising sales and online 
investments, among others. 

Media Norge’s goal is to become the leading media company in Norway 
– characterised by innovation and the systematic development of new 
products in all the available channels, both regionally and nationally.  The 
most important area for joint investment in the new group is new digital 
products.  The media houses will be strongly anchored in the regions. The 
editors will have a strong position, both formally and in practice. The head 
office of Media Norge will be established in bergen, but there will be re-
gional resource and expertise centres. during the ownership integration 
work, the current management and editorial staff in the media houses will 
remain unchanged. 

The parties assume that, in connection with the implementation of the 
mergers, schibsted asa will reduce its shareholding in Media Norge to 
50.1 per cent. The existing shareholders are to have a pre-emptive right to 
purchase 25 per cent of these shares at a discount. 

on 15 february 2007, the general meetings of the individual media houses 
passed resolutions agreeing to the Media Norge integration. The forma-
tion of Media Norge is conditional on neither the Norwegian competition 
authority nor the Norwegian Media authority issuing decisions which entail 
a prohibition against the transaction or conditions which would make the 
transaction’s implementation difficult. 
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futuRe PRosPects
in 2007, the Group will be positively affected by strong advertising mar-
kets. The online activities in particular are expected to continue developing 
strongly in 2007, but their percentage share of the growth in revenue may 
be lower than in 2006. 

over the past two years, schibsted has invested considerable amounts 
in organic growth/ new initiatives. These investments have been debited 
directly to the profit and loss account. The investments will continue in 
2007 and the negative contribution to the results is expected to be around 
the same as in 2006.

Within the norway business area, fiNN and VG Nett are expected to con-
tinue experiencing good growth in revenue. VG’s circulation will continue 
to fall in 2007 but slightly more positive developments than before can be 
seen at the beginning of 2007. VG’s programme to cut costs by around 
NoK 100 million is being implemented according to plan. The savings are 
in relation to the current cost level and will take full effect at the end of 
2007. 

in sweden, aftonbladet’s circulation demonstrated a slightly weaker trend 
at the start of 2007. The outlook for aftonbladet’s online activities is good. 
The free newspaper and digital TV will debit the results considerably in 2007. 
The directory service hitta is continuing to develop strongly in 2007.

Within the international business area, 20 Minutes’ online newspapers 
will continue to be developed in 2007. The printed newspapers will produce 
better results in 2007 in both france and spain. The discontinuation of un-
profitable titles in the printed sector will continue in 2007. The share of the 
operating profit that comes from the online activities will increase, while 
there will also be a focus on developing strong online brands. 

The Group’s costs relating to the head office in Norway are increasing, 
as a result of both increased activity and the acquisition of schibsted 
international classifieds.

GoinG conceRn
in accordance with section 3-3a of the Norwegian accounting act, the 
board confirms that the Group is a going concern. The financial statements 
for 2006 have been prepared on this assumption.  This assumption is ba-
sed on the Group’s long-term strategic forecasts. The Group’s economic 
and financial position is good. 

woRkinG enviRonMent
at the year-end, schibsted had approximately 8 500 (5 360) employees. 
around 5 800 of these worked outside Norway. The Group’s sickness 
absence rate amounted to approximately 6 per cent of the Group’s to-
tal working hours and has remained stable over the past few years. The 
Group’s printing plants at Nydalen, where the average age of the employ-
ees is almost 50 years, has implemented measures to reduce its high rate 
of sickness absence. in 2006, the printing plant’s sickness absence rate 
was 12 per cent, a decline from 17 per cent in 2004.

of the Group’s companies, it is particularly the operations at the printing 
companies that involve a certain risk of injury. at the year-end, schibsted 
owned three newspaper printing plants: schibsted Trykk in oslo, harstad 
Tidende Trykk in harstad and Kroonpress in Tartu, estonia.  in 2006, a to-
tal of seven workplace injuries resulting in absences were recorded in the 
printing works, mainly crushing injuries and cuts. No accidents were regis-
tered at any of the printing works in 2006. 

schibsted aims to be a leading company in europe when it comes to de-
veloping talent, managers and employees. The work of attracting talented 
people, developing good managers and creating competent organisations 
is given priority by the senior management of the Group and the subsidia-
ries. competitive conditions and good development opportunities are part 
of this prioritisation. The working environment is considered to be good. 

exteRnAl enviRonMent
The production of the Group’s newspapers is a digital process up to the 
printing stage and only affects the external environment to a slight extent. 
a newspaper printing works is a relatively environmentally neutral indus-
trial operation and the chemicals used to manufacture the newspapers are 
dealt with as special waste and recycled to the greatest extent possible. 
agreements with approved transport companies ensure that special waste 
is collected safely. Normal operations do not involve any danger of emis-
sions from the printing plants.

The printing works consumed 89 600 tonnes of paper, 1 935 tonnes of 
printing ink and approx. 26.2 GWh of electricity in 2006. This consumption 
is an increase of 6-7 per cent, reflecting a corresponding increase in pro-
duction volume. The Group’s newspaper companies in Norway and sweden 
arrange for unsold newspapers to be collected and sold for recycling. 

The Group’s other operations only pollute the environment to a very limited 
extent.

equAl oPPoRtunities
schibsted makes its living from skilled managers and employees. it is 
essential to the Group’s continued success that women are ensured the 
same development opportunities as men. This is an important part of the 
Group’s social responsibility and the basis for the Group’s continued com-
mercial success.

several of the Group’s subsidiaries are making active efforts to ensure that 
men and women are ensured equal terms, equal access to management 
positions and equal conditions in connection with recruitment and develop-
ment activities. The Group management is also working systematically to 
ensure a balance between the sexes, among other things through Group-
run development programmes and schibsted’s trainee programme.  in some 
areas, such as the printing operations, traditional graphic production areas 
and iT, there is male dominance. 

The percentage of women in the subsidiaries’ managements has been 
increasing over the past few years. at the year-end, the percentages of 
women in the managements of the Group’s largest subsidiaries were as 
follows:
aftenposten  36 per cent
aftonbladet  36 per cent
svenska dagbladet  38 per cent
VG  30 per cent 
There are currently no women in the schibsted Group’s management 
team. 

DiviDenD AnD cAPitAl stRuctuRe
schibsted is a listed company that aims to provide a competitive rate of 
return based on healthy finances. The board of schibsted believes it is 
essential that the company’s shares are perceived to be an interesting in-
vestment alternative. it is therefore one of the schibsted board’s goals to 
maximise the shareholders’ yield through long-term growth in the share 
price and dividend. The board will make efforts to ensure that the price of 
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the company’s shares reflects, in so far as possible, the company’s long-
term earnings ability.  

schibsted’s foundation is based on strong positions in the scandinavian 
media market, especially in the newspaper sector. The earnings and cash 
flows from these operations are characterised by cyclical fluctuations but 
schibsted’s strong brands indicate a long-term, stable position. in periods 
of recession, interesting opportunities may open up for a company that has 
maintained its capital strength.

in 2005, schibsted’s board adopted a new vision and strategy that al-
low for the fact that the media sector is in flux. This strategy involves an 
increased rate of change and development of the Group’s operations. 
schibsted’s capital structure must appear to be sufficiently robust so that 
we can maintain the financial freedom of action required by the Group’s 
growth ambitions. 

in future, schibsted will place greater emphasis on having a fixed dividend 
payout ratio that, over time, is to be 25-40 per cent of the Group’s cash 
flow per share. in addition, the Group wants to have a certain stability in 
the dividend over time. in years when economic conditions are weak, the 
level of dividend will be maintained in so far as the Group’s capital structure 
so permits. such a dividend level will lead to schibsted’s direct yield be-
ing competitive both in the Norwegian market and compared to european 
media companies. 

The Group’s strategic direction and ownership structure place some re-
strictions on the Group’s capital structure. a stable increase in dividend 
and the opportunity to repurchase shares are regarded as suitable tools for 
adjusting the capital structure. 

following the acquisition of schibsted international classifieds in the sum-
mer of 2006, several measures have been carried out according to plan 
to release capital and improve the Group’s financial flexibility. The Group 
expects to have strong cash flows in the future. 

The board will propose a dividend of NoK 5.00 per share for the 2006 
financial year (NoK 4.25) to the annual General Meeting.

schiBsteD AsA
schibsted asa is the parent company within the schibsted Group. The 
company’s accounts are presented in accordance with the Norwegian 
accounting act and generally accepted accounting practices in Norway 
(NGaap). schibsted asa’s operating revenues of NoK 4 million (NoK 2 
million) consist mainly of accounting fees from its subsidiaries and fees 
for subsidiaries’ participation in the sales and manager development pro-
grammes. The ordinary operating expenses of NoK 180 million (NoK 141 
million) relate to the Group administration services. The company made an 
operating loss in 2006 of NoK 176 million (a loss of NoK 139 million) but its 
financial items came to NoK 1 837 million (747 million), of which the gain 
on the sale of TV2 comprised NoK 1 020 million. schibsted asa records 
Group contributions it receives as financial income, and these amounted 
to NoK 764 million (612 million). The pre-tax profit on ordinary operations 
came to NoK 1 661 million (608 million).

schibsted asa had distributable equity of NoK 2 079 million (908 million) 
at the end of 2006. 

at the year-end, schibsted asa had 84 (72) employees, 25 of whom were 
trainees working in the Group companies. The Group chief executive 
officer is schibsted asa’s managing director.

The board of schibsted asa proposes allocating the profit for the year as 
follows:

profit for the year NoK  1 609 million

Proposed allocation:
Transferred to other equity NoK  1 274 million
provisions for dividend, NoK 5.00 per share NoK  335 million

Group contributions to subsidiaries total NoK 185 million.

OlE JACOB SuNDE
Chairman of the Board

TINIuS NAGEll-ErIChSEN
Deputy Chairman of the Board

AlExANDrA BECh GJørV EVA lINDquIST

BErIT BJErG hIlDE hArBO CATO A. hOlMSEN ChrISTIAN rINGNES

rOGEr hOlluND GuNN INGEr AASEN MONICA BIrGITTE  
CANEMAN

KJEll AAMOT
President and CEO

oslo, 29 March 2007
schibsted asa’s board of directors
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ARticle 1: nAMe
The company is a public limited liability company with the corporate name 
schibsted asa.

ARticle 2: ReGisteReD office
The company’s registered office is in oslo. 

ARticle 3: PuRPose
The purpose of the company is to engage in information and publishing 
activities, as well as related business activities.

The shareholders shall enable the company to operate its information and 
publishing activities in such a way that editorial freedom and integrity is 
fully ensured. The requirement for editorial freedom and integrity shall ap-
ply to all media and publications encompassed by the Norwegian and inter-
national activities of the schibsted group.

ARticle 4: shARe cAPitAl
The company has a share capital of NoK 69,250,000, divided into 
69,250,000 shares each with a nominal value of NoK 1, fully paid up and 
registered by name. The company’s shares shall be registered with the 
Norwegian central securities depository. 

ARticle 5: tRADABility
The company’s shares may be traded freely, subject to the limitations sti-
pulated in article 6 below.

The voting rights relating to shares that have been transferred may be exer-
cised at the earliest one week after the share transfer has been registered 
with the Norwegian central securities depository. To the extent that a 
share acquisition is conditional upon concession, the right to exercise the 
voting rights for such shares is under all circumstances conditional upon 
the concession being granted unless the board of directors has already 
recommended that concession be granted.

ARticle 6: liMitAtions on owneRshiP AnD votinG RiGhts
No shareholder may own or vote at a shareholders’ meeting for more than 
30% of the shares. With regard to this, the following are to be regarded as 
being the same as the shareholder’s own shares:

a)  shares that are owned or acquired by the shareholder’s spouse, undera-
ge children or persons with whom the shareholder shares a common 
household;

b)  shares that are owned or acquired by corporations in which the share-
holder has such influence as stipulated in section 1-2 of the Norwegian 
Limited Liability companies act;

c)  shares that are owned or acquired by corporations that belong to the 
same group of companies as the shareholder, and

d)  shares that are owned or acquired by any party that the shareholder 
has entered into a binding collaboration with regarding the use of the 
shareholder rights.

ARticle 7: AMenDMents to the ARticles of incoRPoRAtion
any resolution to amend the articles of incorporation, to sell shares of 
subsidiaries, or relating to the casting of votes respecting an amend-

ment to the articles of incorporation of subsidiaries, shall be passed by 
the shareholders’ Meeting and shall require the endorsement of more 
than 3/4 of the share capital represented in the relevant shareholders’ 
Meeting. The same shall apply to any assignment of the publication rights 
pertaining to aftenposten or Verdens Gang.

ARticle 8: BoARD of DiRectoRs
The company is managed by a board of directors consisting of 11 mem-
bers, of whom four are to be elected by and from among the employees 
and seven are to be elected by the shareholders.

any shareholder that owns 25% or more of the share capital shall be entit-
led to appoint one of the directors elected by the shareholders. The direc-
tors are to be elected for one year at a time. 

ARticle 9: siGninG on BehAlf of the coMPAny
The chairman of the board of directors and one director acting jointly are 
entitled to sign on behalf of the company. The board of directors may grant 
power of procuration. 

ARticle 10: shAReholDeRs’ MeetinG
The annual shareholders’ Meeting is to discuss and decide on the 
following:

1.  The adoption of the profit and loss account and balance sheet, including 
the application of the profit for the year or settlement of the loss for the 
year. 

2.  The adoption of the consolidated profit and loss accounts and consoli-
dated balance sheet. 

3.  The election of the Nomination committee when this committee is up for 
election. Three members and one alternate member are to be elected to 
the Nomination committee. The shareholders’ Meeting is to elect chair-
person of the Nomination committee. The Nomination committee is to 
be elected for two years at a time and is, among other things, to make 
recommendations to the shareholders’ Meeting regarding the election 
of shareholder elected directors and any alternate directors when such 
are up for election or when a supplementary election has to be held. The 
Nomination committee shall, in so far as possible, announce its propo-
sals regarding the candidates in the notice of the shareholders’ Meeting. 
The Nomination committee submits proposal to the shareholders’ 
Meeting regarding the remunerationto the board of directors. The pro-
posal regarding the remuneration to the board of directors  shall be 
submitted in advance for one year at a time counted from the date of the 
shareholders’ Meeting.  The Nomination committee may also state its 
views on, and possibly submit proposals to the shareholders’ Meeting 
on, issues relating to the board of directors’ size, composition and way 
of working, and may state its views on issues relating to the company’s 
relationship to the auditor, including submitting proposals regarding the 
choice of auditor and the fees to the auditor.

4.  election of shareholder-elected directors and any alternate directors 
that are up for election.

5.  other issues which, according to law or the articles of incorporation, are 
to be considered by the shareholders’ meeting.

ArTIClES OF 
INCOrPOrATION OF 
SChIBSTED ASA

ARticles of incoRPoRAtion
schibsTed aNNuaL reporT 2006
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(NOK million) NOTE 2006 2005 2004

Operating revenues 6 11 648 9 832 9 690

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods 7 (2 126) (1 908) (1 894)
Personnel expenses 9 (3 659) (2 961) (2 831)
Depreciation and amortisation 13 (439) (344) (376)
Other operating expenses 10 (4 590) (3 840) (3 733)
Income from associated companies 14 179 198 84

Operating profit before impairment of goodwill and other 
revenues and expenses 1 013 977 940

Impairment loss goodwill 13 (10) - (78)
Other revenues and expenses 5 1 492 184 (348)

Operating profit 6 2 495 1 161 514

Financial income 11 124 94 49
Financial expenses 11 (206) (78) (87)

Profit before taxes 2 413 1 177 476

Taxes 12 (188) (230) (163)

Net income 2 225 947 313

Net income attributable to minority interests 82 73 72
Net income attributable to majority interests 2 143 874 241

Earnings per share (NOK) 21 32.52 12.91 3.55
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 21 32.45 12.89 3.55
Earnings per share - adjusted (NOK) 21 9.87 9.76 8.18
Diluted earnings per share - adjusted  (NOK) 21 9.85 9.74 8.18

Income statement – Group
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Balance sheet as at 31 DecemBer - Group

(NOK million) NOTE 2006 2005 2004

assETs

Deferred tax assets 12 289 311 331
Intangible assets 13 8 049 1 406 1 273
Investment property 13 139 198 201
Property, plant and equipment 13 2 070 1 931 2 013
Investments in associated companies 14 1 164 1 584 1 202
Long-term investments 16 81 137 165
Other non-current assets 20 96 100 118

Non-current assets 11 888 5 667 5 303

Inventories 19 125 94 106
Trade and other receivables 18 2 218 1 442 1 416
Short-term investments 16 78 56 58
Cash and bank deposits 17 2 240 676 532

current assets 4 661 2 268 2 112

Total assets 16 549 7 935 7 415

EQuITY aND lIaBIlITIEs

Share capital 69 69 69
Treasury shares (2) (2) (1)
Other paid-in capital 178 89 83
Other equity 4 630 2 778 2 140

Majority interest in equity 4 875 2 934 2 291

Minority interests 294 287 140

Equity 5 169 3 221 2 431

Deferred tax liabilities 12 627 116 92
Pension liabilities 24 729 756 761
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 740 1 078 1 544
Other non-current liabilities 25 956 - 92

Non-current liabilities 3 052 1 950 2 489

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 5 270 493 287
Income tax payable 165 176 180
Other current liabilities 23 2 893 2 095 2 028

current liabilities 8 328 2 764 2 495

Total equity and liabilities 16 549 7 935 7 415

ole JacoB sunDe
Chairman of the Board

tInIus naGell-erIchsen
Deputy Chairman of the Board

alexanDra Bech GJørv eva lInDquIst

BerIt BJerG hIlDe harBo cato a. holmsen chrIstIan rInGnes

roGer hollunD Gunn InGer aasen monIca BIrGItte  
caneman

KJell aamot
President and CEO

Oslo, 29 March 2007

Schibsted ASA’s board of directors
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(NOK million) NOTE 2006 2005 2004

casH FlOW FROM OPERaTING acTIVITIEs

Profit before taxes 2 413 1 177 476
Income from associated companies (179) (194) (84)
Dividends received from associated companies 132 157 60
Taxes paid (254) (232) (135)
Sales losses / (gains) non-current assets (1 731) (371) (58)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment 449 352 739
Impairment losses financial instruments and current assets 7 1 5
Change in working capital (16) 94 83

Net cash flow from operating activities 29 821 984 1 086

casH FlOW FROM INVEsTING acTIVITIEs

Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (498) (363)  (215)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 29 (4 727) (442) (502)
Sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 172 58 18
Sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 29 53 654 -
Investments in / sale of other shares 2 149 (99) (540)
Other investments / sales (22) 2 (26)

Net cash flow from investing activities (2 873) (190) (1 265)

Net cash flow before financing (2 052) 794 (179)

casH FlOW FROM FINaNcING acTIVITIEs

New interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4 773 104 352
Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (537) (373) (257)
Minority’s contribution and withdrawal of capital (57) (27) (11)
Purchase / sale of treasury shares (285) (134) 20
Dividends paid 22 (278) (220) (203)

Net cash flow from financing activities 29 3 616 (650) (99)

Net cash flow for the year 1 564 144 (278)

cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 676 532 810

cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 2 240 676 532

 cash flow statement – Group
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statement of chanGes In equIty – Group

(NOK million)
sHaRE-

caPITal

TREasuRY  

sHaREs

sHaRE

PREMIuM

REsERVE

OTHER 

PaID-IN 

EQuITY

RETaINED 

EaRNINGs

FOREIGN

cuRRENcY

TRaNsl.

REsERVE

NET 

uNREalIsED 

GaINs 

REsERVE

MINORITY

INTEREsTs TOTal

as at 1 January 2004 69 (1) 76 1 2 138 - - 188 2 471
Net income 2004 - - - - 241 - - 72 313
Share-based payment - - - 1 - - - - 1
Dividends - - - - (203) - - - (203)
Dividends to minority interests - - - - - - - (11) (11)
Change in treasury shares - - - 5 15 - - - 20

Additions, disposals and change 
in ownership of subsidiaries 
and associated companies - - - - - - - (130) (130)
Translation differences - - - - - (55) - 21 (34)

Effect of hedging of net invest-
ment in foreign operations - - - - - 4 - - 4

as at 31 December 2004 69 (1) 76 7 2 191 (51) - 140 2 431

Implementation of IAS 32/39 - - - - (5) - 63 - 58
Net income 2005 - - - - 874 - - 73 947
Share-based payment - - - 3 - - - - 3
Dividends - - - - (220) - - - (220)
Dividends to minority interests - - - - - - - (27) (27)
Change in treasury shares - (1) - 3 (136) - - - (134)

Change in fair value of invest-
ments available for sale - - - - - - (12) - (12)

Additions, disposals and change 
in ownership of subsidiaries 
and associated companies - - - - 104 - - 111 215
Translation differences - - - - - (77) - (10) (87)

Effect of hedging of net invest-
ment in foreign operations - - - - - 47 - - 47

as at 31 December 2005 69 (2) 76 13 2 808 (81) 51 287 3 221

Net income 2006 - - - - 2 143 - - 82 2 225
Share-based payment - - - 4 - - - - 4
Dividends - - - - (278) - - - (278)
Dividends to minority interests - - - - - - - (59) (59)
Change in treasury shares - - - 85 (102) - - - (17)

Change in fair value of invest-
ments available for sale - - - - - - (20) - (20)

Additions, disposals and change 
in ownership of subsidiaries 
and associated companies - - - - (21) - - (24) (45)
Translation differences - - - - - 260 - 8 268

Effect of hedging of net invest-
ment in foreign operations - - - - - (130) - - (130)

as at 31 December 2006 69 (2) 76 102 4 550 49 31 294 5 169
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All amounts are in NOK million unless otherwise stated.

Note 1 Company information

Schibsted ASA is domiciled in Norway. The company’s head office is located at Apotekergt. 10, Oslo. The company’s postal 
address is P.O. Box 490 Sentrum, 0105 Oslo. The company is a public limited company that is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
under ticker SCH. 

Schibsted is one of Scandinavia’s leading media groups.  Our domestic markets are Norway and Sweden, but the Group also has 
operations in Denmark, Finland, France, Spain, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Austria, Italy, Switzerland, Russia, Slovenia, Singapore 
and Latin America. Schibsted currently has a presence in the newspaper, TV, film, online, mobile-phone, book and magazine 
media. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2007.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies

BasIs FOR PREPaRaTION OF FINaNcIal sTaTEMENTs
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), EU-approved and in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act 
§ 3-9. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on a historical cost basis, with the exception of financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value. 

The Group’s income statement is divided by reference to the nature of income and expenses.

The preparation of annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to use estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts. Furthermore, management is required to make evaluations relating to the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies. Areas that are strongly affected by estimates and evaluations that are complex or material to the 
consolidated accounts are described in Note 4.

cONsOlIDaTION PRINcIPlEs
The consolidated financial statements comprise Schibsted ASA and companies controlled by Schibsted ASA, directly or indi-
rectly, through ownership or by agreement (subsidiaries). The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis that 
the Group is a single entity, and all material transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements from the date control is obtained and until Schibsted 
ceases to have control. In the case of subsidiaries that are not wholly-owned, minority interests in net income and equity are 
presented on separate lines in the income statement and balance sheet. Business combinations are accounted for by applying 
the purchase method, under which the cost of acquisition is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities measured at estimated 
fair value at the date of exchange. Any excess cost of acquisition not allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised 
as goodwill. In translating the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries from the respective functional currencies to Norwegian 
kroner, assets and liabilities are translated using the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet, while income and expenses are 
translated using average exchange rates. Translation differences are recognised in equity until disposal of the investment. 

Joint ventures are defined as companies in which Schibsted participates, directly or through subsidiaries, and where the partici-
pants through agreements have joint control over the operation’s activities. Joint ventures are accounted for using proportionate 
consolidation whereby Schibsted’s share of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are recorded line by line in the consolidated 
financial statements.
 

Associated companies are defined as companies in which Schibsted ASA, directly or through subsidiaries, does not have a 
controlling interest but exercises significant management influence and has a significant ownership share, normally 20-50%. 
Associated companies are accounted for applying the equity method of accounting under which Schibsted recognises its share 
of the company’s net income and gains or losses on sale in a separate line item in the income statement. In the balance sheet, 
the investment is carried at cost adjusted for the share of net income and dividends received. 

accRual, classIFIcaTION aND ValuaTION PRINcIPlEs 

Revenue recognition 
Advertising revenues for printed media are recognised when the ads are placed, at full price less discounts and credits for errors. 
Subscription revenues for printed media are invoiced in advance and recognised in income upon delivery over the agreement 
period. Other sales, including casual sales are recognised in income based on copies delivered less returns. 

Income from Internet activities, including advertising revenues and subscription based revenues, are recognised to income over 
the agreement period.

Barter agreements are recognised in income at fair value at the time of the transaction. Fair value is measured based on the value 
of the service delivered or received, depending on which service can be most reliably measured. 

notes to the consolIDateD fInancIal statements
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Revenues related to TV and film productions performed over more than one accounting period (construction contracts) are 
recognised using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Under this method, revenues and profits are recognised 
as work under the contract progresses. 

classification 
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities not 
related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-term nature, normally due within one year. 
Shares and other investments held for trading or expected to be sold within the next 12 months are classified as current assets. 
Other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets or liabilities, respectively. 

Financial instruments
The group classifies its financial instruments in one of the following categories:

•  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired primarily with a 
view of selling in the near term or it is designated by management as in this category. Financial derivatives are included in this 
category unless acquired for hedging purposes. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

•   Loans and receivables. The category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. The assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Loans and receiva-
bles are included in the consolidated balance sheet under Trade and other receivables.

•  Held-to-maturity investments. The category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
the group has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. The Group had no such investments in the financial year.

•  Avaliable-for-sale financial assets. The category includes financial assets that are designated as available for sale or which 
are not classified in any other category. Assets in this category are measured at fair value, and gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value, except for impairment losses, are recognised in equity until the asset is derecognised.

Financial liabilities not included in any of the above categories, including interest-bearing debt are measured at amortised cost.

The purchase and sale of financial instruments is recognized initially on the transaction day.  Financial assets are derecognised 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire and the group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Foreign currency and hedging
Financial instruments (monetary items and derivatives) in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate at the date of the 
balance sheet. Normally, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. In the case of hedge accounting, provided that 
the requirements related to documentation and assessment of hedge effectiveness are met, the change in fair value of both the 
hedging instrument and the hedged object will be recognised in the same period. In the case of cash flow hedges and hedges of 
net investments in foreign operations, the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in equity. 

Intangible assets, investment property and property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs. Costs 
of developing software and other intangible assets are charged to expense until all requirements for recognition as a separate 
asset are met. Costs incurred after the requirements for recognition are met, including the requirement to demonstrate probable 
future economic benefits, are recognised as an asset. Cost includes direct and indirect costs attributable to the development 
of the asset. Borrowing costs are not capitalised as part of cost of assets. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
with limited useful lives are depreciated systematically over the expected useful life. Depreciation schedules take account of 
residual values and where significant cost components with different useful lives can be identified, the asset is depreciated over 
the individual component’s expected period of use. Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Costs related 
to upgrading are recognised as cost of the asset and depreciated over remaining useful life. Environmental expenditures are 
expensed as incurred unless the measures increase capacity, productivity or the remaining useful life of the related facility. 

Investment property is reported on a separate line in the balance sheet, and is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Investment property is property that is not owner-occupied but is held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation.

An impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less selling expenses and the present value of future 
cash flows the asset is expected to generate. Impairment losses are reversed if the loss no longer exists for all property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets with the exception of goodwill where impairment losses are not reversed. 

leasing 
Leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational based on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements trans-
ferring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted are classified as financial. 
Property, plant and equipment held under financial lease agreements is recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. The present value of lease payments is included in interest-bearing debt. The debt is reduced 
by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. Other lease agreements are classified as operational and the 
annual leasing fee is charged to the income statement as a leasing expense. 
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Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. 

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost less expected losses. 

Treasury shares 
Cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset against equity. 

Pension cost 
Pension obligations related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net present value of future pension benefits earned at 
the balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions for, among others, the discount rate, expected future wage 
growth and pension adjustments. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Net pension liabilities related to under-funded plans 
are reported as non-current liabilities, while the net assets of over-funded plans are reported as non-current assets. Net pension 
expense, which is gross pension expense less the expected return on plan assets adjusted for past service cost and effects of 
changes in estimates, are included in personnel expenses. Changes in pension obligations due to amendments in pension plans 
are included in net pension expenses over the vesting period or immediately if the benefits are immediately vested. Changes 
in pension obligations and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations from the calculation assumptions, are included in net 
pension expenses over the average remaining working lives of participants for that part of the accumulated effect that exceeds 
10% of the greater of plan assets or pension liabilities. In the case of pension plans that are defined as contribution plans for 
accounting purposes, including multi-employer plans for which the participants’ share of liabilities and plan assets cannot be 
reliably measured, the premiums are charged to pension expense for the period.
 
share-based payment 
The fair value of options granted to employees, measured at grant date, is charged to expense as personnel expenses over the 
vesting period. Related social security costs, calculated on the difference between the exercise price and share price at the 
balance sheet date, are charged over the vesting period. 

Income taxes
Income tax expense is calculated from the profit (loss) before taxes and comprises current taxes and the change in deferred 
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and provided 
for all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused 
tax losses. Deferred taxes are not provided for retained earnings of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated companies. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be realised through sufficient taxable profits 
from expected future earnings. 

Restructuring costs 
Expenses related to the restructuring and reorganisations of operations are recognised when the liability is incurred. Such 
expenses are considered to be incurred when the implementation plan is adopted and announced. 

Other revenues and expenses 
Revenues and expenses included in operating profit, but being of a non-recurring nature and material in relation to business 
segments, are reported on a separate line item in the income statement. 

contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
Contingent liabilities are recognised if it is more probable than not that the liability will become effective. The best estimate of 
amounts to be paid is included in current or non-current liabilities. Other obligations, for which no liability is recognized, are dis-
closed in the notes to the financial statements. Contingent assets are not recognised, but are disclosed in notes to the financial 
statements where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement is prepared under the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other 
monetary instruments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 

IFRss and IFRIc Interpretations not yet effective
Below is a table showing new standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective at 31.12.2006. They will or may have 
effect on consolidated financial statements in later periods:
   
   Effective for periods 
New standards  commencing 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  1.1.2007 1)
IFRS 8 Operating Segments  1.1.2009  
 amendments to standards  
IFRS 4 Revised Guidance on Implementing IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts   2)
IAS 1 Amentments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements Capital Disclosures 1.1.2007 1) 
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   Effective for periods 
New Interpretations  commencing  
IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting 1.3.2006 1)
 in Hyperinflationary Economies  
IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2  1.5.2006 1)
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives  1.6.2006 1)
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment  1.11.2006 
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions  1.3.2007 
IFRIC 12 Service Consession Arrangements  1.1.2008
   
1) Adopted for use in the European Union.  
2) Applies when an entity adopts IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 

From 2007 the new standards will affect the disclosure requirements relating to financial instruments and segment reporting as 
from 2009 at the latest. 

Note 3 Significant transactions and events after the balance sheet date

Purchase and sale of businesses in 2006
On 30 June 2006 Schibsted acquired 50% of the shares in Sandrew Metronome AB. Up until acquisition the company was a 50% 
owned Joint Venture recognised using proportionate consolidation. In the second quarter of 2006 Sandrew Metronome AB sold 
its Danish and Finnish cinemas. The accounting gain is reported as Other revenues and expenses see note 5. The increased 
ownership share in Sandrew Metronome has contributed NOK 6 million to net profit in 2006.

On 14 July 2006 Schibsted acquired the Western European activities of Trader Classified Media (Schibsted International 
Classifieds). The acquisition includes 100% of Trader Classified Media in France, 100% of Editoriale Secondamano in Italy, 100% 
of Trader Classified Media in Switzerland and 77% of Anuntis Segundamano Holdings (Spanish and Latin American activities). At 
acquisition Anuntis Segundamano Holdings owned 60% of InfoJobs. All of the companies have operations within classified ads 
products online and offline. There exists put and call options related to the minority interests in Anuntis Segundamano Holdings 
and InfoJobs, see note 25. The acquired business has contributed NOK 11 million (including restructuring costs) to net profit in 
2006. The purchase price includes directly attributable costs of approximately NOK 50 million. 

During autumn 2006, Schibsted has increased its ownership in Blocket AB to 100%. The shares were acquired through a com-
bination of cash and Schibsted shares. Payment in Schibsted shares was based on the closing price on Friday December 8th, 
NOK 222.50 per share.

In December 2006 Anuntis Segundamano Holding increased its stake in InfoJobs from 60% to 93.56% by executing the existing 
option agreement (see note 25) and a subsequent share capital increase. The total consideration by Anuntis Segundamano 
Holding is EUR 12.5 million.

In addition to the above Schibsted made several smaller acquisitions in 2006. With the exception for the acquisition of Trader 
Classified Media, no material transaction costs have been accrued for the other acquisitions.
 

If all business combinations had taken place with effect from 1 January 2006 the group’s operating revenues would have increa-
sed by approximately NOK 1 018 million and net income would have decreased by approximately NOK 27 million in 2006.

Based on analyses performed, the purchase price is allocated as follows to the assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses:

   schibsted
 sandrew International
 Metronome classifieds  Blocket  Other Total
Deferred tax assets - 40 -  22 62
Other intangible assets 89 1 865 -  15 1 969
Property, plant and equipment 2 69 -  8 79
Other non-current assets (15) 13 -  (2) (4)
Current assets 130 397 -  58 585
      
Equity - (1) 69  (5) 63
Pension liabilities - - -  (5) (5)
Deferred tax liabilities (5) (580) -  1 (584)
Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings (2) (40) -  (4) (46)
Other non-current liabilities - (886) -  (3) (889)
Current liabilities (70) (410) -  (16) (496)
      
Total fair value identifiable assets and liabilities 129  467 69  69 734
      
Goodwill 19 4 068 255  102 4 444
      
Purchase price 148 4 535 324  171 5 178
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Carrying amount of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in Schibsted Classified Media at the acquisition date is assumed to 
reflect fair value, except for goodwill, other intangible assets and deferred tax liabilities for which the carrying amount was NOK 
2.526 million, NOK 799 million and NOK 211 million, respectively.

The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary as the final valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is not com-
pleted. Amounts allocated to goodwill will mainly relate to the acquired companies’ market position, work force and synergies 
with the Group’s other activities.

In connection with material acquisitions, Schibsted is using the expertise of external consultants when the valuation of assets 
and liabilities is performed.

The allocation includes the recognition of financial liabilities related to put options on the minority shareholdings in Schibsted 
International Classifieds, see note 25.

In November 2006 Schibsted sold its shares in TV2 AS to A-pressen Nasjonale Medier AS, A-pressen TV Invest AS, and Egmont 
Holding AS for NOK 1,150 million. The shares are equivalent to 33.37% of the total share capital in the company. The accounting 
gain for Schibsted was NOK 940 million and is reported as Other revenues and expenses, see note 5.

In November 2006, Schibsted sold its shares in TV4 AB to Nordic Broadcasting Oy for SEK 270 per share, total SEK 1,455 million. 
The shares are equivalent to 26.9% of the total share capital in the company. The accounting gain for Schibsted was NOK 541 
million and is reported as Other revenues and expenses, see note 5.

Schibsted’s shares in Hugin were sold in December 2006 to Euronext for EUR 4.7 million. The shares are equivalent to 25.7% of 
the total share capital in the company. The accounting gain for Schibsted was NOK 34 million and is reported as Other revenues 
and expenses, see note 5.

In October 2006 Schibsted purchased 443,754 shares in Bergens Tidende AS for NOK 472 million in total. The shares are 
equivalent to 28.5% of the total share capital in the company. Schibsted’s total holding after the purchase is 823,594 shares, 
corresponding to 52.8% of the shares.

In December 2006 Schibsted sold its shares in ABC Startsiden AS to Telenor Telecom Solutions for NOK 81 million. The shares 
are equivalent to 16.6% of the total share capital in the company. The accounting gain for Schibsted was NOK 74 million and is 
reported as Other financial income, see note 11.

In February 2006 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Sandakerveien 121 AS, sold an unused property reserve situated close to 
the printing plant in Oslo (reported as investment property in 2005) to a subsidiary of Avantor ASA. The transaction price of 
NOK 170 million gave Schibsted an accounting gain of NOK 111 million. The gain is reported as Other revenues and expenses, 
see note 5.

Purchase and sale of businesses in 2005
In 2005 Schibsted invested NOK 693 million in shares. Investments in subsidiaries were accounted for in accordance with the 
purchase method and excess values of NOK 423 million, mainly goodwill, were recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

On 24 January 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary 20 Min Holding AG, sold its 50.5 % interest in 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG 
to Express Zeitung AG, a subsidiary of Tamedia. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 200 million. Express Zeitung AG purchased 
49.5 % of the company in 2003. The sale of the remaining 50.5 % followed the agreement signed in 2003 but the sale took place 
on an earlier date than originally agreed.

In April 2005 the Spanish media group Grupo Zeta acquired 20 % of the shares in 20 Minutos España through a combination of a 
sale of shares and a share issue. The transaction gave rise to a gain of approximately NOK 68 million which has been recognised 
directly in the Group’s equity.

Pursuant to an agreement signed on 17 February 2005 Schibsted sold the Group’s printing plant in Sweden to JMS Mediasystem. 
During the summer of 2005 production of Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet was moved to Tabloidtryck. The sale involved 
write-downs of plant and equipment of NOK 303 million, which were charged to the financial statements for 2004. Costs relating 
to demanning and the relocation of production of NOK 81 million were charged to the financial statements for 2005. 

In March 2005 Schibsted sold 100 % of the shares in Schibsted Mobile AS to Aspiro AB with settlement in newly issued shares 
in Aspiro AB. Following the transaction Schibsted held 44.5% of the shares in Aspiro. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 88 
million.

Schibsted sold 100% of the shares in Bokkilden AS in November 2005. The sale gave rise to a gain of NOK 11 million.

In 2005 Sandrew Metronome sold its cinema business in Sweden. In addition the distribution cooperation with Warner Home 
Video was modified leading to a significant reduction in the operating revenues of this joint venture.

The Swedish part of the business of the Scanpix group was reorganised in 2005 through a merger of the businesses of Scanpix 
Sverige and Pressens Bild and the establishment of a joint venture owned 50% by Schibsted and 50% by Bonnier. The reorgani-
sation gave rise to a gain of NOK 6 million relating to the sale of Scanpix Sverige and created goodwill of NOK 13 million relating 
to the purchase of Pressens Bild.
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In the first quarter of 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Aftonbladet Hierta AB, acquired 95 % of the shares in TA Teleadress 
Information Holding AB, which, among other things, operates the number information service www.hitta.se. 

In the fourth quarter of 2005 Schibsted, through its subsidiary Schibsted Søk AS, acquired 100 % of the shares in 
Internettkatalogen AS which operates an online yellowpages database. The final purchase price is based on the company’s 
results for 2005. The estimated purchase price used in the allocation of the purchase price to assets and liabilities was therefore 
changed in 2006. 

Schibsted acquired 59.1% of the shares in Basefarm AS in the fourth quarter of 2005. Together with holdings acquired in previous 
years the Group’s interest in Basefarm is 73.58%. Basefarm AS is a leading participant in the provision of Internet, application 
and server operating services in the Nordic region.

In the fourth quarter of 2005 Schibsted acquired 100% of the shares in Mera AB which operates a dating service in Norway and 
Sweden.

During 2005 Schibsted invested NOK 194 million in the Swedish company TV4 AB, through, among other things, the exercise of 
an option agreement signed in 2004 to acquire 5.9%. Schibsted thereby increased its holding from 20.1% to 26.9%.

In addition to the above Schibsted made several smaller acquisitions in 2005.

If all acquisitions had taken place with effect from 1 January 2005 the Group’s operating revenues would have increased by 
approximately NOK 123 million and net income would have increased by approximately NOK 10 million.

Purchase and sale of businesses in 2004
In 2004 Schibsted invested NOK 1 130 million in shares. Investments in subsidiaries were accounted for in accordance with the 
purchase method and excess values of NOK 424 million, mainly goodwill, were recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

In March 2004 Schibsted increased its holding in 20 Min Holding AG from 41.5 % to 98.7 %. The agreement was entered into by 
Schibsted, Apax Funds and a group of Swiss investors. Schibsted’s purchase of shares and loans from Apax Funds and the Swiss 
investors involved an investment of EUR 50 million. At the end of 2004 Schibsted’s holding in 20 Min Holding AG was 100 %.
 

In spring 2004 20 Min Holding AG exercised an option to acquire approximately 30 % of the shares in Multiprensa Holding SL, 
the parent company of the business of 20 Minutes in Spain. The exercise involved an investment of EUR 7.5 million financed 
by Schibsted.

In April 2004 Schibsted acquired, through the subsidiaries Aftenposten AS and Schibsted Multimedia AS, 100 % of the shares in 
the media monitoring company Retriever AB for SEK 48 million. 

On 28 May 2004 the owners of BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB signed an agreement to sell the company to Ticketmaster for SEK 225 
million. Schibsted’s holding in BiljettDirekt Ticnet was 34 %. The sale gave Schibsted a gain of NOK 46 million.

In June 2004 Aftonbladet Hierta AB and FINN.no AS increased Schibsteds ownership share by  36.8% through acquisition of 
shares in Byt Bil Nordic AB for SEK 28 million. The Group’s interest in the company following the transaction was 92 %.

During 2004 Schibsted invested NOK 540 million in the Swedish TV 4 AB and had at the end of 2004 a holding of 20.1%. The 
interest has been accounted for as an associated company. Schibsted ASA also entered into an option agreement to purchase 
a further 5.9 % of the share capital in TV4 AB.

EVENTs aFTER THE BalaNcE sHEET DaTE

Media Norge
During autumn 2006, there have been negotiations between the regional newspapers Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, 
Fædrelandsvennen and Stavanger Aftenblad regarding a possible integration on the owner side, named Media Norge. The ambi-
tion is to form a leading media group listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The General Meetings in all media houses have decided 
in favour of the Media Norge merger.

The shareholders of the media houses will receive merger consideration in the form of shares of Media Norge ASA, based 
on the following exchange ratio: Aftenposten AS - 47.61%, Bergens Tidende AS - 21.37%, Fædrelandsvennen AS and 
Fædrelandsvennens Trykkeri AS - 10.82% (consolidated) and Stavanger Aftenblad ASA - 20.20%. In addition, the shareholder of 
Aftenposten AS, Schibsted ASA, will receive NOK 700 million by way of merger consideration. Schibsted has owner stakes in 
all the media houses.
 

The mergers will leave Schibsted ASA with a 68.33% ownership stake in Media Norge, but Schibsted ASA has undertaken to 
reduce its ownership stake to 50.1% by way of a secondary sale, whereby the shareholders of the media houses shall hold pre-
emptive rights to purchase up to 25% of the shares at a price corresponding to 90% of the price determined in respect of the 
other investors under the secondary sale.
 

It is a prerequisite for the implementation of the mergers that neither the Norwegian Competition Authority nor the Norwegian 
Media Authority render any decisions that imply prohibition of the mergers or the imposition of materially burdensome condi-
tions.
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Merger
On 20 February Schibsted and SPIR Communications have entered into an agreement to merge parts of the French operations of 
Schibsted International Classifieds (former Trader Classified Media) with the French online car portal Caradisiac owned by SPIR. 
Closing of the agreement is dependent upon the approval of French competition authorities. The merged entity will be owned 
50% by Schibsted and 50% by SPIR. 

Put option
Schibsted has on 28 February entered into an agreement with Montrica Global Opportunities Master Fund, giving them the right 
to sell up to 1,446,209 shares in Stavanger Aftenblad to Schibsted for NOK 250 per share.
 

According to the new agreement, the right to sell can be exercised from the third business day prior to expiration date and until 
the expiration date, 1 May 2008. Until 1 April 2008, Schibsted has the opportunity to determine that the expiration date shall 
be 1 May 2009. In this case, the right can be exercised from the third working day prior to the new expiration date and on the 
new expiration date. In this case the strike price will be NOK 278 per share. If Media Norge is established prior to the date on 
which the option may be exercised, the right applies for a number of Media Norge shares. The number of shares and the price is 
calculated based on the exchange ratio in the merger. To fulfil the obligations in the merger plan relating to Schibsted holding a 
maximum of 50.1% of the shares in Media Norge, Schibsted will need to procure that the shares are sold to a third party.
 

Schibsted currently holds 2,368,640 shares in Stavanger Aftenblad, corresponding to 32.3% of the shares and votes. If the right 
to sell is fully exercised by Montrica and Media Norge is not established, Schibsted will own a total of 3,814,849 shares, equal-
ling 52.1% of the shares and votes.

sale of joint venture
In 2006, both Scanpix Scandinavia and Bonnier each sold 20% of their shares in their joint venture Scanpix Sweden to 
Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå AB (TT). At the same time TT gained a right, but no obligation, to purchase the final 60% of the shares 
in the company for SEK 75 million. The right could be executed from the time of signing the agreement and until 15 days after 
the preliminary annual accounts for 2006 was published. This option is fully executed in February 2007. The final divestment 
gave an accounting gain of NOK 21 million.

sale of property
Schibsted has in March 2007 accepted an offer from Aberdeen Property Investors Norway AS, on behalf of a client, concerning 
the sale of an office building in Apotekergaten 10 in Oslo for NOK 334 million. The accounting gain for Schibsted will be slightly 
lower than NOK 200 million. Schibsted will enter into a lease agreement for seven years with the option to extend the agreement 
for five plus five years.

Note 4 Use of estimates

In many areas the consolidated accounts are affected by estimates. Important areas in which the use of estimates has significant 
effect on carrying amounts and thus involve a risk of changes that could affect results in future periods are described below.

The valuation of intangible assets in connection with acquisitions and the testing of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets for impairment (see Note 13 Intangible assets, investment property and property, plant and equipment) will largely be 
based on estimated future cash flows. Correspondingly the expected useful lives and residual values included in the calculation 
of depreciation will be based on estimates. The Group has activities within established media, but is also active in establishing 
positions at an early point in time in new media channels both through acquisitions and its own start-ups. Estimates related to 
future cash flows and the determination of discount rates to calculate present values must be based on management’s expec-
tations on market developments, the competitive situation, technological developments, the ability to realise synergies, interest 
rate levels and other relevant factors. Such estimates will involve uncertainty, and management’s view, and the actual develop-
ment in the matters referred to, may change over time. Changes in management’s opinion and actual developments may lead to 
impairment losses in future periods. The risk of changes that affect the financial statements will naturally be higher in markets 
in an early phase and be more limited in established markets.

Intangible assets that are not amortised are tested annually for impairment. Other assets are tested for impairment if there 
are indications that an asset is impaired. Such indications will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive 
situation and technological developments. In the same way depreciation and amortisation schedules and any residual values 
are reviewed periodically. 

Accounting for pension liabilities (see Note 24 Pension plans) requires that financial assumptions relating, among others to the 
discount rate, expected salary increases, and expected increases in pensions and social security base are determined. Changes 
in unrecognised actuarial gains or losses from changes in assumptions affect the fair value of pension liabilities, but will affect 
the consolidated income statement through amortisation only when accumulated actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the 
higher of pension liabilities and plan assets.

Financial instruments are measured at fair value. When no quoted market price is available, fair value is established using dif-
ferent valuation techniques.

Net present value of future acquisition price related to the minorities put options on shares in subsidiaries are recogniced as long 
term debt, see note 25. The liabilities are recognised using estimated value, and the estimate can be changed in future periods 
as the pricing is dependent upon future fair value and / or future results. 
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Note 5 Other revenues and expenses

Operating revenues and expenses that are of a non-recurring nature and are of material importance to the business segments 
are separated from other ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in the income statement. 
Other revenues and expenses include:

 2006 2005 2004
Restructuring costs Norway (77) - (91)
Restructuring costs Sweden (14) (93) (303)
Restructuring costs International (40) - -
Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property 111 - -
Gains on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies 1 536 305 46
Impairment loss intangible assets - (8) -
Other costs (24) (20) -
Total 1 492 184 (348)

2006
Restructuring costs in Norway of NOK 77 million is linked to the downsizing programme in VG AS that was implemented in 2006. 
The cost relate to demanning (voluntarily and through Agreement-based pension, AFP). 

In Sweden the restructuring costs relate to Metronome Film & Television AB and their restructuring including change in mana-
gement.

Restructuring costs International relate to restructuring after the purchase of the companies within Schibsted International 
Classifieds.

In the first quarter of 2006, Schibsted sold an unused property reserve close to the printing plant in Oslo. The sales price was 
NOK 170 million, which gave rise to an accounting gain of NOK 111 million.

Gains on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies relate to accounting gains made on sale of Schibsted’s ownership in 
TV 2 AS (NOK 940 million), TV4 AB (NOK 541 million), Hugin AS (NOK 34 million) and Cesam ANS (NOK 7 million).  In addition, 
Sandrew Metronome AB sold its Danish and Finnish cinemas. The sale gave rise to an accounting gain of NOK 14 million.

Of other costs totalling NOK 24 million, NOK 16 million relate to the settlement in the dispute with graphic workers in VG, see 
note 24. Other costs of NOK 8 million represents an accrual in connection with a legal dispute regarding the Group’s earlier 
activities in Switzerland, see note 25.

2005
Restructuring costs in Sweden in 2005 relate to costs in connection with the demanning, relocation and sale of Tidningstryckarna 
of NOK 81 million (see comments under 2004 for further costs relating to this), restructuring of Scanpix Sverige AB and Pressens 
Bild AB in connection with the merger of the companies of NOK 8 million and restructuring of Teleadress Information AB of NOK 
4 million.

The financial statements for 2005 include a gain on the sale of 20 Min Switzerland of NOK 200 million, a gain on the sale of 
Schibsted Mobile in exchange for Aspiro shares of NOK 88 million, a gain on the sale of 50 % of Scanpix Sverige AB in exchange 
for 50 % of Pressens Bild AB of NOK 6 million and a gain on the sale of Bokkilden AS of NOK 11 million.

The write-down of intangible assets relates partly to the write-down of the film library in the jointly controlled business Sandrew 
Metronome of NOK 6 million and partly to the write-down of an ERP system in the same group of NOK 2 million.

Other costs include NOK 11 million relating to the dispute between Verdens Gang AS and the Union of Graphic Workers at 
Verdens Gang AS. Pension expense recognized in 2005 related to past service cost is included in other costs.  In addition, pro-
vision for early retirement pensions of NOK 9 million which relates to a provision for 16 persons in VG who have retired with an 
early retirement pension and a gratuity pension is included in other costs.

2004
The financial statements for 2004 took into account the agreement entered into to sell the printing works in Sweden in the first 
half of 2005. Impairment losses of SEK 321 million were recognised, SEK 310 million from property, plant and equipment and 
SEK 11 million from spare parts. Including sales costs incurred, the sale of the printing works involved a charge in the financial 
statements for 2004 of SEK 329 million (NOK 303 million).

In the spring of 2004 the Board of Aftenposten AS approved an improvement programme for the period 2005-08. The pro-
gramme has an annual effect of NOK 180 million. The programme includes product changes, further headcount reductions, as 
well as new sources of income. 

Restructuring costs in Aftenposten AS involved a charge to income in 2004 of NOK 73 million, restructuring in Schibsted Trykk 
involved a charge of NOK 14 million and other restructuring costs involved a charge to income of NOK 4 million. 

Gains on the sale of subsidiaries and associated companies of NOK 46 million relate to the sale of Schibsted’s 34 % interest in 
the associated company BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB.
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Note 6 Segment information 

As a result of the Group’s vision work in 2005, changes have been implemented in the Group management. The executive vice 
presidents’ areas of responsibility have been changed from business based to geographically based, with the main divisions into 
Norway, Sweden and International. This change means that previously reported business areas have been split up, based on their 
geographical location, and assigned to the business areas Norway, Sweden and International. The division is in accordance with 
the Group’s organisation and internal management reporting. Figures for 2005 and 2004 have been restated. 

The operations of the business areas are mainly carried out through separate companies within each business segment and the 
allocation of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments is based on the financial statements for these companies. 
All transactions between business areas are made on normal commercial terms. 

Norway includes the Aftenposten and VG media houses, the publishing companies, the search engines Sesam and 
Internettkatalogen , TV 2 and common functions. Sweden includes the Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet media houses, the 
TV/Film operations Metronome Film & Television, Sandrew Metronome and TV4, and the mobile contents operations, Aspiro. 
International includes the operations in the Baltic Region, 20 Minutes and the international search and classified ads online 
operations. 

There are no significant differences between the allocation of operating revenues based on the location of group companies and 
a breakdown based on the customers’ location.

Financial statement items allocated to business segments are shown below:

     Elimina- schibsted
2006 Norway sweden International tions Group
Subscription revenues 674 364 83 - 1 121
Casual sales revenues 1 337 1 314 165 - 2 816
Advertising revenues 2 488 1 344 1 309 - 5 141
Other revenues 829 1 572 169 - 2 570
Total external revenues 5 328 4 594 1 726 - 11 648
Internal revenues 23 32 9 (64) -
Operating revenues 5 351 4 626 1 735 (64) 11 648
Operating expenses (4 661) (4 185) (1 593) 64 (10 375)
Depreciation and amortisation (244) (102) (93)  (439)
Income from associated companies 87 91 1 - 179
Impairment loss goodwill - - (10) - (10)
Other revenues and expenses 999 541 (48) - 1 492
Operating profit (loss) 1 532 971 (8) - 2 495

Assets 10 886 3 362 7 622 (5 321) 16 549
Of which investments in associated companies 937 224 3 - 1 164
Liabilities (8 087) (1 274) (7 340) 5 321 (11 380)
Investments in intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment 254 162 82  498
 

      Elimina- schibsted
2005 Norway sweden International tions Group
Subscription revenues 658 341 74 - 1 073
Casual sales revenues 1 348 1 245 43 - 2 636
Advertising revenues 2 195 1 045 534 - 3 774
Other revenues 726 1 494 129 - 2 349
Total external revenues 4 927 4 125 780 - 9 832
Internal revenues 14 25 11 (50) -
Operating revenues 4 941 4 150 791 (50) 9 832
Operating expenses (4 234) (3 729) (796) 50 (8 709)
Depreciation and amortisation (214) (110) (20) - (344)
Income from associated companies 138 59 1 - 198
Other revenues and expenses 79 (95) 200 - 184
Operating profit (loss) 710 275 176 - 1 161
     
Assets 4 403 3 276 841 (585) 7 935
Of which investments in associated companies 674 908 2 - 1 584
Liabilities (3 719) (1 003) (577) 585 (4 714)
Investments in intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment 229 92 42 - 363
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    Elimina- schibsted
2004 Norway sweden International tions Group
Subscription revenues 602 337 71 - 1 010
Casual sales revenues 1 327 1 357 32 - 2 716
Advertising revenues 1 836 899 693 - 3 428
Other revenues 860 1 579 97 - 2 536
Total external revenues 4 625 4 172 893 - 9 690
Internal revenues 14 28 7 (49) -
Operating revenues 4 639 4 200 900 (49) 9 690
Operating expenses (3 967) (3 759) (781) 49 (8 458)
Depreciation and amortisation (210) (144) (22) - (376)
Income from associated companies 135 (41) (10)  84
Impairment loss goodwill - (78) - - (78)
Other revenues and expenses (91) (257) - - (348)
Operating profit (loss) 506 (79) 87 - 514
     
Assets 4 929 2 976 960 (1 450) 7 415
Of which investments in associated companies 658 542 2 - 1 202
Liabilities (3 835) (1 505) (1 094) 1 450 (4 984)
Investments in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment 101 94 20 - 215

secondary reporting format for segments 
Shown below is a breakdown of the Group’s operating revenues, assets and investments based on the previous reporting format 
for the Group; Newspaper, TV/Film, publishing, Baltic and other operations. Schibsted International Classifieds that was acqui-
red in 2006, is presented separately. 

Operating revenues  2006 2005 2004
Newspaper   8 654 7 819 7 487
TV/Film   1 240 1 168 1 282
Publishing   377 356 344
Baltic    500 388 327
International Classified   709  -
Other operations   369 271 412
Eliminations   (201) (170) (162)
Total 11 648 9 832 9 690

Operating revenues include government grants (press subsidies Sweden) totalling NOK 57 million in 2006, NOK 56 million in 
2005 and NOK 60 million in 2004. In addition barter agreements are included with NOK 60 million in 2006, NOK 70 million in 
2005 and NOK 50 million in 2004.

assets  2006 2005 2004
Newspaper   8 304 7 253 7 147
TV/Film   1 746 1 609 1 008
Publishing   304 279 289
Baltic    386 286 240
International Classified   7 656 - -
Other operations   3 285 4 503 4 539
Eliminations   (5 132) (5 995) (5 808)
Total 16 549 7 935 7 415

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  2006 2005 2004
Newspaper   224 234 122
TV/Film   96 61 71
Publishing   3 4 2
Baltic    54 26 10
International Classified   19 - -
Other operations   102 38 10
Total   498 363 215

Note 7 Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods consist of:
 2006 2005 2004
Raw materials and purchased goods  1 201 1 060 984
TV / Film production expenses 925 848 910
Total  2 126 1 908 1 894
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Note 8 The Board of Directors’ declaration of determination of salaries and other benefits for 
senior Group executives 

In November 2006 Schibsted sold its shares in TV2 AS to A-pressen Nasjonale Medier AS, A-pressen TV Invest AS, and In 
accordance with the new provisions in Section 6-16 a of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act (cf. Section 5-6, third 
paragraph), the Board of Directors has prepared a declaration describing the main principles for determination of salaries and 
other benefits for Group managers. The same principles also apply to other senior employees in the Schibsted Group. 

In keeping with the new legislative requirements, the Board of Directors will present the following declaration at the Annual 
General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2007 for the shareholders ‘consideration, treatment and vote: 

“Schibsteds managers and employees are our most important resource and it is important that the Group offers competitive 
conditions so that we both attract skilled employees and are able to keep them within the Group.

Since 2004, the Board of Directors has had a Compensation Committee that prepares issues for the Board of Directors pertai-
ning to salaries and other compensation for senior managers in the Group. On this basis, the Board of Directors has adopted 
guidelines regarding pay for the Group’s senior executives: 

salaries and directors’ fees: 
The salary developments for senior managers in the Group, are developing accordingly to a moderate norm. From 2005 to 2006, 
the fixed salary for the Group management rose by a little under 4 %. Senior managers will not receive directors’ fees for board 
appointments they undertake as part of their work for Schibsted. 

Bonus: 
Schibsted’s Group management has a bonus programme linked to achievement of defined targets. Bonus payments for CEO and 
Executive Vice Presidents are limited to maximum six months’ salary. The bonus consists of two parts: one linked to financial 
targets and one linked to strategic aspects. The bonus criteria for 2006 and the bonuses paid to the Group management for 
2005 are detailed in the overview in note 9 of the accounts. 

severance pay: 
The Chief Executive Officer is entitled to severance pay corresponding to 24 months’ salary after a period of notice of six months. 
If other pay or remuneration for work is received during the last 12 months of the severance pay period, severance pay will be 
reduced by a corresponding amount. Pay after termination of employment for Group Executive Vice Presidents corresponds to 
18 months’ salary after a period of notice of six months. 

The chairman of the Board of Directors does not have any special severance pay schemes. 

Terms and conditions for the chief Executive Officer: 
The terms and conditions for the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, including appointment, early retirement and retirement 
pension, were renegotiated in 2006. The Chief Executive Officer of the Group is entitled, and if Schibsted so demands, obliged 
to resign at the age of 62. Full annual early retirement pension constitutes 66 % of the gross fixed salary. The retirement pen-
sion scheme entails that from the age of 67, the Chief Executive Officer receives a retirement pension for life which, with full 
accumulation of pension rights (30 years), constitutes 66 % of the salary received as Chief Executive Officer. Disability pension 
is 66 % of the salary. Surviving spouse’s / civil partner’s pension is 60 % of the retirement pension, and surviving child’s pension 
is 15 % of the retirement pension. 

Early retirement pension for senior managers: 
The Group Management in Norway and the managing directors and editors-in-chief in VG and Aftenposten previously had early 
retirement pension plans allowing them to retire at the age of 65 with an early retirement pension constituting 90% of former 
salary. To allow both parties greater flexibility, the early retirement pension schemes for the Group management and other senior 
managers in Norway were renegotiated in 2006. The new agreements are now in force and grant managers the right and, if 
Schibsted so demands, the duty to resign at the age of 62. If both parties agree, retirement may also be taken at the age of 60. In 
the period until the ordinary retirement age (67), managers will receive a pension of 66 % of their salary. This amount is reduced 
if the retiree has worked less than ten years. The right to receive early retirement pension lapses if the manager resigns from 
his/her job or is dismissed by the company due to gross breach of contract / grounds for summary dismissal. Early retirement 
pension is unfunded and is paid directly by the company. This change entailed a one-off expense in 2006 of NOK 7 million and 
will increase future pension costs by NOK 1 million per year. 

Schibsted’s Swedish Executive Vice Presidents has an insured defined contribution pension plan in Sweden, which will guarantee 
him a pension similar to those received by the Norwegian executive vice presidents from the age of 62. 

Retirement pension for the Group management: 
The Group management in Norway is covered by the Group’s collective pension scheme (see note 24). Until the beginning of 
2007, they also had an insured pension scheme that with full accumulation of pension rights guaranteed them 66 % of their 
salary. Because of new tax rules, this scheme was discontinued at the end of 2006. During the course of 2007, alternative solu-
tions will be established to replace the former insured scheme. Disability pension is 66 % of the salary. Surviving spouse’s / civil 
partner’s pension is 60 % of the retirement pension, and surviving child’s pension is 15 % of the retirement pension. 
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Early retirement pension for future managers: 
The manager and Schibsted will have a reciprocal right to demand early retirement at the age of 62. An early retirement pension 
of 66 % of the salary will only be paid if the manager has accumulated pension rights until the age of 62. New managers will take 
accumulated early retirement pension rights with them when they leave. 

Pension schemes for swedish senior managers: 
The Board of Directors regards the current pension schemes in Sweden for Swedish senior managers in subsidiaries to be 
adapted to suit the market, and no changes have been made to them in 2006. The agreements are for the most part defined 
contribution schemes, and the retirement age is 62 for all managers. The current practice will be continued with a number of 
guidelines concerning determination of the contribution rates on the basis on age and salary. 

Pension schemes for senior managers outside Norway and sweden: 
The pension level and solutions for other managers must be seen in connection with the individual manager’s overall terms and 
conditions of pay and the package agreed on appointment, and must be comparable with the total solution for managers in 
Norway and Sweden. Local rules linked to pension legislation, social security rights, tax, etc. must be taken into account when 
designing the individual pension agreements. 

loans for Group managers:
There is an established loan facility for Group managers and other senior executives in the Group allowing them to borrow up 
to NOK 400 000 – 800 000, depending on their position. The borrower’s home up to 100 % of the approved market value is 
used as security. Schibsted ASA has also established a personal guarantee for the total loan portfolio. Loans are exempt from 
repayment, and interest and costs are paid quarterly. Interest rates are set by Schibsted ASA and at the end of 2006 were 2.5 % 
(i.e. 1 % less than the current standard rate for taxation of fringe benefits stipulated in the Fiscal Budget). If the borrower leaves 
the company or retires, the loan automatically falls due for payment one month after the date of termination of employment. 
This loan facility is going to be phased out. 

share-based compensation: 
Since 2000, Schibsted has had a stock option programme linked to shares in Schibsted for Chief Executive officer, Executive 
Vice Presidents and Managing Directors and Chief Editors in key subsidiaries. The purpose of the stock option programme is 
to contribute to increased ownership by the Schibsted management and thus to the management and shareholders having the 
same interests through ownership in the share. The options accumulate by equal parts (1/3) over a three-year period. When 
options are exercised, there is a duty to reinvest until a certain minimum ownership in Schibsted shares is achieved. For the CEO, 
this comprises an ownership requirement equivalent to two years’ salary, while it equals a requirement of one year’s salary for 
the executive vice presidents and six months’ salary for other managers covered by the programme. Until the minimum require-
ment is met, up to 50 % of the profit after tax on exercised options must be reinvested in Schibsted shares. The redemption price 
is set on the basis of the average market price one week before and one week after publication of the company’s figures for the 
first quarter of the allotment year. Redemption time is two years. Non-exercised options are lost when the manager leaves the 
company, and exercised options must be redeemed within a short time limit after termination of employment.

use of incentive schemes in the Group’s subsidiaries: 
Guidelines have been laid down regarding the use of incentive schemes in the Group’s subsidiaries other than traditional bonus 
schemes. Typically these will be concrete, share-based option schemes or bonus schemes linked to growth in the company over 
time. The Board of Directors believes there may be a need to be able to offer various incentive schemes to senior managers in 
important subsidiaries in addition to traditional bonus schemes, in order to ensure long-term value adding and innovation and 
to retain key managers.” 
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Note 9 Personnel expenses and share-based payment

Personnel expenses consist of:
 2006 2005 2004
Salaries and wages 2 705 2 185 2 119
Social security costs 562 436 424
Net pension expense (note 24) 241 211 186
Share-based payment 4 3 1
Other personnel expenses 147 126 101
Total 3 659 2 961 2 831
   
Number of man-years 7 220 5 226 5 276

Details of salary, bonus and other benefits provided to group management and board of directors in 2006 (in NOK 1,000): 

Name : salary incl. Bonus Other Pension Total loan
  holiday pay (paid 2006) benefits cost remuneration outstanding 
Kjell Aamot  2 805 975 3 472 890 8 142 800
Trond Berger 1 956 682 1 796 744 5 178 800
Jan Erik Knarbakk 1 732 608 2 842 569 5 751 -
Birger Magnus 2 219 731 1 790 821 5 561 -
Sverre Munck 1 838 638 1 760 719 4 955 390
Gunnar Strömblad 3 043 707 136 1 992 5 878 -

Gain on options exercised represents the major part of other benefits.  

The effect on this year’s income due to the change of the early retirement pensions for the Group management is not included 
in the pension costs above, and is approximately NOK 7 million. The cost is approx. NOK 2.6 million related to CEO and the rest 
is divided approx. equally between the other members of Group management living in Norway.

Bonus
Schibsted’s Group management has a bonus programme that is linked to the achievement of targets. The bonus for the 2006 
accounting year is calculated and paid in April 2007. The main elements in the bonus scheme for 2006 are as follows:

•  Bonus payments are limited to a maximum of six months’ salary.
•   The bonus is divided into two parts, with one related to financial targets and one to strategic themes. 
•   The financial criteria of the bonus should normally represent 2/3rds of the total bonus. 
•  The remaining 1/3rd is linked to one or more targets within selected strategic areas. 

     Board remune- 
 Board commitees    ration from Total 
 remune- remune- Pension Other other Group remune-  
 ration*) ration cost benefits companies ration
Members of the Boards 
and committees      
Ole Jacob Sunde, chairman of the 
Board and the Compensation 
Committee  367 50 - 7 105 529
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, deputy 
chairman of the Board and 
member of the Election Committee 97 30 2 231 107 - 2 465
Monica Caneman, member of 
the Board and the Compensation 
Committee 150 30 - - 70 250
Cato A. Holmsen, member of 
the Board 100 - - 3 70 173
Christian Ringnes, member of 
the Board 100 - - - - 100
Alexandra Bech Gjørv, member of
the Board and the Compensation
Committee 97 30 - - - 127
Eva Lindqvist, member of the Board 75 - - - - 75
Hilde Harbo, empl. repr. in the Board  150 - - - - 150
Berit Bjerg, empl. repr. in the Board 100 - - - - 100
Gunn Inger Aasen, empl. repr. 
in the Board      0
Roger Hollund, empl. repr. in the Board 20 - - - - 20
John A. Rein, deputy member of the Board 20 - - - 65 85
Karl-Christian Agerup, deputy member 
of the Board 40 - - - 44 84
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     Board remune- 
 Board commitees    ration from Total 
 remune- remune- Pension Other other Group remune-  
 ration*) ration cost benefits companies ration
Members of the Boards 
and committees 
Audun Solberg, deputy empl. repr. 
in the Board with the right to 
attend meetings 100 - - - - 100
Frank Johansen, deputy empl. repr.
 in the Board 20 - - - - 20
Håkon Letvik,  deputy empl. 
repr. in the Board 20 - - - - 20
Øystein Simensen, deputy 
empl. repr. in the Board 20 - - - - 20
Lars A. Christensen, chairman 
of the Election Committee - 50 - - - 50
Gunn Wærstad, member of
 the Election Committee - 30 - - - 30
Rune Selmar, 
member of the Election Committee - 15 - - - 15

Former members :   
Finn E. Steen, member of the Board 93 - - - - 93
Grete Faremo, member of the Board 60 - - 3 - 63
Gunnar Nordby, empl. 
repr. in the Board 100 - - - - 100
Håkon Olav Kjernsmo, deputy
 empl. repr. in the Board 10 - - - - 10

Total 1 739 235 2 231 120 354 4 679

’) 20% of the Board remunerations is linked to attendance.

auditor
Fees to the Group’s auditors for the 2006 accounting year were as follows:

 Tax Other
 audit Other advisory non-audit
(NOK 1 000 excl VaT) services attest services services services Total
schibsted Group   
Ernst & Young AS 5 859 186 185 520 6 750
Other auditors 6 497 483 880 1 844 9 704
Total 12 356 669 1 065 2 364 16 454
     
schibsted asa   
Ernst & Young AS  800 50 172 283 1 305

In connection with the acquisition of Trader Classified Media, Ernst & Young France has preformed services for an amount equal 
to NOK 6.5 million.

share-based payment 
Schibsteds option programme today includes the Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice Presidents, and Managing Director and 
Chief Editors of Aftenposten, VG, Svenska Dagbladet and Aftonbladet. In addition the Managing Director of Metronome Film & 
Television AB is included, but the options were not awarded until February 2007. 

The development in the number of options outstanding has been as follows:

  2006 2005 2004 
Outstanding 1 January 536 250 378 750  360 000
Granted 165 000 157 500  138 750
Excercised (135 000)  - (120 000)
Outstanding 31 December 566 250 536 250  378 750
     
Of which fully vested 403 750 385 000  246 250
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Outstanding options as at 31 December 2006 had the following terms:
  Excercise Number
Expiry date  price (NOK) of options
31 December 2007  98.00  105 000 
31 December 2008  120.00  138 750 
31 December 2009  151.30  157 500 
31 December 2010  179.40 165 000
    
Total exercise price for options exercised in 2006 was NOK 12.6 million. The fair value of the shares at the time of execution was 
NOK 26.5 million. In 2005 there were no options exercised, while options granted in 2001 was execised in 2004.  

Below is presented options granted and options outstanding for managers included in the option programme:

 Opening awarded Exercised average Ending averege average
 balance 2006 2006 exercise balance exercise maturity
 1.1.2006   price a 31.12.2006 price B
Kjell Aamot 120 000 30 000 30 000 93.00 120 000 137.00 2.5
Trond Berger 60 000  15 000 15 000 93.00 60 000 137.00 2.5
Jan Erik Knarbakk 60 000  15 000 30 000  95.50 45 000 150.00 3.0
Birger Magnus 60 000 15 000 15 000 93.00 60 000 137.00 2.5
Sverre Munck 60 000 15 000 15 000 93.00 60 000 137.00  2.5
Gunnar Strømblad 15 000 15 000 - - 30 000 158.00 3.3
Olav Mugaas  30 000 7 500 7 500 93.00 30 000 137.00 2.5
Bernt Olufsen 30 000 7 500 7 500 93.00 30 000 137.00 2.5
Hans Erik Matre 15 000 7 500 - - 22 500 150.00 3.0
Lena K. Samuelson 15 000 7 500 -  - 22 500 150.00 3.0
Aslak Ona 30 000 - 7 500 93.00 22 500 123.00 2.0
Rolv Erik Ryssdal 7 500 7 500 - - 15 000 165.00 3.5
Carl Gyllfors 7 500 7 500 -  - 15 000 165.00 3.5
Anders Gerdin 7 500 7 500 - - 15 000 165.00 3.5
Einar Hanseid 15 000 - 7 500 93.00 7 500 98.00 1.0
Torry Pedersen 3 750 - - - 3 750 120.00 2.0
Raoul Grünthal - 7 500 - - 7 500 179.40 4.0
Total 536 250 165 000 135 000  566 250  

A: average exercise price for options exercised during the year 
B: average exercise price for options in stock at the end of the year

Determination of fair value of options
The fair value of options granted in the period is calculated using the Black-Scholes’ model for option pricing. The fair value in 
2006 is calculated at NOK 5.8 million (2005: NOK 4.8 million and 2004: NOK 2.3 million).

Several factors have been used in the pricing model that affects the fair value of options granted. The following assumptions 
have been used in the calculation:
 2006 2005 2004
Price on award 179.4 151.3 1) 120
Exercise price 179.4 151.3 120
Option’s duration 4 years 4 years 3 years
Risk-free interest rate 4.0 % 3.5 % 3.1 %
Volatility 30% 30 % 25 %

1) The grant of options to the management in Aftonbladet took place in September 2005 when the share price was NOK 181.

Volatility is a statistical measure of price fluctuations and thus describes the probability that an option in the underlying share will 
have a value. Expected volatility is measured as standard deviation on the share’s daily returns for the last three years. 

Employees in the Group are given the opportunity each year to buy shares to value of NOK 7,500 at a 20% discount through 
Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme.
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Note 10 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses include:
 2006 2005 2004
Distribution 916 918 907
Commissions 791 695 724
Rent, maintenance, office expenses and energy 396 339 345
PR, advertising and campaigns 512 429 375
Printing contracts 585 372 354
Editorial material 272 217 226
Professional fees 379 271 246
Travelling expenses 167 138 123
Other operating expenses 572 461 433
Total 4 590 3 840 3 733

Note 11 Financial items

Financial income and financial expenses consist of:
 2006 2005 2004
Interest income 38 17 21
Net foreign exchange gains  - 4 4
Gain on the sale of shares 78 61 12
Dividends received 7 9 5
Reversal impairment losses - - 5
Other financial income 1 3 2
Total financial income 124 94 49
   
Interest expenses (185) (68) (76)
Net foreign exchange losses (1) - -
Impairment loss investments available for sale (8) (1) -
Other financial expenses (12) (9) (11)
Total financial expenses (206) (78) (87)

Note 12 Taxes

The Group’s income tax charge comprises the following:
 2006 2005 2004
Current income taxes 142 227 215
Deferred income taxes (5) 21 (51)
Effect of hedge accounting foreign currency 51 (18) (1)
Taxes 188 230 163

The Group’s effective tax rate differs from the nominal tax rate in countries where the Group has operations. The Group’s effec-
tive tax rate is arrived at as follows: 

 2006 2005 2004

Profit before taxes 2 413  1 177  476 
      
Estimated tax charge based 
on nominal tax rate in Norway 676 28.0 % 330 28.0% 133 28.0%
Tax effect income associated 
companies (50) (2.1%) (56) (4.7%) (36) (7.6%)
Tax effect other permanent 
differences  (426) (17.6%) (68) (5.8%) 30 6.3%
Change in unrecognised 
deferred tax assets (13) (0.5%) 31 2.6% 23 4.8%
Change in tax legislation - - - - 16 3.3%
Effect of tax rate differential abroad  1  (7) (0.6%) (3) (0.6%)
      
Taxes 188 7.8 % 230 19.5% 163 34.2%

Permanent differences include, in addition to non-deductible expenses, substantial tax-free gains on sale of shares. Such gains 
are included in Other revenue and expenses with regard to gains on the sale of subsidiaries and associated companies and in 
Financial income with regard to gains on the sale of shares categorised as Shares available for sale. 
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The group’s net deferred tax liabilities (assets) are made up as follows:
Tax effect of temporary differences: 2006 2005 2004
Current items (22) (41) (40)
Pension liabilities (203) (211) (211)
Other non-current items 763 229 82
Unused tax losses (469) (391) (275)
   
calculated net deferred tax liabilities (assets) 69 (414) (444)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 269 219 205
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) 338 (195) (239)
   
Of which deferred tax liabilities 627 116 92
Of which deferred tax assets (289) (311) (331)

The change in other non-current items relates primarily to the acquisition of Trader Classified Media, see note 3. 

The Group’s unused tax losses are mainly related to operations in Norway, Sweden, France and Spain. Only approx. 2% of the 
unused tax losses expire in the period up until 2016.  

The development in the net deferred tax liabilities (assets) is as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
As at 1 January (195) (239) (109)
Change included in tax charge (5) 21 (51)
Change on purchase and sale of subsidiaries 522 18 (81)
Translation differences 16 5 2
as at 31 December 338 (195) (239)

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is likely that the benefit can be realised through expected future taxable profits. The 
Group’s deferred tax assets are mainly related to pension liabilities and unused tax losses in the Norwegian business, and losses 
carried forward in Sweden where the losses can be utilised against future taxable profits in the Aftonbladet group. The Group’s 
unrecognised deferred tax assets mainly relate to operations in Sweden where the tax benefit cannot be utilised against future 
taxable profits in the Aftonbladet group, as well as to other operations abroad where utilisation must be against the business’s 
own future taxable profits.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset for liabilities and assets in companies which are included in local tax groups. 

 
Note 13 Intangible assets, investment property and property, plant and equipment

 Good- Other Buildings Invest- cons- Mach- Equip- Total
 will intangible and ment truction inery ment,
  assets land properties in progress  furniture,
       vehicles

as at 1 January 2004 
Cost 1 227 450 1 412 228 71 1 464 1 014 5 866
Accumulated 
depreciation, 
amortisation and 
impairment
losses (457) (296) (320) (25) - (527) (689) (2 314)
Net carrying amount 770 154 1 092 203 71 937 325 3 552
        

1 January – 31 December 2004        

Net carrying amount 
1.1.2004 770 154 1 092 203 71 937 325 3 552
Additions - 58 5 2 2 47 101 215
Additions on purchase 
of businesses 424 5 23 - - 24 24 500
Disposals (1) (1) (16) - - - (1) (19)
Disposals on sale of 
businesses - - - - - - - -
Reclassification 1 6 2  (58) 49 - -
Depreciation and 
amortisation for the year - (52) (65) (4) - (115) (140) (376)
Impairment losses (78) (1) (101) - (5) (178) - (363)
Translation differences (12) - (3) - (2) (3) (2) (22)
Net carrying amount 
31.12. 2004 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487
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 Good- Other Buildings Invest- cons- Mach- Equip- Total
 will intangible and ment truction inery ment,
  assets land properties in progress  furniture,
       vehicles
as at 31 December 2004        

Cost 1 638 494 1 419 230 13 1 565 1 071 6 430
Accumulated 
depreciation, 
amortisation and 
impairment losses (534) (325) (482) (29) (5) (804) (764) (2 943)
Net carrying amount 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487
        

1 January – 31 December 2005        
Net carrying amount 

1.1.2005 1 104 169 937 201 8 761 307 3 487
Additions - 84 6 1 23 103 146 363
Additions on purchase 
of businesses 350 73 - - - - 39 462
Disposals - (9) (24) - (3) (29) (11) (76)
Disposals on sale of 
businesses (242) (2) - - - - (31) (275)
Reclassification - 2 (5) - - - 3 -
Depreciation and 
amortisation for the year - (54) (59) (4) - (95) (132) (344)
Impairment losses - (8) - - - - - (8)
Translation differences (47) (14) (4) - - (3) (6) (74)
Net carrying amount
31.12. 2005 1 165 241 851 198 28 737 315 3 535
        

as at 31 December 2005        
Cost 1 653 592 1 110 231 30 1 061 1 003 5 680
Accumulated 
depreciation,
amortisation and
impairment losses (488) (351)  (259) (33) (2) (324) (688) (2 145)
Net carrying amount 1 165 241 851 198 28 737 315 3 535
        

1 January – 31 December 2006       
Net carrying amount 
1.1.2006 1 165  241  851  198  28  737  315  3 535 
Additions   115  63  1  50  63  206  498 
Additions on purchase 
of businesses 4 444  1 976          79  6 499 
Disposals   (4)   (56)   (1) (5) (66)
Disposals on sale 
of businesses (13)   (5)       (14) (32)
Reclassification (2) 8  6    (54) 43  (1) 0 
Depreciation and 
amortisation for the year   (133) (46) (4)   (95) (161) (439)
Impairment losses (10)             (10)
Translation differences 178  84  2      3  6  273 
                
Net carrying amount
31.12. 2006 5 762  2 287  871  139  24  750  425  10 258 

as at 31 December 2006   
Cost 6 265 2 791 1 204 176 26 1 367 1 271 13 100
Accumulated depreciation, 
amortisation and 
impairment losses (503) (504) (333) (37) (2) (617) (846) (2 842)
Net carrying amount 5 762  2 287  871  139  24  750  425  10 258 
        
The fair value of investment property is approximately NOK 300 million. An undeveloped site included in investment property in 
2005 was sold in the first quarter of 2006, see note 3. Other fair values are determined based on external valuations based on 
future revenues. Rental income from investment property was NOK 31 million in 2006, NOK 30 million in 2005, NOK 29 million 
in 2004 and direct costs relating to investment property were NOK 8 million for the years 2004 – 2006.



094

Investment properties and property, plant and equipment, excluding land, are depreciated on a straight line basis over their 
useful life. Depreciation schedules take account of the asset’s residual value. Items of property, plant and equipment where 
material costs components can be identified with different useful lives are depreciated over the individual components expected 
useful life. 

Depreciation and amortisation is charged based on the following useful lives: Buildings (25-50 years), Plant and machinery (5-
20 years), Equipment, furniture, vehicles (3-10 years) and Intangible assets (1.5-10 years). The depreciation method, expected 
useful life and any residual value is assessed annually.

Intangible assets with finite useful life are as a general rule amortised on a straight line basis over the expected useful life. Film 
rights are amortised on a declining basis or in accordance with another systematic method depending on what is considered to 
best reflect the expected pattern of future economic benefits embodied in the relevant asset.

The amortisation period for certain film rights has been extended with effect from 1 January 2005. 

Other intangible assets include:
 Expected useful life  carrying amount 31 December
  2006  2005 2004
Trademarks Finite / Indefinite 1 560 19 -
Film rights Finite 220 83 101
Data systems and licenses Finite  269 139 68
Customer relations Finite 238 - -
Total  2 287 241 169

Other intangible assets apart from large parts of the trademarks have a limited period of use. Trade marks with an indefinite life 
have been acquired through acquisitions and are expected to be able to generate income flows for an indefinite period.

The acquisition of Trader Classified Media has led to an increase in the Group’s intangible assets of NOK 1.9 billion. Increased 
intangible assets give increased yearly amortisation for the next 3 years in the size of NOK 120 million.

Goodwill can be specified on companies as follows:
   carrying amount 31 December
 Business area 2006 2005 2004
Schibsted Forlagene AS Norway 117 119  119 
Basefarm AS Norway                  87  74  - 
Internettkatalogen AS  Norway                  51  48  - 
Aftonbladet Hierta AB Sweden 187 175  187 
Blocket AB Sweden 420 151  158 
TA Teleadress Holding AB Sweden                126  105  - 
20 Min Holding AG International 106 107  326 
AS Eesti Meedia  International 96 93  96 
Schibsted International Classifieds International 4 186 - -
Other Norway                  83  59 70
Other Sweden                245  198  132 
Other International 58 36  16 
Total 5 762 1 165 1 104

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but tested annually for impairment. Other 
intangible assets and operating assets are tested for impairment if there are indications that an asset is impaired. Such indica-
tions will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive situation or technological developments. Impairment 
loss is calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of the asset’s net sales value and its value in use. When the recoverable amount is based on value in use, the 
value in use is calculated on the basis of the net present value of expected cash flows from the asset. In calculating the value 
in use, management’s expectations based on experience and market knowledge are used for the first five years’ cash flows. For 
subsequent periods growth factors are used that do not exceed the long-term average rate of growth for the relevant market. 
Expected cash flows are discounted using a discount rate that takes into account the expected long-term interest rate with the 
addition of a risk margin appropriate for the assets being tested.

Carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives related to Schibsted International Classifieds 
is NOK 4 186 million and NOK 1 333 million, respectively. The amount allocated to identifiable intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives is in its entirety related to trade marks. The amounts allocated is a consequence of the purchase price for the busi-
ness when acquired in 2006 and the valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in that connection.

The following key assumptions are used in the valuations
•  Expected cash flow projections for 5 years and declining growth rates thereafter. Expected cash flows are based on  
 Schibsted’s assessments in connection with the acquisitions, forecasts prepared by subsidiaries and assessments by external  
 consultants involved in the valuations
• Discount rate 6.7-7.0%
• Individually assessed market based royalty rates of 6.4-8.0%
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In 2006 the consolidated income statement was charged with NOK 10 million relating to impairment loss on goodwill in the 
Lithuanian newspaper LT. In 2005 the consolidated income statement was charged with NOK 8 million relating to impairment 
loss on intangible assets in the swedish company Sandrew Metronome as a result of changes in the distribution and market 
situation. In 2004 the consolidated income statement was charged with NOK 78 million relating to impairment loss of goodwill 
in Sandrew Metronome. 

lease agreements
Plant and machinery includes assets owned under financial lease agreements. These have a cost price of NOK 27 million and a 
carrying amount of NOK 13 million. Depreciation for the year amounts to NOK 9 million. 

Schibsted has lease obligations relating to off-balance sheet operating assets, mainly office buildings. 

Future total minimum payments under non-cancellable operational leases are as follows: 

   2006
2007   193
2008 – 2011   572
After 2011   143

Note 14 Investments in associated companies

The development in the carrying amount of investments in associated companies is as follows:

 2006 2005 2004
Carrying amount 1 January 1 584 1 202 703
Implementation of IAS 32/39 - (4) -
Additions/disposals (2 044) 378 476
Income from associated companies 1 694 198 130
Dividends received (132) (157) (60)
Change on additions/disposals of subsidiaries - - (46)
Other changes 62 (33) (1)
carrying amount 31 December 1 164 1 584 1 202

The share of the income and carrying amount breaks down as follows:

  Owner-  
 location ship %   Income   carrying amount
  31.12.06 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Adresseavisen ASA Trondheim 36 25 25 18 149 136 100
Bergens Tidende AS Bergen 53* 26 22 11 610 121 107
Fædrelandsvennen AS Kristiansand 25 6 14 2 50 48 42
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA Stavanger 32 22 30 15 109 99 93
TV 2 AS Bergen 0 945 47 44 - 248 290
TV 4 AB Stockholm 0 602 48 - - 726 538
Aspiro AB Stockholm 43 27 5 - 193 157 -
Hugin ASA Oslo 0 34 (1) 1 - 2 3
Others   7 8 39 53 47 29
Total   1 694 198 130 1 164 1 584 1 202
Of which reported as Other revenues and expenses  1 515 - 46   
Of which reported as Income from associated companies 179 198 84
   
* Schibsted owns 52.8% of the shares in Bergens Tidende, but the company is treated as an associated company because of 
restrictions on voting rights. The articles of association includes a clause saying no shareholder can vote for a total of more than 
1/10 of the shares.

Market prices are available for shares in Adresseavisen ASA, Stavanger Aftenblad ASA and Aspiro AB. In the case of some of the 
companies liquidity is limited and there is a large difference between the bid and offer prices. Based on the last traded prices 
the fair value of the shares in Adresseavisen ASA is NOK 378 million, Stavanger Aftenblad ASA NOK 360 million and Aspiro AB 
NOK 240 million.

The Group’s share of assets, liabilities, operating revenues and net income in associated companies is as follows:

 2006 2005 2004
Assets 1 775 2 534 1 847
Liabilities (611) (950) (645)
carrying amount 1 164 1 584 1 202
   
Operating revenues 2 620 2 280 1 495
Net income 174 194 84
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Note 15 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The Group has the following composition and maturity structure on its interest-bearing debt:

  short-term   long-term
 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Overdraft 30 105 - - - -
Bond issues 600 300 - - 600 900
Bank loans 4 631 73 194 643 379 601
Financial lease agreements 8 7 50 9 9 -
Other loans 1 8 43 88 90 43
Total 5 270 493 287 740 1 078 1 544
Maturity between 1 and 2 years    445 679 376
Maturity between 2 and 5 years    157 223 963
Maturity after more than 5 years    138 176 205
Total    740 1 078 1 544

Approximately 10 % of the Group’s interest-bearing debt is at fixed interest rates, mainly through a bond issue of NOK 600 million 
which falls due for payment in the autumn of 2007. For information on interest rate risk, see Note 27.

For the fair value of interest-bearing debt, see note 27, Financial market risk.

Carrying amount of interest-bearing debt breaks down as follows by currency:

 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
NOK 940 1 038 910
SEK 1 32 353
EEK 5 - -
EUR 5 007 408 450
USD 57 93 118
Total 6 010 1 571 1 831

Schibsted Finans AS has a bond issue in the Norwegian bond market of NOK 600 million (issued in 2003). The bond issue is listed 
on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker SCHF01, has a fixed interest rate (4.98 %) and falls due in the autumn of 2007.

The Group has two bank loans in EUR totalling EUR 40 million. One loan is for EUR 15 million and has a term of 10 years from 
1999. The other loan is for EUR 25 million and has a term of 12 years from 2004. The interest terms on both loans are six month 
Euribor with the addition of a margin.  

The group has a bank loan of USD 9 million. The loan has a term of 12 years from 1996 and interest and instalments are hedged 
against Norwegian kroner through a currency and interest rate swap. After taking account of the hedging, the interest terms are 
six month NIBOR with the addition of a margin. 

In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted Finans arranged a new syndicated multi-currency loan facility for a total of EUR 250 million, 
syndicated to eight Norwegian and international banks. The facility is a 5-year drawing facility with an option to extend for a 
further one year. No drawings had been made on the facility at the end of 2006. The facility has interest terms based on Euribor 
plus a margin. Schibsted must pay a commitment fee to maintain the facility’s availability. The commitment fee is calculated on 
that part of the facility that is undrawn as a percentage of the loan margin.

The acquisition of Schibsted International Classifieds was financed through bridge financing from DnBNOR and Nordea to 
Schibsted Finans in June 2006. This loan facility totalled EUR 680 million, and originally fell due in June 2007. The interest term 
on the facility is based on Euribor with the addition of a margin. Schibsted must pay a commitment fee to maintain the facility’s 
availability. In February 2007, the loan facility was reduced to EUR 450 million, as a consequence of reduced borrowing needs. 
Through a supplementary agreement, the facility’s due date was postponed until January 2008. This supplementary agreement 
was entered into in February 2007.

Other loans consist mainly of loans from minority owners in subsidiaries. 

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain covenants regarding the ratio of net interest-bearing debt (NIBD) to the operating profit 
before depreciation (EBITDA). The ratio should be a maximum of 3.0. Nevertheless, it is possible to report NIBD/EBITDA < 4.0 
for up to 4 quarters during the term of the loan facility. In addition the loan agreements contain negative pledge clauses that 
limit the Group’s ability to provide or establish mortgages or other security in excess of what follows from normal operations. 
The Group was within the above-mentioned requirements by a good margin as at 31.12.2006.

Schibsted has long-term credit facilities totalling approximately NOK 2 billion through the unutilised syndicated multi-currency 
loan facility of EUR 250 million. In addition, Schibsted has short-term credit facilities of NOK 400 million in the form of unutilised 
overdraft limits under the Group’s cash pool system with Danske Bank, see Note 17.
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Note 16 Short-term and long-term investments

The development in carrying amount of investments categorised as available for sale is as follows:

 2006 2005 2004
as at 1 January 193 223  125 
Additions 18 36  98 
Disposals (27) (97) (9)
Additions / disposals on purchase / sale of subsidiaries - (2) 2 
Reclassified to associated companies or subsidiaries (2) (16) - 
Changes in fair value     
   Implementation of IAS 32 and 39 - 63  - 
   Change recognised in equity (9) 28  - 
   Change recognised in profit or loss (8) (1) 5 
   Value change from equity on disposals (10) (37) - 
   Value change from equity on reclassification - (2)  -
Translation differences 4 (2) 2 
      
as at 31 December 159 193  223 
Of which short-term 78 56  58 
Of which long-term  81 137  165 

The Group has the following short-term and long-term investments:
 
shares 2006 2005 2004
   Listed Scandinavia -  - 97 
   Listed Canada 10 20  6 
   Unlisted 71 117  62 
Short-term interest-bearing investments 78 56  58 
      
Total short-term and long-term investments 159 193  223 

The effective interest rate on short-term interest-bearing investments is approximately 1.9 %.

Note 17 Cash and bank deposits

Cash and bank deposits include the following:
 2006 2005 2004
Cash and bank   2 189 601 497
Interest-bearing securities 51 75 35
Total 2 240 676 532

Schibsted has a cash pool system with Danske Bank in which all the Norwegian subsidiaries, together with most of the Group’s 
subsidiaries in Sweden and Denmark, are included. The cash pool system has been established to contribute to an optimal 
liquidity management for Schibsted. 

As a result of minority shareholders, the companies Aftonbladet and Harstad Tidende gruppen are not included in the Group’s 
cash pool system. 

The Group has a drawing limit under the cash pool system of NOK 400 million. At the end of 2006 nothing was drawn on this 
limit. 

Surplus liquidity is mainly placed on the Group account or in short-term interest-bearing instruments and money market funds. 
The reason for the high bank deposit at December 31, 2006 is the payment of SEK 1 455 million relating to the sale of TV4 just 
prior to the turn of the year. This payment has been used as settlement of debt in January 2007.

The deposit and borrowing interest rates in Danske Bank are based on Danske BID and Danske BOR. Danske BID and Danske 
BOR are set daily by the bank on the basis of market interest rates in the individual countries. Under the group account system 
marginal netting takes place across national frontiers. 

Other bank deposits are credited with interest based on the bank’s daily deposit rates in the individual countries. 

The effective interest rate on interest-bearing securities was 2.4 %.
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Note 18 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables consist of:
 2006 2005 2004
Trade receivables 1 666 1 056 1 019
Less expected losses (77) (30) (32)
Trade receivables  (net) 1 589 1 026 987
Prepaid expenses and accrued revenues 374 238 254
Financial derivatives (see Note 27, Financial market risk) - 5 -
Other prepayments and receivables 255 173 175
Total 2 218 1 442 1 416

Note 19 Inventories

Inventories consist of:
 2006 2005 2004
Books 57 52 49
Newsprint purchased 47 28 31
DVDs and video cassettes 21 14 26
Total 125 94 106

Note 20 Other non-current assets
 2006 2005 2004
Loans to joint ventures and associated companies                  7 20 26
Prepaid costs  89 80 92
Total 96 100 118

There are no significant differences between the fair value and the carrying amount of long-term receivables as a result of all 
receivables carrying a market interest rate.

Note 21 Earnings per share

The development in share capital and other paid-in capital is set out in the Statement of changes in equity. The development in 
the number of issued and outstanding shares is as follows:
   Number of
   Outstanding    Treasury shares Issued
As at 1 January 2004 67 759 482  1 490 518  69 250 000 
Sale of treasury shares 170 048  (170 048) 0 
As at 31 December 2004 67 929 530  1 320 470  69 250 000 
Purchase of treasury shares (798 350) 798 350  0 
Sale of treasury shares 37 269  (37 269) 0 
As at 31 December 2005 67 168 449  2 081 551  69 250 000 
Purchase of treasury shares (1 670 950) 1 670 950 -
Sale of treasury shares 1 378 879 (1 378 879) -
As at 31 December 2006 66 876 378 2 373 622 69 250 000

The company’s share capital consists of 69 250 000 shares of NOK 1 par value. No shareholder may own or vote at a sharehol-
ders’ meeting for more than 30% of the shares.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the Board authority to acquire own shares up to 6 925 000 shares (10 %). The 
authority was renewed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 11 May 2006 for a period until the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
in 2007. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 10 May 2007 the Board will present a resolution to extend this authorisation 
until the Annual General Meeting in 2008.

Schibsted sold 170 048 of its treasury shares in 2004. 120 000 shares were sold to managers in the group at a price of NOK 
100 in connection with the exercise of options. Reference is made to Note 8 for a description of the option programme. In 2004 
50 048 shares were sold to Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme at a price of NOK 121 in connection with an offer to 
employees to purchase shares at a discounted price.

Schibsted purchased 798 350 shares in 2005 for an aggregate consideration of NOK 141 million. In 2005 37 269 shares were 
sold to Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme at a price of NOK 180 in connection with an offer to employees to pur-
chase shares at a discounted price.

In 2006 Schibsted purchased 1 670 950 shares for an aggregate consideration of NOK 305 mill.
Schibsted sold 1 378 879 own shares in 2006. 135 000 shares were sold to managers in the Group in connection with the exer-
cise of options. Reference is made to Note 8 for a description of the option programme. Of these shares, 120 000 where sold at 
a price of NOK 93 and 15 000 at a price of NOK 98. In 2006 41 697 shares were sold to Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase 
Scheme at a price of NOK 201.50 in connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted price. Schibsted 
used 1 202 182 own shares as payment in connection with the purchase of minority shares in Blocket AB. 
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As at 31.12.2006 Schibsted held 2,373,622 treasury shares. The background to the purchases is that the Board of Directors has 
considered the repurchase of shares as advantageous compared with alternative investments and in order to optimise the capital 
structure of the group. Parts of the shares are acquired in order to be used in connection with the employee share programmes.

During the first quarter of 2007 the company sold 18,750 shares so that the holding as at 29 March 2007 was 2,354,872 
shares.

Earnings per share are calculated on net income attributable to majority interests divided by the average number of shares 
outstanding:  

 2006 2005 2004
Net income attributable to majority interests  2 143  874  241
Average number of shares outstanding 65 903 518  67 727 417  67 841 038
Earnings per share (NOK) 32.52  12.91 3.55 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated on the net income attributable to majority interests divided by the average number of 
shares outstanding, adjusted for the dilutive effect of all potential shares. 

The dilutive effect is arrived at as the difference between the number of shares which can be acquired on exercise of outstanding 
options and the total number of shares which could be acquired at fair value (calculated as the average price of the Schibsted share 
in the period) for the consideration which is to be paid for the shares which can be acquired based on outstanding options.

 2006 2005 2004
Net income attributable to majority interests  2 143 874  241 
Average number of shares outstanding 65 903 518 67 727 417  67 841 038 
Adjustment for dilutive effect options outstanding 141 629 130 638  72 485 
Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 66 045 147 67 858 055  67 913 523 
Diluted earnings per share (NOK)  32.45 12.89  3.55 

Earnings per share - adjusted and Diluted earnings per share - adjusted are calculated on the net income attributable to majo-
rity interests corrected for items reported in the income statement on the lines Other revenues and expenses (after tax) and 
Impairment loss goodwill. The number of shares that is included in the calculation is the same as the number for Earnings per 
share and Diluted earnings per share, as described above.

 2006 2005 2004
Net income attributable to majority interests  2 143  874  241 
Other revenues and expenses (1 492) (184) 348 
Tax effect of other revenues and expenses (10) (30) (112)
Impairment loss goodwill  10 - 78 
Net income attributable to majority interests - adjusted 651 660  555 
Average number of shares outstanding 65 903 518  67 727 417  67 841 038 
Earnings per share – adjusted (NOK) 9.87  9.76  8.18 
Average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 66 045 147  67 858 055  67 913 523 
Diluted earnings per share – adjusted (NOK) 9.85  9.74  8.18 

Note 22 Dividends

Dividends were paid in 2006, 2005 and 2004 in amounts of NOK 278 million (NOK 4.25 per share), NOK 220 million (NOK 3.25 
per share) and NOK 203 million (NOK 3.00 per share).

At the company’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 10 May 2007 a dividend of NOK 5.00 per share will be proposed (total NOK 
334 million). No provision for this dividend has been recognised in the Group’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2006.

Note 23 Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities include:
 2006 2005 2004
Trade payables 877 494 502
Prepayments from customers 485 391 366
Public duties payable 437 276 291
Accrued salaries 394 346 335
Accrued expenses 414 308 274
Financial  derivatives (see Note 27, Financial market risk) 11 45 6
Restructuring costs 71 31 23
Other 204 204 231
Total other current liabilities 2 893 2 095 2 028

The Group has no significant liabilities with an uncertain payment date. The restructuring costs relate to accepted redundancy 
packages.



Note 24 Pension plans

Schibsted has collective pension plans with Vital for its employees in Norwegian companies. These plans are mainly established 
as defined benefit plans, but certain companies have established defined contribution plans. The companies in Norway are obli-
gated to follow the Act on Mandatory company pensions. The companies’ pension schemes meet the requirements of that Act. 
The policies relating to defined benefit plans in the respective companies are virtually uniform. The main terms are a 30-year 
period of employment to obtain full pension, approximately 66 % retirement pension level from 67 years, and spouse and child 
pensions. As at 31.12.2006 the collective pension schemes covered approximately 2 300 working members and approximately 
1 000 pensioners.

In addition to the pension obligations that are covered through collective service pension schemes, the Group’s Norwegian 
companies have unfunded pension liabilities. The pensions relate to persons not included in the collective pension plans, supple-
mental pensions for salaries above 12G, Agreement-based pension (AFP), early retirement pensions as well as disability pensions 
for the companies which do not have insured disability pensions.

The Group’s companies outside Norway have pension plans in accordance with local practice and local legislation. The greater 
part of the Group’s pension schemes in Sweden are established in multi-employer plans. These multi-employer plans are defined 
benefit plans, but the group does not have access to the necessary information for the accounting years 2004, 2005 and 2006 
in order to recognise these plans as benefit plans in the financial statements, and in accordance with IAS 19.30 the plans have 
been accounted for as defined contribution plans. Approx. 50% in 2006 and approx. 60% in 2005 of the costs reported under 
Pension expenses – defined contribution plans relate to such multi-employer plans.

The development in the net pension liability is as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
As at 1 January 756 761 703
Net pension expense – defined benefit plans 172 163 160
Contributions / benefits paid (204) (172) (103)
Purchase and sale of subsidiaries 5 4 1
as at 31 December 729 756 761

The Group’s net pension expense is made up as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
Current service cost 106 98 86
Interest cost on the pension obligation 111 117 115
Expected return on plan assets (98) (95) (99)
Net actuarial gain / loss recognised - - -
Past service cost and other special events  32 23 39
Social security tax 21 20 19
Net pension expense - defined benefit plans 172 163 160
Pension expense - defined contribution plans 87 68 71
Net pension expense 259 231 231
Of which included in Personnel expenses 241 211 186
Of which included in Other revenues and expenses 18 20 45

The Group’s net pension liability as at 31.12 was made up as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
Present value of funded obligations 2 359 2 288 2 118
Plan assets (1 888) (1 767) (1 608)
Present value of funded obligations, net 471 521 510
Present value of unfunded obligations 207 224 232
Unrecognised net actuarial losses (43) (94) (86)
Social security tax 94 105 105
Net pension liability  729 756 761

The following principal assumptions have been used in calculating net pension expenses and the net pension obligations for the 
Group’s defined benefit plans: 

 Pension expense Pension obligation
 2006 2005 2004 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Discount rate 4.5 % 5.0 % 5.5 % 4.5 % 4.5 % 5.0 %
Expected return on plan assets 5.5 % 6.0 % 6.5 % - - -
Expected salary increases 3.5 % 3.5 % 3.5 % 4.5 % 3.5 % 3.5 %
Expected social security base adjustment 3.0 % 3.0 % 3.0 % 4.25 % 3.0 % 3.0 %
Expected pension increases 2.5 % 2.5 % 2.5 % 1.6 % 2.5 % 2.5 %

Use of agreement based pension (AFP) 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15%
Demographic assumption mortality rate K1963 K1963 K1963 K1963 K1963 K1963
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The Group’s plan assets have the following composition as at 31.12:
 2006 2005 2004
Shares 30 % 23 % 17 %
Short-term bonds 21 % 18 % 18 %
Money market investments 4 % 17 % 17 %
Real estate 13 % 12 % 12 %
Long-term bonds 30 % 27 % 33 %
Other 2 % 3 % 3 %
Total 100 % 100 % 100 %

The actual return on plan assets (value-adjusted return in Vital) was approximately 8% in 2006, 8% in 2005 and approximately 
7% in 2004.

In 2005 a judgement was given in the legal proceedings brought by the Union of Graphic Workers at Verdens Gang AS against 
Verdens Gang AS regarding the company’s pension plan. The dispute was about which elements of wages are to be included in 
the pension base. An appeal was filed against the judgement, and an out-of-court settlement was entered into in 2006. The sett-
lement implies that the shift supplements and certain other supplements to the fixed wage will be included in the pension base 
with effect from 1st of May 2001. In addition, VG has to pay a cash consideration to the graphic workers which is distributed to 
the approx. 70 prosecutors, employed and the retired graphic workers. The settlement also affects other groups of employees 
as the supplements will be included in the pension base for all employees with effect from 1 May 2001.   

Note 25 Other non-current liabilities

Other long term debt includes:
 2006 2005 2004
Financial liability related to minority interest put options 907 - -
Other obligations 14 - 7
Other post-employment benefits 27 - -
Other non-current liabilities 8 - 85
Total other non-current liabilities 956 - 92

A put / call option exists between Schibsteds subsidiary Anuntis Segundamano Holdings and the minority shareholder Primerama 
(23 %). Schibsted has a call option on 12% of the shares owned by Primerama starting in July 2009, and on the remaining sha-
res starting in July 2013. Primerama has put options on their shares until 2019. All options are exercisable at market value. 
Estimated present value of future exercise price is approx. EUR 90 million.

When Schibsted acquired 60% of InfoJobs in July 2006 (owned by Anuntis Segundamano Holdings) an option to purchase the 
minority shareholders of InfoJobs (Grupo Intercom) at a maximum price of EUR 25 million was included in the transfer. In 
December 2006, Anuntis Segundamano Holding increased its stake in InfoJobs from 60% to 93.56% by executing the existing 
option agreement between Anuntis Segundamano and Grupo Intercom and a subsequent share capital increase. The total 
consideration by Anuntis Segundamano is EUR 12.5 million. In conjunction with the execution of this agreement, Anuntis 
Segundamano and Grupo Intercom have entered into a new shareholding agreement, entailing amongst other, that Grupo Intercom 
will retain a 6.44 % shareholding in InfoJobs. This shareholding is governed by mutual call put arrangements, the conditions of 
which will depend on the financial performance of InfoJobs. Estimated present value of future exercise price is approx. EUR 20 
million.

The options are measured at net present value, and an interest expense of approx. NOK 20 million is debited in the financial 
statement. 

20 Minutes is involved in legal proceedings related to the early termination of a supply agreement in May 2002. The issue is 
related to the Swiss operations disposed of in 2005, but Schibsted is responsible for any potential liability. A judgement in 2006 
implies that 20 Minutes should pay compensation of approx. NOK 25 million. The judgement is appealed, and NOK 14 million is 
accrued in the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2006 in relation to the likely outcome of these proceedings.
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Note 26 Interest in Joint Ventures

Significant operations accounted for as joint ventures are specified below:

                                            Ownership as at 31 December
company 2006 2005 2004 location segment Business 
20 Minutes France S.A.S 50 % 50 % 50 % Paris International Free newspapers
AS Arjakirjade Kirjastus 50 % 50 % 50 % Tallinn International Magazines
AS SL Õhtuleht 50 % 50 % 50 % Tallinn International Newspapers
Dagens Medisin AS 50 % 50 % 50 % Oslo Norway News magazine for
       the health sector
Editions Aixoises Multimedia S.A.S 50 % - - Paris International Classifieds on
       the Internet
Fellesdistribusjonen Østfold AS 50 % 50 % 50 % Fredrikstad Norway Distribution
Finn Tech AS  - 50 % 50 % Oslo Norway Technology 
      development
Sandrew Metronome AB - 50 % 50 % Stockholm Sweden Distribution 
      and rights
Scanpix Sweden AB
(former Pressens Bild – 
Scanpix AB) 30 % 50 % - Stockholm Sweden Picture agency
Willhaben Internet Service 
GmbH & Co KG 50 % - - Vienna International Classifieds on 
      the Internet
In 2006 Schibsted increased its stake in Sandrew Metronome AB and Finn Tech AS from 50 % to 100 %. 

The following amounts are included in the Group’s income statement and balance sheet from joint ventures subject to using 
proportionate consolidation:
 2006 2005 2004
Operating revenues 526 680 804
Operating expenses (553) (704) (829)
Operating profit before impairment 
of goodwill and other revenues and expenses (27) (24) (25)
Profit (loss) before taxes (15) (42) (35)
   
Non-current assets 41 172 214
Current assets 183 285 273
Total assets 224 457 487
Non-current liabilities 70 92 72
Current liabilities 169 235 238
Total liabilities 239 327 310
Net assets (liabilities) (15) 130 177

Note 27 Financial market risk

The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments is as follows:

  carrying amount   Fair value
 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
 Cash and bank deposits (Note 17) 2 240 676  532  2 240 676  532 
Short-term and long-term investments (Note 16) 159 193  223  159 193  286 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 15) (6 010) (1 571) (1 831) (6 012) (1 581) (1 855)
Financial derivatives (Note 18) - 5  - - 5  -
Financial derivatives (Note 23) (11) (45) (6) (11) (45) (13)

The fair value of the group’s financial derivatives is as follows:
                  asset                  liability
   2006 2005 2006 2005
 Forward contracts – hedging net investments in foreign operations  - - 9 45
Forward contracts – for trading purposes   - 1 - -
Interest and currency swap – for trading purposes   - 4 2 -
Total   0 5 11 45
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Foreign exchange risk
Norwegian kroner are Schibsteds base currency, but the Group is also exposed to changes in other countries’ exchange rates, 
mainly the Euro and Swedish kronor and Estonian kroons, through its businesses outside Norway. Schibsted has foreign 
exchange exposure relating to both balance sheet monetary items and the translation of assets in foreign operations. Schibsted 
uses loans in foreign currencies and forward contracts to reduce the foreign exchange exposure. As at 31.12.2006 the group 
had entered into several forward contracts involving the purchase and sale of currencies for this purpose.

As at 31.12.2006 Schibsted had the following forward contracts which mature in 2007:

  currency amount
Forward contracts, sale  SEK 2 075
Forward contracts, sale  DKK 35
Forward contracts, sale  EUR 24
Forward contracts, purchase  SEK 180
Forward contracts, purchase  EUR 12

Currency gains and losses relating to forward contracts which hedge net investments in foreign businesses are recognised in 
equity until the foreign operation is disposed of. Other currency gains and losses are recognised in the income statement on an 
ongoing basis under Other financial income or expenses. As at 31.12.2006 forward contracts for the sale of SEK 615 million 
related to hedging net investments in foreign operations. The fair value of the contracts accounted for as hedges was NOK -0,3 
million.

Schibsted has an interest and currency swap which hedges interest and instalments on a USD loan against NOK, see Note 15, 
Interest-bearing debt. The fair value of the derivative as at 31.12.2006 was NOK -2 million.

Cash flow in foreign currencies relating to investments or significant individual transactions is hedged by using financial instru-
ments. At the year-end the group had no such financial instruments. The Group’s foreign exchange exposure relating to opera-
tions is low, since most of its sales take place in the individual business’s own home country. 

Interest rate risk
Schibsted has both floating and fixed interest rates on its long-term debt, see Note 15, Interest-bearing debt. 

As at 31.12.2006 approximately 10 per cent of the Group’s debt was at fixed interest rates. These were mainly fixed interest 
rates related to the four-year bond issue of NOK 600 million that matures in the autumn of 2007. The interest rate is 4.98 per 
cent. This means that approximately 90 per cent of the Group’s debt is affected by changes in interest rates. For each 1 per cent 
change in floating interest rates, Schibsted’s interest costs change by approximately NOK 58 million. 

The Group has substantial pension liabilities. The pension liabilities provide a natural hedge for its floating rate debt since the 
present value of the liabilities increases on a fall in interest rates. This reduces the need to hedge the interest rate on the Group’s 
interest-bearing debt. 

In April 1997 Schibsted Finans entered into a 10-year interest rate cap on NOK 100 million, which guarantees a maximum inte-
rest rate of 7 per cent. The fair value of the agreement is zero. 

In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted Finans entered into two interest rate derivative contracts relating to parts of the Group’s debt. 
The instruments give an interest calculation based on average 6 month NIBOR (the average of daily observations). The instru-
ments give lower variability in the average interest rate than the interest rate that Schibsted will pay on ordinary NIBOR with an 
observation once each coupon period. The fair value of the instruments was zero at the year-end. 

Raw materials risk 
Schibsted is a consumer of newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes. A change in the price of 1 per cent has an 
impact on raw materials costs for the Group of approximately NOK 10 million per year. Newsprint prices in Norway and Sweden 
are negotiated annually with suppliers and have already been fixed for 2007. 

share price risk
At the end of 2006 Schibsted had limited exposure to the stock market and thus a limited risk from a fall in stock markets.

credit risk
The Group has recorded a low level of losses relating to turnover, see Note 18 Trade receivables.

There is a low credit risk relating to the Group’s circulation revenues since many of the Group’s products are sold on the basis 
of prepayment (newspaper subscriptions) or cash payment (casual sale newspapers). For large parts of the Group’s advertising 
revenue, deposit schemes and credit insurance have been established. 

liquidity risk
Schibsted’s long-term financing which today includes syndicated loans, bond issues and bank loans, should ensure that the 
Group has sufficient financial flexibility.  
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At the end of 2006 Schibsted has a substantial long-term liquidity reserve of approximately NOK 2 billion and net interest-bearing 
debt is NOK 3 692 million. The liquidity reserve corresponds to approximately 17 per cent of the Group’s turnover. The Group has 
a target that the aggregate liquidity reserve should be at least 10 per cent of the next 12 months’ expected turnover. 

In the autumn of 2005 Schibsted extended its drawing facility of EUR 250 million, see Note 15, Interest-bearing debt. In addition, 
the bridge financing relating to the acquisition of Trader Classified Media is extended until 15 January 2008. Schibsted is plan-
ning to refinance during 2007. The refinancing risk is considered to be very low. 

Note 28 Subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries were directly and indirectly owned as at 31.12.:

 Business segment Norway location 2006 2005 2004 
Aftenposten AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Aftenposten Annonseguiden AS Oslo - - 100.00 % 
 Aftenposten Distribusjon AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 Aftenposten Forbruker AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Aftenposten Forlag AS 
 (prev. Aftenposten Nye Produkter AS) Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -   
 Aftenposten Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Distribution Innovation AS Oslo 60.00 % 60.00 % 60.00 %
 E24 Næringsliv AS Oslo 100.00 % - -
 Eiendomsprofil AS Bergen 26.16 % - -
 FINN Bil.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 % 62.00 %
 FINN Eiendom.no AS Oslo 51.29 % 51.29 % 51.29 %
 FINN Jobb.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 % 62.00 %
 Finn Tech AS Oslo 62.00 % - -   
 FINN Vekst AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 % 62.00 %
 FINN.no AS Oslo 62.00 % 62.00 % 62.00 %
 Gardermoen Avisdistribusjon AS - - - 100.00 % 
 Human Content AS Høvik 37.20 % - -
 Mediearkivet AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Mediearkivet.no AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Planet Golf ASA Oslo - - 100.00 % 
 Retriever Holding AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Retriever Norge AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Retriever Sverige AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Småbarnsliv AS Oslo 100.00 % - -
 Vision Completed AS Hamar 30.77 % - -
Basefarm AS Oslo 73.58 % 73.58 % -
 Basefarm AB Stockholm 73.58 % 73.58 % -
Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 Bladet Tromsø AS Tromsø 48.96 % 48.15 % 47.85 %
 Brønnøysund Avis AS Brønnøysund 32.88 % 25.33 % 25.18 %
 Framtid i Nord AS Nordreisa 50.85 % 50.57 % 47.30 %
 Harstad Tidende AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 HTG Distribusjon AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % -
 HTG Multimedia AS Harstad 50.70 % 49.78 % 50.32 %
 HTG Trykk AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 Nordlandsposten AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 Ofoten Tidende AS Narvik - - 50.32 % 
 Radio 10 BA Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 Troms Avistrykk AS Tromsø - - 50.32 % 
 Troms Folkeblad AS Finnsnes 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
 TV 10 Harstad AS Harstad 51.45 % 50.63 % 50.32 %
Schibsted Eiendom AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Akersgaten 55 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 AS Akersgaten 34 Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Jenagade 22 A/S Copenhagen 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Sandakerveien 121 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Stålfjæra 5 ANS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Forlagene AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Boknöje AB Helsingborg - 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Bullhead AB Stockholm - - 100.00 % 
 Dine Penger AS Oslo 100.00 % - -
  Cesam Bok ANS Oslo - 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Kartago Förlag AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Maison Sverige AB Stockholm - - 100.00 % 
 Schibsted Förlagen AB  Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
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Business segment Norway location 2006 2005 2004
 Schibsted Magasiner AS Oslo 100.00 % - -
 Svenska Förlaget AB Stockholm - 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Svenska Förlaget Holding AB Stockholm - 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Søk AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 Internettkatalogen.no AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 Schibsted Sök AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
Verdens Gang AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Avisretur AS Oslo 50.10 % 50.10 % 50.10 %
  Nettby Community AS Oslo 60.00 % - -
 Radio VG AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 VG Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 VG Pluss AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Beep Telekommunikasjon AS Oslo - - 100.00 %
Bokkilden AS Oslo - - 100.00 % 
European Media Ventures AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Gratisavisen avis1 AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Metronome AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Osloavisen AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Finans AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Interactive Studio AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Mobile AS Oslo - - 100.00 %
    Be Ep AB Oslo - - 100.00 %
    Inpoc AB Stockholm - - 99.96 %
    Inpoc ApS Herlev - - 100.00 %
    Inpoc AS Oslo - - 100.00 %
    Inpoc Baltics AS Tallinn - - 100.00 %
    Inpoc Latvia SIA Riga - - 100.00 %
    Inpoc UAB Vilnius - - 100.00 %
    Schibsted Mobile AB Stockholm - - 99.96 %
    SMS A/S Copenhagen - - 100.00 %
    SMS Selskabet af 2001 ApS  Copenhagen - - 100.00 %
Schibsted Multimedia AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Print Media AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Trykk AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted TV/Film og Forlag AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 
Business segment sweden location 2006 2005 2004 
Aftonbladet Hierta AB * Stockholm 100.00 %            100.00 % 100.00 %
 Aftonbladet Allt Om AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 Aftonbladet Förlag AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Aftonbladet Kolportage AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Aftonbladet Kvällstidningen AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Aftonbladet Produktion AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Aftonbladet Tillväxtmedier AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Aftonbladet TV AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 ASF Sverige AB Stockholm 94.21 % 94.21 % 94.21 %
 Bilen Sverige SE AB Stockholm - 80.30 % 80.30 %
 Blocket AB Stockholm 94.21 % 68.58 % 68.58 %
 Byt Bil Nordic AB Stockholm 81.30 % 80.30 % 80.30 %
 Fastighetsdatabasen AB Stockholm - 96.70 % -
 Hierta Affärsutveckling AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Hierta Förlag AB Stockholm - - 100.00 %
 Hittapunktse AB Stockholm 99.70 % 96.70 % -
 Prisjakt.nu AB Stockholm 70.00 % - -
 Svenska Skivklubben Delfin AB Skara 51.00 % 51.00 % 51.00 %
 TA Teleadress Holding AB Stockholm 99.70 % 96.70 % -
 Tabloiden Förvaltnings AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Teleadress Information AB Stockholm 99.70 % 96.70 % -
Metronome Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Blarke Sonne Levring A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Brand Selskabet A/S Copenhagen - - 65.00 %
 Bullet Productions A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 C. Wikander Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Cosmo Televisjon AS Oslo 65.00 % 33.15 % 33.15 %
 Decimeter Film & TV AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Drivankaret AB Stockholm 32.50 % 32.50 % 32.50 %
 Dropout Productions AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 % -
 Endemol Entertainment Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 European Film Group A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
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Business segment sweden location 2006 2005 2004
 Filmlance International AB Stockholm 58.50 % 39.00 % 39.00 %
 Helikopter A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Helikopter Digital Media AB Gothenburg 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Mekano Enterprise AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Mekano Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Meteor Films OÜ Tallinn 63.05 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Meter Fakta AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Meter Film & Television AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Metronome Aps Copenhagen - 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Metronome Film & Television Oy Helsinki 63.05 % 63.05 % 63.05 %
 Metronome Film A/S Copenhagen 58.50 % - -
 Metronome Productions A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 61.75 %
 Metronome Spartacus AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Metronome Spartacus AS Oslo 53.95 % 53.95 % 53.95 %
 Metronome Studios A/S (prev. Studios A/S) Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 63.31 %
  Moland Film Company A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Moland Film Company AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Mutter Media AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Nordic Entertainment A/S Copenhagen - 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Otto Tuotanto Oy Helsinki 63.70 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Peter Emanuel Falck Produktion AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Post Selskabet A/S Copenhagen 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Premiärpaketet Lance AB Stockholm 58.50 % - -
 Rettighetsselskapet Intrige AS Oslo 36.40 % 36.40 % 36.40 %
 Rubicon Film AS (prev. Nordic Entertainment AS) Oslo 58.50 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Rubicon TV AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Spartacus TV production KB  Stockholm 43.55 % 43.55 % 43.55 %
 Studios AS Oslo 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Studios Mekaniken AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 TV Spartacus AB Stockholm 65.00 % 65.00 % 65.00 %
 Tvålkoppen AB Stockholm 43.55 % 43.55 % 43.55 %
Sandrew Metronome AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Movie 24 AS 
 (prev. Sandakerveien 121 Fusjonspartner AS) Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 Sandrew Metronome Danmark A/S Copenhagen 100.00 % - -
 Sandrew Metronome Distribusjon Finland OY Helsinki 100.00 % - -
 Sandrew Metronome Distribution Sverige AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Sandrew Metronome International AB Stockholm 100.00 % - -
 Sandrew Metronome Norge AS Oslo 100.00 % - -
 Sandrew Metronome Video Danmark A/S Copenhagen 100.00 % - -
Scanpix Scandinavia AB Stockholm 88.23 % 88.23 % 74.99 %
 OÜ Scanpix Baltics Tartu 90.32 % 90.32 % 83.57 %
 Scanpix Norge AS Oslo 44.20 % 44.20 % 37.57 %
 Scanpix Sverige AB Stockholm - - 74.99 %
SI Företagstjänster Holding AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 SI Företagstjänster AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 E24 International AB (prev. N24.se AB) Stockholm 99.65 % 99.65 % 99.41 %
 E24 Näringsliv HB  Stockholm 99.65 % - -
 HB Svenska Dagbladets AB & Co Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Nya Medier AB 
 (prev. Headhunter AB) Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svensk Radiobokning AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Annons AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Distribution AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Executive Club AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladet Venture AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenska Dagbladets AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Svenskan Svenska Dagbladet AB Stockholm 99.41 % 99.41 % 99.41 %
 Tasteline Sweden AB Stockholm 93.84 % 93.84 % -
Tesked AB Varberg 84.80 % 84.80 % -
 Mötesplatsen i Norden AB (prev.Mera AB) Varberg 84.80 % 84.80 % -
Tidningstryckarna Holding Sweden AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Fastighets AB Tidningsfabriken Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet 
 Svenska Dagbladet AB Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Jobb 24 HB Stockholm 99.71 % - -
Schibsted Sverige AB (prev. Schibsted Multimedia AB) Stockholm 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
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 Business segment International location 2006 2005 2004 
20 Min Holding AS Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % -
 20 Min GP Ltd St. Helier - 100.00 % 100.00 %
 20 Min Holding AG Zürich 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 20 Min International B.V. Rotterdam 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG Zürich -  50.50 % 
 20 Minutos España S.A. Madrid 80.00 % 80.00 % 100.00 %
 Indice Multiprensa S.L. Madrid - - 100.00 % 
 Ganymed GmbH Cologn 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Multiprensa Holding S.L. Madrid - - 100.00 %    
 Multiprensa Y M@s S.L. Madrid 80.00 % 80.00 % 100.00 %
AS Eesti Meedia Tartu 92.50 % 92.50 % 92.50 %
 AS Kroonpress Tartu 92.20 % 92.20 % 92.20 %
 AS Litero Valga 87.96 % 82.05 % 82.05 %
 AS Postimees Tallinn 92.50 % 92.50 % 92.50 %
 AS Pärnu Postimees Pärnu 92.50 % 92.50 % 92.50 %
 AS Viru Press Rakvere 49.14 % 49.14 % 49.14 %
 OÜ Meediasüsteemid Tartu 92.50 % 92.50 % 92.50 %
 Soov Kirjastus OU        Tallinn 92.50 % 61.67 % -
AS Schibsted Baltics Tallinn 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 15 Minuciu UAB Vilnius 66.99 % - -
 Extra Zinios                 Vilnius 50.98 % 50.98 % -
 UAB Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe (ZLG) Vilnius 66.67 % 66.67 % 66.67 %
Schibsted International Classified & Search AS 
(prev. Memento SOL AS) Oslo 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
 Anuntis Chile S.A. Santiago 76.99 % - -
 Anuntis Peru S.A.C Lima 76.99 % - -
 Anuntis Segundamano Argentina Holdings S.A. Buenos Aires 77.00 % - -
 Anuntis Segundamano Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires 77.00 % - -
 Anuntis Segundamano Espana SL Barcelona 77.00 % - -
 Anuntis Segundamano Holdings SL Barcelona 77.00 % - -
 Anuntis Segundamano Trademark (Mexico) BV Amsterdam 77.00 % - -
 Anuntis Venezuela S.A. Caracas 73.38 % - -
 ASM Clasificados de Mexico SA de CV Mexico 77.00 % - -
 Editora Balcão Ltda Rio de Janeiro 77.00 % - -
 Editora Urbana Ltda Bogotá 69.30 % - -
 Editoria Anuntis Segundamano Online do Brazil Ltda. Rio de Janeiro 77.00 % - -
 Hebdo Mag Brazil Holdings B.V. Amsterdam 77.00 % - -
 Hebdo Mag Brazil Holdings Ltda. Rio de Janeiro 77.00 % - -
 InfoJobs S.A. Barcelona 72.04 % - -
 Inmobolsa Factory SL Barcelona 39.27 % - -
 IT competence Center S.L Barcelona 77.00 % - -
 Servicios de Geomarketing Immobiliario S.L. Barcelona 77.00 % - -
 Unimail S.A. Madrid 77.00 % - -
 Cerca e Trova SA Lugano 100.00 % - -
 Editoriale Secondamano S.R.L. Milano 100.00 % - -
 Garantie System S.A. Paris 100.00 % - -
 Inedit S.p.A Milano 100.00 % - -
 Multimedia Communication - MMC SARL Paris 50.00 % - -
 Primo Pentagono S.p.A Milano 100.00 % - -
 Schibsted Classified Media (Switzerland) S.A. Lugano 100.00 % - -
 Schibsted Classified Media NV  Amsterdam 100.00 % - -
 Schibsted Classifieds France S.A. Paris 100.00 % - -
 Schibsted France Holdings S.A. Paris 100.00 % - -
 Subito.it Srl Milano 100.00 % - -
AS Kanal 2 Tallinn 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Compraventa S.L. Madrid 80.00 % 80.00 % -
Regional Independent Newspapers North-West Moscow 66.67 % - -
Schibsted AG Berlin 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Schibsted Iberica SL Madrid 100.00 % 100.00 % -
SFI Holding AS Oslo 88.60 % 88.60 % -

*Aftonbladet Hierta AB is owned by Schibsted and the Swedish LO (Swedish Labour Union). LO owns 50.1 % of the voting shares 
through preference shares with a fixed annual return (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted owns 49.9 % of the voting shares and has the 
industrial and financial ownership responsibility for Aftonbladet’s development. 
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Note 29 Supplemental information to the cash flow statement

Interest and dividends included in the cash flow statement are as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
In cash flow from operating activities:   
Interest paid (146) (67) (77)
Interest received 37 17 21
Dividends received 139 166 65
In cash flow from financing activities:   
Dividends paid  (to majority) (278) (220) (203)
Dividends paid (to minority interests) (59) (27) (11)

Schibsted’s cash flow statement shows net payments and receipts on the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries and interests in 
joint ventures.

The liquidity effect of acquisitions is arrived at as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
Cash in acquired companies 184 34 109
Acquisition cost other current assets 401 54 132
Acquisition cost non-current assets 6 330 463 562
aggregate acquisition cost assets 6 915 551 803
Minority interests and liabilities assumed (2 004) (150) (192)
Deferred payment previous years’ acquisitions - 75 -
Gross purchase price 4 911 476 611
Cash in acquired companies (184) (34) (109)
acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 4 727 442 502

The liquidity effect of sales is arrived at as follows:
 2006 2005 2004
Cash in sold companies 2 60 -
Carrying amount other current assets 1 121 -
Carrying amount non-current assets 35 133 -
aggregate carrying amount assets 38 314 -
Minority interests and liabilities transferred (4) 16 -
Gain 21 384 -
Gross sales price 55 714 -
Cash in sold companies (2) (60) -
sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 53 654 -

Note 30 Related parties

For remuneration to management, see note 9, Personnel expenses and share-based payment.

For loans to associated companies and joint ventures, see note 20, Other non-current assets.

Verdens Gang AS has printing contracts with Norwegian regional newspapers that are associated companies to the group. Total 
expenditure under these agreements was NOK 147 million in 2006.
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(NOK million) NOTE 2006 2005

Operating revenues 2 4 2

Personnel expenses 3 (90) (68)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (2) (1)
Other operating expenses 5 (88) (72)

Operating profit (loss) (176) (139)

Financial income 6 1 869 759
Financial expenses 6 (32) (12)
Net financial items 1 837 747

Profit before taxes 1 661 608

Taxes 7 (52) (108)

Net income 1 609 500

Income statement – schIBsteD asa
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Balance sheet at 31 DecemBer – schIBsteD asa

(NOK million) NOTE 2006 2005

assETs

Licences 4 1 1
Deferred tax asset 7 13 13
Intangible fixed assets 14 14

Tangible fixed assets 4 8 8

Investments in subsidiaries 8 1 472 1 322
Investments in associated companies 8 1 022 411
Investments in other shares 8 25 25
Financial fixed assets 2 519 1 758

Fixed assets 2 541 1 780

Receivables 9 818 634
Cash and bank deposits 10 9 7
current assets 827 641

Total assets 3 368 2 421

EQuITY aND lIaBIlITIEs

Share capital 69 69
Treasury shares (2) (2)
Share premium reserve 76 76
Other paid-in capital 98 10
Paid-in capital 241 153

Other equity 2 176 997
Retained earnings  2 176  997

Equity 12 2 417 1 150

Pension liabilities 13 38 35
Provisions 38 35

current liabilities 14 913 1 236

Total equity and liabilities 3 368 2 421

ole JacoB sunDe
Chairman of the Board

tInIus naGell-erIchsen
Deputy Chairman of the Board

alexanDra Bech GJørv eva lInDquIst

BerIt BJerG hIlDe harBo cato a. holmsen chrIstIan rInGnes

roGer hollunD Gunn InGer aasen monIca BIrGItte  
caneman

KJell aamot
President and CEO

Oslo, 29 March 2007

Schibsted ASA’s board of directors
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cash flow statement – schIBsteD asa

(NOK million) 2006 2005

casH FlOW FROM OPERaTING acTIVITIEs

Profit before taxes 1 661 608
Taxes paid (52) (13)
Depreciation and amortisation 2 1
Gain on sale of fixed assets (1 020) (5)
Share-based payment 3 2
Group contributions included in financial income (764) (612)
Change in short-term receivables (30) (15)
Change in current liabilities (66) 76
Difference between pension cost and cash flow related to pension plans 3 2
Net cash flow from operating activities (263) 44

casH FlOW FROM INVEsTING acTIVITIEs

Payments on purchase of tangible fixed assets (2) (3)
Payments on purchase of equity investments (497) (121)
Receipts on sale of shares 1 150 5
Net cash flow from investing activities 651 (119)

casH FlOW FROM FINaNcING acTIVITIEs

Change in short-term interest-bearing debt (233) 259
Group contributions received (net) 410 169
Dividends paid (278) (221)
Purchase / sale of treasury shares (285) (134)
Net cash flow from financing activities (386) 73

Net cash flow for the year 2 (2)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 7 9

cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 7
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All amounts are in NOK million unless otherwise stated.

Note 1: Accounting policies 

The financial statements of Schibsted ASA have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.

Revenue recognition 
Operating revenues are recognised when the goods are delivered or the service rendered. 

classification 
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current assets and current liabilities. Receivables 
and liabilities not related to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-term nature, normally due 
within one year. Shares and other investments not intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current assets. 
Other assets are classified as fixed assets and other liabilities as long term. 

shares
Shares are measured at cost and are written down if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The write-down is 
reversed if the basis for the write-down is no longer present. 

Group contributions received are included in financial income provided that the group contribution received does not represent 
a repayment of capital invested. Group contributions that represent a repayment of capital invested are accounted for as a 
reduction in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Net group contributions payable (gross group contributions less the asso-
ciated tax effect) is included in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Dividends from associated companies are included in 
financial income. 

Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs. Tangible fixed 
assets and intangible assets with limited useful lives are depreciated over the expected useful life. Tangible fixed assets and 
intangible assets are written down if the balance sheet value exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of net sales value and the present value of future cash flows expected to be generated. Write-downs are reversed if the 
basis for the write-down is no longer present. 

leasing 
Leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational based on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements trans-
ferring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted are classified as financial. 
Tangible fixed assets held under financial lease agreements is recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated over the esti-
mated useful life of the asset. The present value of lease payments is included in long-term interest-bearing debt. The debt is 
reduced by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. Other lease agreements are classified as operational 
and the annual leasing fee is charged to expense as a leasing expense. 

Foreign currency 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet. Foreign currency gains and 
losses are reported in the income statement in the line items other financial income or financial expenses.

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are measured at realisable value. Provisions are made for bad debts.

Treasury shares 
The cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset against equity. 

Pension cost
Pension liabilities related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net present value of future pension benefits earned at 
the balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions for, among others, the discount rate, expected future wage 
growth and pension adjustments. Plan assets are measured at fair value. Net pension liabilities related to under-funded plans are 
recorded as provisions, while the net assets of over-funded plans are recorded in financial fixed assets. Net pension expense, 
which is gross pension expense less the expected return on plan assets adjusted for past service cost and the effects of changes 
in estimates, are included in personnel expenses. Changes in pension liabilities due to amendments in pension plans are included 
in net pension expense over the vesting period or immediately if the benefits are immediately vested. Changes in pension liabi-
lities and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations from the calculation assumptions, are included in net pension expense 
over the average remaining working lives of participants for that part of the accumulated effect that exceeds 10% of the greater 
of plan assets or pension liabilities. In the case of pension plans that are defined as contribution plans for accounting purposes 
the premiums are charged to pension expenses for the period.

share-based payment 
The fair value of options granted to employees, measured at grant date, is charged to expense as personnel expenses over the 
vesting period. Related social security costs, calculated on the difference between the exercise price and share price at the 
balance sheet date, are charged over the vesting period. 

notes to the fInancIal statements – schIBsteD asa
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Income taxes
The tax charge is calculated from the profit (loss) before tax and comprises current taxes and the change in deferred taxes. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and provided for 
all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be utilised through sufficient taxable 
profits from expected future earnings. 

contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are recognised if it is more probable than not that the liability will become effective. The best estimate of 
amounts to be paid is included in other provisions in the balance sheet. Other obligations, for which no liability is recognised, 
are disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 

Dividend
The dividend for the financial year, as proposed by the Board of Directors, is recognised as liability at 31.12.

cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other 
monetary instruments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 

Note 2.  Operating revenues    

Operating revenues consist of:
  2006 2005
Sales revenues  4 2
Total   4 2

Sales revenues regards assistance Schibsted ASA provides to companies in the group and consists of accounting fees and other 
fees for participation in management development programs.

   
Note 3. Personnel expenses and average number of employees 

Personnel expenses consist of:
  2006 2005 
Salaries and wages   56 42
Social security costs  10 8
Net pension expense (note 13)  16 10
Other personnel expenses  5 6
Share-based payment  3 2
Total   90 68

The company has employed 77 man-years including trainees in 2006. With regard to salaries and share-based payment, see Note 
9 to the consolidated financial statements.
   

Note 4.  Tangible fixed assets and licences
            Equipment,  
  furniture, vehicles  licences
Cost as at 1 January 2006  40 1
Additions   2  -
cost as at 31 December 2006  42 1
  
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation 1 January 2006  (32) -
Depreciation and amortisation for the year  ( 2) -
accumulated depreciation and amortisation 31 December 2006  (34) -
  
carrying amount 31 December 2006  8 1
  
Depreciation method   Linear Linear
Depreciation period   3 – 10 years 3 – 5 years

Depreciation charge includes depreciation of leasehold improvements of NOK 0.8 million.   

Annual operating lease payments amounts to NOK 14 million.
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Note 5.  Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses consist of:
  2006 2005
  
Rent, maintenance etc  14 14
Office and administrative expenses  15 15
Professional fees  39 28
Travel, meetings and marketing  20 15
Total  88 72

Note 6.  Financial items

Financial income consist of:
  2006 2005 
Group contributions received  764 612
Dividends from associated companies  81 142
Gain on sale of shares  1 020 5
Other financial income  4 -
Total  1 869 759

Gain on sale of shares in 2006 relate to the sale of TV 2 AS.

Financial expenses consist of:
  2006 2005 
Interest expenses cash pool system (Note 10)  31 12
Other financial income  1 -
Total  32 12

Note 7.  Taxes

Set out below is a specification of the difference between the profit before taxes and taxable income for the year:

  2006 2005
Profit before taxes  1 661 608
Permanent differences  (1 476) (215)
Change in temporary differences  - -
Taxable income  185 393
  
Tax rate  28 % 28 %

Tax payable and the year’s tax charge is calculated as follows:   
  2006 2005
Calculated current taxes  52 110
Current taxes related to group contributions payable  (52) (58)
Taxes payable  0 52
  
Calculated current taxes  52 110
Excess tax provided in previous years  - (2)
Change in deferred tax asset  - -
Tax charge  52 108
    
The net deferred tax asset consists of the following:
  2006 2005 
Temporary differences related to:  
Tangible fixed assets  (3) (4)
Pension liabilities  (38) (35)
Other short-term liabilities  (4) (6)
Total basis for deferred tax asset  (45) (45)
  
Tax rate   28 % 28 %
  
Net deferred tax liability (asset)  (13) (13)
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Note 8.  Investments in shares
 Ownership % location carrying
 31.12.06  amount
shares in subsidiaries   
20 MIN Holding AS 100.00 Oslo 1
Aftenposten AS 100.00 Oslo 32
Basefarm AS 73.58 Oslo 98
Metronome AS 100.00 Oslo 136
Osloavisen AS 100.00 Oslo -
Schibsted Eiendom AS 100.00 Oslo 116
Schibsted Finans AS 100.00 Oslo 290
Schibsted Multimedia AS 100.00 Oslo 275
Schibsted Print Media AS 100.00 Oslo 429
Schibsted Sverige AB (former Schibsted Multimedia AB) 100.00 Stockholm 4
Schibsted TV. Film og Forlag AS 100.00 Oslo 46
SFI Holding AS 70.00 Oslo 20
Verdens Gang AS 100.00 Oslo 25
Total   1 472

Group contributions payable to subsidiaries, NOK 125 million (net) is capitalised as part of investments in subsidiaries.
   
shares in associated companies   
Adresseavisen ASA 35.84 Trondheim 128
Bergens Tidende AS 51,12 Bergen 551
B Locket AB 18,20 Stockholm 267
Fædrelandsvennen AS 25.00 Kristiansand 15
Fædrelandsvennen Trykkeri AS 25.00 Kristiansand -
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA 32.34 Stavanger  61
Total   1 022
   
Other shares   
Asker og Bærums Budstikke ASA 10.20 Billingstad 21
Harstad Tidende AS 11.10 Harstad 3
Scanpix Scandinavia AB  13.32 Stockholm 1
Stålfjæra ANS 1.00 Oslo -
Total   25

In February 2007 Asker og Bærum Budstikke was sold with a gain of NOK 25 mill.    

Ownership (%) equals share of control.

Note 9.  Receivables

Receivables consist of:
  2006 2005
Short-term receivables from group companies  805 625
Other receivables  13 9
Total  818 634

Note 10.  Cash and bank deposits

Schibsted ASA’s bank account is included in the Schibsted Group’s cash pool with Danske Bank. The cash pool system has been 
established to contribute to an optimal liquidity management for the Schibsted Group. As at 31.12.2006 Schibsted ASA had 
drawn NOK 350 million on sub-accounts in the cash pool system, which is managed and controlled by Schibsted Finans AS. The 
overdraft is included in short-term liabilities in the balance sheet.
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Note 11.  Ownership structure

The 20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2006: 
  Number of shares Interest in %
Blommenholm Industrier AS v/Tinius Nagell-Erichsen  18 083 520 26,11 
State Street Bank & Trust Co  6 973 762 10,07
JPMorgan Chase Bank  4 840 176 6,99
Folketrygdfondet  3 563 800 5,15
Mellon Bank AS Agent for Clients  2 591 653 3,74
State Street Bank & Trust Co  2 381 042 3,44
Schibsted ASA  2 373 622 3,43
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken  2 130 217 3,08
Svenska Handelsbanken Depot  2 018 701 2,92
Orkla ASA  1 946 250 2,81
Nordea Bank PLC Finland  1 419 805 2,05
Svenska Handelsbanken S.A. HM  842 400 1,22
Nordea Bank Sweden AB (PUBL)  770 870 1,11
Kaupthing Bank  659 050 0,95
Guri Scotford’s Schibsted Trust  650 000 0,94
Vital Forsikring ASA  521 672 0,75
Verdipapirfondet KLP Aksjenorge  468 650 0,68
JPMorgan Chase Bank  434 682 0,63
400 Series Funds  434 315 0,63
SEB Private Bank S.A. Luxembourg  431 976 0,62
  
Total 20 largest shareholders  53 536 163 77,32
 

Number of shares owned by Board of Directors and Group Management:

   Number of shares
Gunn Inger Aasen   -
Monica Birgitta Caneman   -
Eva Lindqvist   -
Alexandra Bech Gjørv   200
Berit Bjerg   827
Hilde Harbo   990
Cato A. Holmsen   3 200
Christian Ringnes   10 850
Ole Jacob Sunde   75 000
Gunnar Strømblad   2 140
Trond Berger   7 624
Sverre Munck   6 037
Jan Erik Knarbakk   8 014
Birger Magnus   11 056
Kjell Aamot   22 769 

Total Board of Directors and Group Management   148 707 

 The total number of shares outstanding in Schibsted ASA as at 31.12.2006 was 69,250,000 and the number of shareholders  
3 723. Foreign ownership was 54,65%. Schibsted ASA owned 2 373 622 treasury shares as at 31.12.2006.
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Note 12.  Equity

The development in the company’s equity capital in 2006 is as follows:

 share Treasure share premium Other paid- Other Total
 capital shares reserve in capital equity
Equity as at 31.12.05 69 (2) 76 10 997 1 150
Sale of treasury shares  2  85 202 289
Purchase of treasury shares  (2)   (298) (300)
Share-based payment    3  3
Net income     1 609 1 609
Dividends accrued     (334) (334)
Equity as at 31.12.06 69 (2) 76 98 2 176 2 417

 Schibsted ASA’s share capital consists of 69,250,000 shares of NOK 1 par value. The par value of treasury shares is presented 
in a separate line within paid-in capital with a negative amount.  
 

Note 13.  Pension plans

The company is obligated to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Act on Mandatory company pensions 
(“lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”). The company’s pension scheme meets the requirements of that Act.

As at 31.12.2006 the company’s pension plan had 86 members. With regard to a description of the pension plans and the prin-
cipal assumptions, see Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The development in the net pension liability has been as follows :
  2006 2005
As at 1 January  35 33
Net pension expense  15 10
Contributions / benefits paid  (12) (8)
as at 31 December  38 35

Breakdown of net pension expense:
  2006 2005
Current service cost  8 8
Past service cost  4 -
Interest cost on pension liability  4 4
Expected return on plan assets  (3) (3)
Social security tax  2 1
Net pension expense – defined benefit plans  15 10
Pension expense – defined contribution plans  1 -
Net pension expense  16 10
    
Breakdown of net pension liabilities at 31 December:
  2006 2005
Present value of funded obligations  (84) (74)
Plan assets  61 51
Present value of funded obligations, net  (23) (23)
Present value of unfunded obligations  (26) (16)
Unrecognised net actuarial losses  18 8
Social security tax  (7) (4)
Net pension liability  (38) (35)
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Note 14.  Current liabilities

Short-term liabilities consist of:
  2006 2005
Trade creditors  7 5
Taxes payable (Note 7)  - 52
Public duties payable  8 5
Dividends accrued  334 285
Short term liabilities group company (cash pool system) (Note 10)  350 583
Short-term liabilities to group companies  190 283
Other current liabilities  24 23
Total   913 1 236

Note 15.  Guarantees and provision of security

  2006 2005
Guarantees for loans and drawing facilities on behalf of group companies  9 050 3 744
Other guarantees on behalf of group companies  143 126
Other guarantees  14 14
Total   9 207 3 884

With regard to guarantees for loans and drawing facilities of NOK 9 billion, NOK 5.8 billion had been drawn on the loan facility at 
the end of 2006. NOK 1.5 billion had been drawn at the end of 2005. Other guarantees on behalf of group companies relate to 
guarantees towards Danske Bank for up to NOK 125 million in respect of guarantees for tax withholdings and other guarantees, 
and towards Scibsted Sverige AB’s equity for up to NOK 18 million. There are also guarantees for loans to employees in the group 
of NOK 10 million, as well as unfunded pension liabilities of NOK 4 million. With regard to loans to senior managers, see Notes 
8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Schibsted ASA, Apotekergaten 10. P.O. Box 490 Sentrum, NO-0105 OSLO Norway

Telephone: + 47 23 10 66 00  Fax: + 47 23 10 66 01

E-mail:  schibsted@schibsted.no

www.schibsted.com
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